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The Hon. Sandra Nori MP
Minister for Tourism and Sport and Recreation, Minister for Women,
and Minister Assisting the Minister for State Development
Level 34, Governor Macquarie Tower
1 Farrer Place
Sydney NSW 2000

Dear Minister
We have great pleasure in presenting the Annual Report of
Sydney Olympic Park Authority for the ﬁnancial year ending
30 June 2006 for presentation to the Parliament.
The report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions
of the Annual Reports (Statutory Bodies) Act 1984 and the
Annual Reports (Statutory Bodies) Regulation 2005. The report
details the work, achievements and relevant statutory and
ﬁnancial information of Sydney Olympic Park Authority.

Yours sincerely

Letter to the Minister

31 October 2006

David Richmond AO
Chairman,
Sydney Olympic Park Authority

Brian Newman
Chief Executive Ofﬁcer,
Sydney Olympic Park Authority
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Chairman’s Report

This year, on 1 July 2006, the Sydney
Olympic Park Authority had its ﬁfth
birthday as a statutory body of the NSW
Government set up to manage and
promote the 640 hectare Sydney Olympic
Park site, including protection of the 425
hectare parklands. In celebrating this
milestone, it is appropriate to review our
progress over this short time span.
In its evolution as an
important economic
centre and urban parkland,
Sydney Olympic Park
is building on some
considerable key strengths.
These include outstanding
sports and entertainment
venues, diverse parklands,
a riverside setting, heritage
buildings at the Newington
Armory, enviable record on
environmental sustainability,
remediation of landﬁll areas,
location in the heart of Western
Sydney, and proximity to the
city, airport and Parramatta
CBD. A major strength of
the Authority is the skills
and abilities of its staff who
promoted and managed
the Park, and highlighted
its increasing offerings and
development to ensure that a
record 7.7 million people visited
the precinct in 2005–06.
Today there are more than
60 businesses and 6,000
workers located at Sydney
Olympic Park and it continues
to attract major investment in
commercial, sporting, education
and hospitality development.
Investor conﬁdence in the
site has been demonstrated
by signiﬁcant developments
completed and/or negotiated
in 2005–06, with a total end
value of some $1.1 billion.
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For the next 12 months,
the Park will have seven
sites under construction
representing a development
value of over $150 million.
The development of a new
town at Sydney Olympic Park
is well and truly underway.
In the coming year, the
Authority will submit its Master
Plan 2025 for approval to the
NSW Department of Planning.
When adopted, it will provide
a new master plan, public
domain strategy and public
domain manual that will set
best practice standards in
planning and urban design
guidelines. The Master Plan will
also inform the adoption of an
affordable housing policy and
community facilities strategy.
On 23 February 2006, the NSW
Government announced a
Government review to decide
whether the Sydney Olympic
Park Authority was suitable
for inclusion within the
newly created Department
of Arts, Sport and Recreation
or whether it should remain
a stand alone agency. In June
2006, the Budget Committee
of Cabinet recommended
the Authority remain a stand
alone agency at present, and
that the Premiers Department
lead a more detailed review of
the Authority in July 2008.

Membership of the Board is
unchanged for the year and I
thank all our Board Members
for their time, passion, energy
and commitment. On their
behalf I would like to extend
my thanks to the management
team and staff of the Authority,
led by Brian Newman, and
congratulate them for their
achievements during 2005–06.
I also express sincere thanks to
our Minister, the Hon. Sandra
Nori, for her continued support
of Sydney Olympic Park and her
enthusiastic leadership. The
Board and its management
team look forward to the
next period of growth and
development at the Park, with
a team that is well positioned
to meet the opportunities and
challenges in the year ahead.
I commend the Sydney
Olympic Park Authority Annual
Report 2005–06 to you.

Yours Sincerely

David Richmond AO
Chairman,
Sydney Olympic Park Authority

I am delighted to report
that in the past 12 months
the Authority has made
signiﬁcant progress in
achieving its four main
aims, namely to continue
to build Sydney Olympic
Park’s position as the
nation’s premier sporting,
entertainment and events
precinct; to create a vibrant
new town; to maintain
the Park’s commitment
to environmental
best practice; and to
continue to improve the
precinct’s ﬁnancial and
economic performance.
This has been achieved through
an innovative approach to place
making and place management
that reﬂects the exceptional
opportunity Sydney Olympic
Park offers to create a truly
world class urban centre that
balances the precinct’s role
as an events centre and as a
place to live, work and visit for
sport, leisure and recreation.
Changing the urban form and
physical character of Sydney
Olympic Park is part of the
transformation process our
organisation is managing.
This process typically has
a long gestation period
(around three years) as the
urban planning, land release,
commercial negotiations
and development approval
processes are undertaken
and before new additions to
the built environment start
to be delivered. 2005–06
represents the beginning of
the delivery phase and a very
signiﬁcant urban development
program is now underway.

At year’s end, the Authority
had 28 property development
sites in the market place, with
a potential end value of $1.4
billion, of which 17 sites valued
at $1.1 billion were under
negotiation or committed.
The Commonwealth Bank of
Australia’s commitment to the
$245 million development of
four purpose built premises
represents the Park’s
most signiﬁcant property
development achievement
to date. The Commonwealth
Bank project will also provide
valuable social infrastructure
in the town centre including
cafes, restaurants and shops.
The Bank will bring 1,400
employees to the site in 2007
and 5,000 by late 2009.
This development, combined
with the Accor Group’s
commitment to build both a
ﬁve star and a two star hotel
at Sydney Olympic Park in the
next two years, will generate
signiﬁcant economic value
for the precinct including
hundreds of construction jobs.
A new headquarters for the
NSW Institute of Sport, the
NSW Department of Sport
and Recreation and Sydney
Sports Medicine Centre was
also completed this year,
further reinforcing the Park’s
position as a hub for sports
administration and high
performance management.
Visitation to the Park reached
record levels at 7.7 million
visitors this year. Our research
shows that as well as being a
destination for local residents
(living within a 10 minute
drive), the parklands are being

visited more often by people
living in the greater Sydney
area for leisure activities, as
well as events. Cycling, for
example, attracted a record
571,000 people to the Park and
the two new action sports
venues (Monster Skate Park
and Monster Mountain X),
both completed in late 2005,
are engaging young people,
local and national sporting
clubs, and drawing more and
more visitors to the Park.
Our Olympic venues continue
to attract major state, national
and international sporting,
entertainment and business
events. During the year more
than 1.2 million spectators
attended over 90 signiﬁcant
sporting events. Sports
participation is also growing,
with greater use being made
of our facilities for recreation,
health and leisure. In 2005–06
approximately 1.1 million
people participated in
sports at the Park including
swimming, tennis, golf,
urban sports and archery.
An important part of Sydney
Olympic Park’s vision is the
establishment of an Education
Campus in and around the
sports precinct. The focus here
is on developing education
activities that support the Park’s
key economic themes of sport,
the arts, creative industries,
health/leisure, wellbeing, and
environment. The Authority has
listed ten development sites
within the Education Campus
for sale by leasehold – seven for
education facilities and three
for student accommodation.

CEO’s Report and Executive Summary

The 2005–06 year marked a signiﬁcant
step forward in Sydney Olympic
Park’s evolution from an Olympic
Games site in 2000 to an emerging
economic centre, complemented by an
outstanding regional urban parkland.
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As well as promoting such
‘development’, the Authority
is also promoting program
based initiatives in education.
A successful marketing and
promotions strategy, coupled
with an upgrade of the
Authority’s education portal
on the website, resulted
in approximately 23,000
students participating in
curriculum related programs
and excursions in 2005–06.
This area is expected to
continue to grow.
Another component of
the education strategy is
our involvement in Sport
Knowledge Australia (SKA),
a company jointly owned by
Sydney Olympic Park Authority,
the University of Sydney and
the University of Technology,
Sydney. In 2005–06, SKA
completed its ﬁrst full year
of operation as a centre of
excellence in sports science
and sports management and
demonstrated its ability to
offer high quality programs for
local and overseas markets.
The promotion of a creative
community at Sydney Olympic
Park is another pillar in the
Authority’s place making
work. To this end the Sydney
Olympic Park Arts and Culture
Strategy was launched in 2005
and an Arts Development
Advisory Committee composed
of distinguished industry
representatives is guiding
its implementation. New
facilities for artists were
opened at Newington Armory
including 19 visual arts studios,
woodwork and metalwork
studios, an artist’s common
room and writer’s studio.
These facilities are already in
strong demand. The Strategy
also delivered its ﬁrst Artists’
in Residence program and
hosted four major arts events
including the ArtExpress
exhibition in March 2006.
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Construction of new places
and spaces has continued
throughout the year. The
Authority completed $12.6
million worth of capital works
including the award winning
Brickpit Ring Walk which has
enabled us to open up the
Brickpit to the public for the
ﬁrst time since the Olympics.
An entry/exit portal at the
eastern end of the Olympic
Railway Station was also
completed and will provide
an important link to Sydney
Olympic Park’s new town centre.

One of the Authority’s
primary business objectives
is to enhance the return on
Government investment
in Sydney Olympic Park by
strengthening, over time,
the precinct’s ﬁnancial and
economic beneﬁts to the State.
Each year we strive to achieve
this objective in three ways
– by improving the Authority’s
ﬁnancial performance both on
a capital and recurrent basis;
by increasing visitation; and
by expanding the number
of events held at the Park.

In the parklands, planning
approval was obtained for a
new 20 hectare waterfront
park on Parramatta River to
be named Blaxland Riverside
Park. Construction of the park,
located adjacent to Newington
Armory, commenced in 2006.
Stage 1 of the development
will extend Jamieson Street
to the waterfront and provide
new playground, BBQ and
picnic facilities. This stage
will be opened in mid 2007.

In 2005–06 the Authority
reduced its revenue to
expenditure ratio to 40%. The
recurrent appropriation from
Treasury was $37.03 million,
down from $38.33 million in
the previous year. Furthermore,
the Authority paid $19.02
million to NSW Treasury from
the proceeds of land sales.

In a world in which water
shortages, global warming and
environmental sustainability
have become urgent priorities,
Sydney Olympic Park is proud
of its role in promoting
sustainable development
and showcasing innovative
environmental technology. For
example, during 2005–06 the
Authority reduced its use of
potable water from the Sydney
Water supply from 22 ML to 9 ML
by increasing its production of
high quality, safe recycled water
and by using direct stormwater.
Our efforts to conserve energy
have also been successful with
electricity consumption at the
Park dropping from 10,478 MWh
in 2003–04 to 9,426 MWh
this year, a 10% reduction over
three years with resultant
savings in green house gas
emissions of 1,756 tonnes.

The Authority will continue to
seek opportunities to improve
our long term business
performance and sustainability
through innovative approaches
to new product development
and by ﬁnding smarter ways to
perform our operations and add
value to our property assets.

Future Directions
Sydney is the only Olympic city
to attempt the bold idea of
creating a new urban centre
in and around its Olympic
venues. This will take 20 years
or more to achieve. It is a great
privilege for all who work
for, or with the Authority, to
be a part of the challenge of
creating a unique, world class
model in urban development
while enhancing the legacy
of our Olympic investment.

Finally, I would like to
acknowledge our staff for all
their hard work in achieving our
business objectives. Collectively
I believe we can feel proud
of the great steps that were
taken during the year and the
strong foundations that have
been laid for Sydney Olympic
Park’s continuing growth. We
are potentially witnessing the
evolution of something very
special at Sydney Olympic
Park and our people are totally
committed to achieving this
outcome. On behalf of the
Authority, I look forward to
reporting further excellent
progress for the year ahead,
which is already promising to be
one of our most successful yet.

Yours sincerely

CEO’s Report and Executive Summary

Our vision is to provide new
options for living, working,
learning and leisure and the
Sydney Olympic Park Master
Plan 2025, expected to be
submitted to the Department
of Planning next year, will guide
this evolution in a sustainable
manner. The new Master Plan
offers an exciting vision for
the Park’s future blending of
residential, commercial, retail,
education, business event,
cultural infrastructure, sporting
and entertainment uses in a
unique urban environment.

Brian Newman
Chief Executive Ofﬁcer,
Sydney Olympic Park Authority
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2005–06 At a Glance

• Over 7.7 million
people visited
Sydney Olympic
Park, a 13% increase
on 2004–05.
• The Authority
has secured $150
million in property
investment, which
will see seven new
development sites
under construction
at the Park by
June 2007.
• By 2009, the
Commonwealth
Bank of Australia
will relocate
5,000 staff to
four purpose built
premises, providing
86,000 m2 of
ofﬁce space in the
heart of Sydney
Olympic Park.
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• Sydney Olympic
Park Authority has
secured a deal with
Australia’s largest
hotel group, Accor,
to establish two
new hotels at the
Park. The ﬁve star
Soﬁtel and two star
Formule 1 will bring
the total number
of hotel rooms to
approximately 700.
• The award winning
Brickpit Ring Walk
was opened in
December 2005,
offering a unique
environmental
and ecological
attraction and
connecting the
Park’s town centre
to the parklands.

• The creation of an
education campus
at Sydney Olympic
Park got underway
in 2005–06 with
the release of ten
new development
sites surrounding
the Athletics
Centre. The campus
will become
an integrated
component of the
Park’s sporting
and creative
industries hub.
• The $7 million ﬁrst
stage of Blaxland
Riverside Park,
a 20 hectare
waterfront park
on the Parramatta
River, has
commenced and
will provide a new
public entrance
to the adjoining
heritage listed
Newington Armory.

• Monster Skate
• $4.1 million in
Park, the ﬁrst
business events
international
was secured
standard skate park
through the
in the southern
Authority’s
hemisphere and
centralised booking
Monster Mountain
service in 2005–06,
X facilities were
up 11% on 2004–05.
launched in 2005,
increasing the
• The inaugural
number of young
three day The
people visiting the
Great Escape –
Park, and attracting
Music and Arts
local, national
Festival attracted
and international
over 20,000 people
action sports
to enjoy 100 acts
events.
and 1,000
performances at
seven stages at the
historic Newington
Armory during
Easter 2006.

• Since 2003–04, the
NSW Government
contribution to
operating and
capital expenditure
at Sydney Olympic
Park has more
than halved to
$30 million.
• The Sydney
Olympic Park
Master Plan
2025 is now in
its ﬁnal stages
of development
and will support
a residential
population of up to
15,000 and a daily
population of up
to 20,000 workers
and students.

The newly opened Brickpit Ring Walk
at Sydney Olympic Park
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Our Mission

Our mission is to manage the
evolution of Sydney Olympic
Park from its Olympic state to
a vibrant town incorporating
one of the largest, most diverse
urban parklands in Australia.

Our Vision

Our vision is for Sydney
Olympic Park to become an
internationally recognised
example of intelligent place
making – a dynamic and
diverse town for living, working,
learning and recreation
– a place for all people set
within a world-class built
and natural environment.

Our Aim

Our aim is to make a major
contribution to the community
by creating an eminent place
that enriches people’s lives and
provides diverse opportunities
for emotional, occupational,
social, intellectual, economic,
spiritual and physical wellbeing.

Our Objectives

In realising the Olympic legacy
of transforming Sydney Olympic
Park into a viable and dynamic
new town, Sydney Olympic Park
Authority’s primary objectives
are Place Making, Place
Management, Promoting the
Park, and Optimising Returns
on Government Investment.

Our Values

Inclusive… At Sydney Olympic
Park we are building a
community that respectfully
welcomes everyone who
visits the Park to relax, play,
live, work and learn.
Innovative… We are
establishing a creative, forward
thinking, knowledge based
community that includes
unique, vibrant, diverse
and exciting opportunities,
programs and experiences.
Sustainable… By balancing
economic, environmental and
social development we are
responsibly protecting and
conserving our environmental
heritage for future generations.

Enriching… Through our stateof-the-art built environment,
425 hectares of parklands
and unique program of
events and activities we
aim to create stimulating,
memorable and positive
experiences for all visitors.
Integrity… We maintain the
highest professional, moral and
ethical standards and model
a consistent high standard of
excellence in all that we do.

Serving the Public

In achieving its mission the
Authority seeks to support three
key Government priorities:
1. The promotion of
sustainable urban
development outcomes
and liveable cities

2. The development of healthy
and liveable communities
3. The generation of social,
environmental and
economic returns on
Government investment in
Sydney Olympic Park and,
in turn, the realisation of
a lasting Olympic legacy.

Sydney Olympic Park Authority Charter

Sydney Olympic Park Authority was
established on 1 July 2001 as a statutory
body of the NSW Government under the
Sydney Olympic Park Authority Act 2001. Our
charter is to manage and promote the 640
hectare Sydney Olympic Park site, including
protection of the 425 hectare parklands.
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Corporate Governance and Board

The Hon. Sandra Nori, MP
Sydney Olympic Park Authority sits within
the portfolio of the Hon. Sandra Nori, MP,
Minister for Tourism and Sport and Recreation,
Minister for Women, and Minister Assisting
the Minister for State Development.

Chairman
David Richmond AO
MEc
Mr David Richmond was appointed Chairman on
1 July 2001. On 1 January 2005 this appointment
was extended for three years. Mr Richmond
was Foundation Director and Professor,
Graduate School of Government, University
of Sydney from mid 2003 to mid 2006. He
was Director General of Sydney 2000 and
Director General of the Olympic Coordination
Authority (1995–2001). Other positions held
previously include: CEO, NSW Department
of Health; CEO, NSW Land Commission; and
member of the Public Service Board of NSW. He
is Chairman of the Redfern Waterloo Authority
and, since mid 2005, Strategic Adviser to the
NSW Premier on infrastructure matters.

Terms of Ofﬁce

The Board has seven Board Members including the Authority’s Chief Executive
Ofﬁcer (CEO). In January 2005 the Chairman David Richmond and Board Members
Gabrielle Kibble, Chris Christodoulou, Penelope Figgis, John Coates and Jack Cowin
were appointed to the Board for a three year term to 31 December 2007.

Pecuniary Interests

Board Members are required to disclose any direct or indirect pecuniary interest they have in any
matter being considered by the Board. A register is kept outlining Board Members’ disclosures.

Interaction with Management

The CEO and senior executives regularly brief the Board on the Authority’s activities and
performance and seek and receive guidance and direction on policy and operational
matters. Board Members receive regular ﬁnancial updates from the Executive
Director of Finance on all aspects of revenue, expenditure and debtors.

Attendance of Board Members at Board Meetings
From 1 July 2005 to 30 June 2006 the Board met six times.
Aug 05

Oct 05

Dec 05

Feb 06

Apr 06

Jun 06

Meetings
Attended

David Richmond

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

6/6

John Coates

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

No

4/6

Board Members

Jack Cowin

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

4/6

Chris Christodoulou

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

6/6

Penelope Figgis

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

5/6

Gabrielle Kibble

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

6/6

Brian Newman

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

6/6
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John D Coates AC
LLB

Jack Cowin
LLD

Mr Chris Christodoulou was
appointed to the Board on
1 July 2001. On 1 January
2005 this appointment was
extended for three years.
Mr Christodoulou is Deputy
Assistant Secretary of Unions
NSW and has responsibility
on behalf of Unions NSW for
the construction industry.
He is Chairperson of the
Wollongong Sports Ground
Trust and a member of
the Correctional Services
Industry Advisory Council.

Mr John Coates was appointed
to the Board on 1 January 2005.
Mr Coates is President of the
Australian Olympic Committee
Inc. and Vice President of
the International Council of
Arbitration for Sport. He is a
member of the International
Olympic Committee, its 2012
London Games Coordination
Commission, and the
International Rowing Federation
(FISA). Mr Coates is also a
partner of Kemp Strang Lawyers,
Deputy Chairman of David
Jones Limited, and a Director
of Grant Samuel Laundy Pub
Fund, Grosvenor Australia Asia
Paciﬁc, and United Customer
Management Solutions Pty Ltd.

Mr Jack Cowin was appointed
to the Board on 1 January 2005.
Mr Cowin is Executive Chairman
of Competitive Foods Australia
Pty Ltd, which owns Hungry
Jack’s nationally and Kentucky
Fried Chicken in Western
Australia and the Northern
Territory. He is a Director of
Network Ten and BridgeClimb,
Chairman of CIBC Australia
Ltd, and Governor of the
Centennial Parklands Authority.

Penelope Figgis AO
BA (Hons)

Gabrielle Kibble AO
BA Dip TCP FRAPI DSc hc UNSW

Brian Newman
BE (Civil) MBA

Ms Penelope Figgis was
appointed to the Board on 1 July
2001. On 1 January 2005 this
appointment was extended
for three years. Ms Figgis has
published widely on nature
conservation, protected area
policy and sustainable tourism.
She is currently Vice Chair of the
World Commission on Protected
Areas and a Member of the
Northern Territory Parks and
Wildlife Advisory Council. Until
2005, she was a long-standing
Vice President of the Australian
Conservation Foundation.

Mrs Gabrielle Kibble was
appointed to the Board on 1 July
2001. On 1 January 2005 this
appointment was extended
for three years. Mrs Kibble is
Chairman of Sydney Water and
its trading subsidiary, Australian
Water Technologies Pty Ltd.
She is the Administrator of
Liverpool Council, a Trustee
and Deputy Chancellor of
the University of Western
Sydney, and an Honorary
Associate of the Graduate
School of Government,
University of Sydney.

Mr Brian Newman was
appointed Chief Executive
Ofﬁcer (CEO), Sydney Olympic
Park Authority on 29 January
2002 and joined the Board
on that date. Mr Newman
was previously CEO, Emaar
Properties in the United Arab
Emirates; Managing Director
of Nusajaya Development Sdn
Bhd in Malaysia; CEO, City West
Development Corporation;
and Acting CEO, Honeysuckle
Development Corporation. He
is a member of the Greater
Western Sydney Economic
Development Board and a
Director of Sport Knowledge
Australia and the Sydney
Convention and Visitors Bureau.

Board Member Proﬁles

Chris Christodoulou
BA
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The natural heritage of
the parklands is protected
and enhanced.

State of the Environment

Under the Act, the Authority
is also required to produce an
annual report on the state of
the environment within Sydney
Olympic Park which covers four
key environmental performance
areas: biodiversity, resource
conservation, involving people,
and site impacts. It also includes
an Environmental Compliance
Report and Parklands Plan
of Management Report.
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Sport – creating a premier sports
destination and unique
integrated sports
industry
model

L

Promote, coordinate and
manage the orderly and
economic development
and use of Sydney Olympic
Park, including the
provision and management
of infrastructure

The Authority’s Corporate
Plan outlines an economic
development strategy that drives
development of Sydney Olympic
Park according to six core themes:

Environment – progressing
the Park’s reputation for
environmental sustainability
through the establishment
of a green economy.

ev

•

Our Economic
Development Strategy

CU

A governing Board of Authority
(the Board) was created
to provide direction and
guidance to the Authority
to ensure it meets its core
functions. They are to:

Creative Industries – establishing
a hub for knowledge based
industries by linking art, culture,
commerce and community

at
form

Our Core Functions

Liaise with and maintain
arrangements with
Olympic organisations
such as the International
Olympic Committee
and the Australian
Olympic Committee.

Culture, the Arts, Food and
Entertainment – becoming
a lively regional centre for
culture, the arts, food and
entertainment for those who
reside at or visit the Park
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This year a summarised State
of the Environment report has
been included in Chapter 4 of the
Sydney Olympic Park Authority
Annual Report 2005–06 in
lieu of a separate State of the
Environment annual report.

•

Provide, operate and
maintain public transport
facilities within Sydney
Olympic Park

Health, Leisure and Wellbeing
– establishing a holistic town
and place of enrichment for
spiritual, emotional, occupational,
intellectual, economic, social,
and physical wellbeing
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Any new development
carried out in accordance
with the Act complies
with best practice
environmental and town
planning standards

•

Protect and enhance the
natural and cultural heritage
of Sydney Olympic Park,
including the parklands

sp

•

Sydney Olympic Park
becomes a premium
destination for cultural,
entertainment, recreation
and sporting events

•
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Sydney Olympic Park
becomes an active and
vibrant town centre within
metropolitan Sydney
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•

Education – establishing
a world-class precinct for
education in sport, health,
arts and environmental
sustainability…becoming a
campus with a diverse student
and institutional base
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The Sydney Olympic Park Act
2001, incorporating the Sydney
Olympic Park Amendment
Regulation 2004, requires the
Authority to make all reasonable
efforts to ensure that:

Promote, coordinate,
organise, manage,
undertake, secure, provide
and conduct cultural,
sporting, educational,
commercial, tourist,
recreational, entertainment
and transport activities
and facilities
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Corporate Planning Framework

Our Act

NM

A framework for Sydney Olympic Park’s future
development according to six core themes

·

Property Development

·

Creative Industries Development

·

Environmental Economic
Development

·
·

Business Development

·
·
·

Sustainability

·
·
·
·
·

Chief Executive Ofﬁcer

Board

·
·
·
·

Place Management

·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·

Arts Development

Building Approvals and
Events Compliance

Sustainability Management
Urban Design

Urban Planning Services

Capital Works Project Management
Assets and Infrastructure
Management

Education and Tour Programs

Environment and Ecosystems

Operations and Venue Support
Parklands Management

Public Events and Entertainment
Management

Safety and Security Management
Site Presentation

Trafﬁc and Transport Management
Visitor Centre/Services

Visitor Experience Enhancement
Major Assets Management

Water and Energy Management

·

Marketing Services

·
·
·
·
·

Leisure & Marketing Communications
Media Relations
Sponsorship

Tourism Business Development
Community Relations
Schools Education
Research

·

Accounts Payable and Receivable

·

Financial Control

·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·

Corporate Services

Sports Development

Business Events

·

Finance and
Commercial Services

Education Development

·
·

Marketing and
Communications

Contract Management

·
·
·

Organisational Structure

Property Development

Commercial Services

Financial Systems Accounting

Management Accounting
and Reporting

Property/Car Park Management
Risk Management
Treasury Liaison

Venue and Lease Management
Administrative Services

Executive Services to Board, Chairman,
CEO and Minister’s Ofﬁce
Governance Coordination

Human Resource Management

Information Services – IT&T, CADD
and Records Management
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At Sydney Olympic Park we are building on the Olympic Legacy to create a vibrant,
unique town – an outstanding example of sustainable urban development.

Sydney Olympic Park is host to sporting,
artistic, cultural, educational, culinary,
recreational and entertainment activities and
experiences that promote social, physical,
intellectual and emotional wellbeing
for workers and visitors to the Park.

Commonwealth Bank of Australia
Brings Jobs and Workers to the Park

Colonial First State Property has commenced
construction on the ﬁrst of four new buildings
or in the heart of Sydney Olympic Park and
adjacent to the rail station. On completion
in 2009, the $245 million development will
provide 86,000 m2 of ofﬁce space for the
Commonwealth Bank of Australia (as head
tenant) and vital infrastructure including cafes
and retail outlets along Herb Elliott Avenue.
The development will accommodate
some 5,000 employees, doubling the
current workforce at the Park.
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Construction on the ﬁrst site commenced in
March 2006 and will ﬁnish in late 2007, bringing
more than 1,400 staff to work at the Park and
contributing to improved transport services
from Hurstville, Strathﬁeld and Chatswood.
As well as creating hundreds of new construction
jobs over the next three years, it is expected that
the development will conﬁrm the Park’s Specialist
Economic Centre role as deﬁned under the NSW
Government’s Metropolitan Strategy, fast track its
sustainable evolution, and make it more attractive
for other businesses and residential development.

As well as providing
outstanding venues for major
events in sport, business,
agriculture and entertainment,
Sydney Olympic Park also
offers a healthy, productive
business environment within a
unique natural and historically
signiﬁcant built environment.
The focus on building the town
involves management and
staff in a range of activities
to facilitate property and
business development, respond
operationally to growing
use and visitation, guide and
support property and product
development activities,
commission and oversee
major capital works projects,
expand and reﬁne the range
of programs and services on
offer, and respond properly to
ongoing change around the site.

Master Plan 2025

Property Development

Currently there are more than
60 businesses and 6,000
workers located at the Park.
Under the new Master Plan
the projected resident, worker
and student population of the
Park in 2025 is 35,000 including
some 15,000 residents and a
daily inﬂux of up to 20,000
workers and students.

Accor Hotel Developments
Accor, which operates the
Novotel and Hotel Ibis at Sydney
Olympic Park, has committed
to building two new hotels, the
Soﬁtel and Formule 1. When
completed, they will bring the
total number of hotel rooms at
the Park to approximately 700.

Sydney Olympic Park
Master Plan 2025 will guide
development at the precinct
in a balanced, sequenced
and sustainable approach.
It allows for a variety of land
uses and facilities including
commercial, residential,
retail, education, community,
venues and mixed use.

The Master Plan addresses
a range of critical issues for
the Park including future
land uses, development
capacity, built form, public
domain, transport and access,
sustainability, event operations
and infrastructure provision. It
is due to be completed by late
2006 when it will be submitted
to the NSW Department
of Planning and will go on
public exhibition. Submissions
received will then be reviewed
and it is expected the Minister
for Planning will adopt the
Master Plan in late 2007.

During 2005–06, a total of
17 major property development
transactions were completed or
under negotiation with a total
end value of $1.1 billion. As a
result, seven developments will
be under construction by June
2007, signiﬁcantly contributing
to the creation of a sustainable
and vibrant new town.

Soﬁtel Hotel
Announced in October 2005,
this $65 million ﬁve star hotel
is due to be completed by
mid 2008. It will include retail
space at street level and be
joined to the Novotel by a twostorey common underground
car park. Construction will
commence in August 2006.
Formule 1 Hotel
This $20 million two star 156
room hotel will cater to a broad
range of recreational and
business users. Construction
will commence in March 2007.

Artist’s impression of the Commonwealth
Bank buildings along Australia Avenue
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Other Commercial
Developments
Site 9
The subject of a Request for
Detailed Proposal Process
(RFDP Process) and has a
current development consent
for 12,000 m2 of commercial
ofﬁces with ground ﬂoor retail.
Site 13
The subject of a RFDP Process
and offers up to 15,000 m2
for commercial ofﬁces.
Site 8
RFDP Process commenced
12 June and closed 18 July
2006. Capacity for 8,500 m2 of
ofﬁces and ground ﬂoor retail.
Negotiations are underway.
Quad 4
Located on Parkview Drive, in
QUAD 1, it has direct access
to Bennelong Road. Four
levels of ofﬁce space and one
level of car parking. It will
accommodate 450 workers and
is due for completion in 2007.
NSWIS Headquarters
The NSW Institute of Sport’s
new headquarters at 6 Figtree
Drive were completed during
2006. Its 8,500 m2 of ﬂoor
space accommodates 90 staff
and coaches and includes a
sport science laboratory.
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Waterview Convention Centre
The multifunction complex
was opened in September 2005
and is set in Bicentennial Park,
overlooking Lake Belvedere. It
was developed by the Dockside
Group and includes Bel Parco
Restaurant and Lilies Cafe.

Parklands and Open
Space Development

During 2005–06, the Authority
delivered projects that aimed
to: improve access and
connectivity to and within
the parklands; enhance the
visitor experience; provide
new amenities and services;
and protect and enhance
the Park’s environmental
and heritage assets.
Completed projects included:
•

•

Development of the
Parklands 10 year Capital
Investment Plan – to
manage current and future
demands for open space
and leisure facilities and
continued activation
in the parklands at
Sydney Olympic Park
Development of a new
Artists’ Studios and
workshop facilities at
Newington Armory,
which includes an indoor
performance space seating
240 people, an outdoor
performance area for up
to 2,500 people and a 500
m2 exhibition space

•

Opening of the Brickpit
Ring Walk, an elevated 550
metre circular walkway
that provides access from
the town centre into a 20
hectare area of the parklands
that was previously closed
to the public. In 2006, the
Brickpit Ring Walk received
a Royal Australian Institute
of Architects (RAIA) Lloyd
Rees Award for Urban
Design. This is the highest
urban design awarded
by the Royal Australian
Institute of Architects.

Redevelopment of
Blaxland Common
In 2006 work commenced on
the $15 million development of
Blaxland Riverside Park.
The $7 million ﬁrst stage of
the 20 hectare Parramatta
River waterfront park is due for
completion in March 2007.
It will extend Jamieson Street to
the waterfront, providing a new
public entrance to Newington
Armory, and create waterfront
access and views as well as
new playground and BBQ/
picnic facilities. Plans are also
underway for a new alfresco
style bistro/café.

Sports Development
In 2005–06 the Authority
continued to assist sports
services, businesses,
partners and associations
to engage with the Park
and its world-class sporting
venues. Sports development
highlights included:
Action Sports
Monster Skate Park and Monster
Mountain X facilities were
launched in late 2005. As well
as increasing the number of
young visitors to the Park, it has
led to new partnerships with
the Western Sydney Mountain
Bike Club and Mountain Biking
Australia in relation to club
activities, general programmed
use and state and national
events. The Park also hosted
its ﬁrst major action sports
event, the Monster BMX Games
in association with Freestyle
BMX in October 2005.
New Annual Festival of Cycling
To create this inaugural event,
Sydney Olympic Park Authority
worked in partnership with
Bicycle New South Wales,
Portfolio Partners Sydney
Spring Cycle, Bicycling Australia
tradeshow, Cycling Promotion
Fund, Cycling Australia,
Cycling NSW – Peleton Sports
Criterion Race, Mountain Bike
Australia National 4 X Series
and NSW Wheelchair Sports.

The festival was attended by
25,000 people and included
the Bicycling Australia Show
and Cycling Super Sunday. The
Festival of Cycling has now
become a key event in Sydney
Olympic Park’s overall leisure
and cycling strategy and will
expand to include mountain
bike, hand cycle and freestyle
BMX events on the new
Monster Mountain X track.

Sports Sponsorship and Support
In addition to hosting major
sporting events, the Authority
also provided sponsorship,
marketing and promotions
assistance for signiﬁcant
sporting events and programs
hosted at the Park including:

New Sports Portal
The portal was launched
on the Sydney Olympic
Park website in 2005.

•

Carnival of Tennis
Outside the majors, the Carnival
of Tennis (6–19 February 2006)
was the largest tennis event
in Australia. The two week
carnival commenced with the
Sydney Open (Tier 1 event)
and was followed by the
Men’s Futures and Women’s
Challenger events. This was the
ﬁrst time men’s and women’s
tours at this level have been
held together in Australia.
Home Teams
Major teams that played
their home games at
the Park included:
•
•
•
•

NRL Bulldogs, Wests Tigers,
South Sydney Rabbitohs
Netball Sydney TAB Swifts
Basketball West
Sydney Razorbacks

•

•

•

•

Tennis Davis Cup – Australia
v Argentina; Medibank
International; Sydney
Wheelchair International
World Cups Swimming;
Fencing (EPEE); Diving

International Series
Hockeyroos v Argentina;
Hockeyroos v New
Zealand; International
Men’s Volleyball Series

Australian Championships
Athletics; Table Tennis;
Gymnastics; Handball;
National Mountain
Bike 4 X Series

Junior Sport Australian
All Schools; Athletics
Championships;
Australian Age Swimming
Championships; Weetbix
Kids TRYathlon; inaugural
Youth Friendship Games;
and the Adventure Racing
Outdoor Challenge (AROC).

For further information
on major sporting events
see ‘Events’ in Chapter 2,
Managing the Park.

Making Sydney Olympic Park

Business Development

AFL QBE Sydney Swans

Artist’s impression of the Commonwealth
Bank buildings adjacent to the station
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SportAccord Expo, Seoul, 2006
In April 2006, Sydney Olympic
Park Authority and Sport
Knowledge Australia jointly
sponsored and exhibited at the
annual SportAccord Expo in
South Korea. The event provided
an opportunity to inform the
international sports community
about the successful
development of Sydney Olympic
Park since the Sydney 2000
Olympic Games. It also enabled
the Authority to work with
the NSW Major Events Board
to pursue prospects for future
major sporting events and
sport related business events.
As a result of the interest
generated, a number of
positive media stories about
Sydney Olympic Park appeared
in the UK and Europe.
Education Development
During 2005–06 the Authority
made signiﬁcant progress in
realising its vision of creating
an education campus at Sydney
Olympic Park that will become
an integral component of its
sporting and creative hub.

Students enjoy the parklands outside Sydney
Olympic Park Lodge at Newington Armory
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In 2006, following a call
for expressions of interest,
approval was given for ten
sites to be listed for sale by
leasehold title (99 years) to
commercial education and
training providers – seven sites
are for educational facilities
and three are for student
accommodation. All are in close
proximity to major sporting
venues. Building heights will
vary from four to six storeys
offering 67,000 m2 of ﬂoor
space for educational facilities
and 17,000 m2 for student
accommodation, with ground
level retail facilities available
for most sites. The RFDP was
advertised in early May and
applications closed 21 July 2006.
Education programs and
highlights for 2005–06 included:
Opening of the Sydney
Olympic Park Lodge
The 70 bed facility in the
heart of the parklands offers
overnight accommodation for
school groups participating
in educational activities
and programs at the Park.
It is run by the YMCA and
opened in February 2006.

Jump Rope for Heart,
Heart Foundation
In March 2006, the Authority
hosted this event for the
ﬁrst time. Over 300 students
from 16 schools participated.
A Demonstration Team
Showcase also took place on
22 June at Sydney Olympic
Park Sports Centre.
Geography Learning Sequence
This innovative education
program integrates schoolwork,
ﬁeldwork at the Park and online
delivery and has been trialled
by students in years 9–10. It has
been developed in collaboration
with the NSW Department of
Education and Training and the
Metropolitan Catholic Education
Ofﬁces, and with education
consultancy services provided
by the Education Faculty,
University of Wollongong.

Active Lifestyle Program
The programs are linked to the
Personal Development, Health
and Physical Education syllabus
(PDHPE) for Kindergarten to
year 10 students and to elective
subjects for students in years 11
and 12. They play a valuable role
in helping to address a range
of health issues in children and
young people, while using the
Park’s diverse sporting facilities
and infrastructure. Some of
the activities offered include:
•

•

•

•

K-6 sport and physical
education programs
emphasising fundamental
movement skills and
active participation in
games skill development
The Physical Activity
and Sport Studies (PASS)
program that links directly
to the new Board of
Studies syllabus for lower
secondary schools
The Sport Leisure and
Recreation (SLR) program
that links to the senior
secondary course

The 2 unit PDHPE program
for HSC students.

In 2005–06, 2,409 students
participated in the program
(a 92% increase on 2004–05
participation rates).
ArtExpress
The second annual ArtExpress
exhibition at the Armory took
place on 7 March – 30 April
2006 and featured selected
bodies of work submitted by
year 12 Visual Arts students for
the Higher School Certiﬁcate.
Open daily, it attracted over
10,000 people, including
1,835 school students.

Field Studies Excursions
The excursions are delivered in
Bicentennial Park to primary
and secondary school students
through 18 curriculum-based
school excursion products:
•

•

Nine in the key
learning areas of HSIE/
Science & Technology
(PDHPE extensions
are also available) for
primary schools

Nine in the key learning
areas of Biology/Geography/
History and Science for
secondary schools.

Participation in ﬁeld studies
excursions in 2005–06
was 15,924, a 7% increase
on 2004–05.
Houses of the Future
This exhibition demonstrating
best practice in sustainable
building design was hosted at
Sydney Olympic Park in 2005.
It featured a glass house, a
clay house, a cement house,
a timber house, a cardboard
house, and a steel house.
Through a partnership with
the NSW Department of
Education and Training (DET),
an excursion was designed
and delivered by a DET ofﬁcer
who was both an architect
and a practising design and
technology school teacher.
More than 2,900 students
attended the 10 week program.
As a direct result the UNSW
Sustainable Living Challenge,
which is a national competition
for schools managed by the
UNSW Faculty of the Built
Environment, received hundreds
of entries with designs for home
extensions, school buildings
and housing estates based on
sustainable design principles.

Sport Knowledge Australia (SKA)
SKA is Australia’s ﬁrst
international centre of
excellence in sports science
and sports management. It is
owned jointly by the University
of Sydney, the University of
Technology, Sydney and the
Sydney Olympic Park Authority.
During its ﬁrst 15 months SKA
has developed partnerships
with sports industry leaders
and organisations in Australia,
China, India, the Middle
East and Europe, to provide
residential programs and
executive level training in
sport facility management,
major event management,
elite sports coaching and high
performance management.
SKA’s other initiatives at Sydney
Olympic Park include school
education resources, online
distance learning products and
direct funding of research. In
2005–06 it supported research
projects that investigated:
•

The relationship between
physical and social
environments and
population participation
in physical activity in NSW

• Motor learning theory
•

Protection and marketing of
sport intellectual property
rights in global markets

•

The effects of dietary
carbohydrates on
overtraining in sport

•

Mechanisms for
mitochondrial dysfunction
under a heat load
and during prolonged
exercise in the heat

•

Factors contributing
to sports coaching
effectiveness.

Making Sydney Olympic Park

Collaboration with Venues
Bi-monthly meetings were held
with key education contacts
at venues across the Park, to
strengthen relationships and
develop a coordinated approach
to schools based marketing.
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Other Business
Development Initiatives
Arts Development
Sydney Olympic Park’s Arts
and Culture Strategy was
launched in 2005. An Arts
Development Advisory
Committee assists in the
implementation of the 10 year
strategy. During this second
year of implementation the
Park showcased a wide variety
of arts and cultural programs,
exhibitions and events and
commenced full operation
of an ‘Artists in Residence’
program in January 2006.
Artists at the Armory
In October 2005, in a creative
partnership between Sydney
Olympic Park and Sculpture
by the Sea, six artists were
commissioned from India,
Iceland, England, Mongolia,
Japan and Australia to become
the ﬁrst artists to participate
in the Sydney Olympic Park
Artists at the Armory program.
The artists lived and worked
onsite to produce sculptures
for Sculptures by the Sea. One
of the artists, Jane Becker,
won the Art Gallery of NSW
Director’s Choice Award for her
work, My Queer House, which
was created at the Armory.

View to Acer Arena from the parklands
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Following this successful
pilot, the Artists at the Armory
program commenced operation
in February 2006 and is now
available to the broader arts
community. As well as the
residency program, artists are
invited to hire the facilities for
painting, sculpture, printmaking
and ceramics on either a
short or long term basis.
Seventeen visual artists and
one writer were issued with
licences over the year to 30
June 2006 and the residential
program is fully booked
until December 2006.
Creative Industries
Development
Work has commenced on
formulating a Creative
Industries Strategy that will
encourage the formation of
a creative cluster at the Park
through the provision of
infrastructure and support,
capacity building and
community development.
Sydney Olympic Park is
forging a vision of a Creative
Industries hub and supportive
community in which to
nurture emerging innovative
talent and industry. The Arts
and Culture Strategy and the
presence of creative industries
at the Park are forming a
strong base for this focus.

Environmental Economic
Development
A detailed environmental
management report is
provided in Chapter 4, State
of the Environment.
Solar Cities Bid
In November 2004 the
Authority established a
consortium called ‘Brighter
Future’ to participate in
the Federal Government’s
Solar Cities Trial. This nine
year, $75 million program
will be managed by the
Australian Greenhouse Ofﬁce
(AGO) and will support the
establishment of trials in four
locations across Australia to
collaborate in developing and
demonstrating district based
renewable energy systems.
Brighter Future is led by Sydney
Olympic Park Authority and
comprises Auburn Council,
Accor, BP Solar, Commonwealth
Bank, CSIRO, EnergyAustralia,
Environmental Research
Institute for Art, UNSW –
College of Fine Arts, Greenbank
Capital, NSW Department
of Education and Training,
Torch Publishing Group
(Auburn Pictorial Review),
Total Environment Centre,
UNSW – Faculty of the Built
Environment, University of
Technology, Sydney (UTS) and
University of Western Sydney.

During 2006–07 planned
developments at the Park are:

A detailed proposal was
submitted to the Australian
Greenhouse Ofﬁce in early
2006 and announcement
of the successful bids
is due in late 2006.

•

•

•

Future Directions

The Sydney Olympic Park Master
Plan 2025 will be submitted to
the Department of Planning in
late 2006 and then be placed on
public exhibition before being
ﬁnalised and adopted. Not only
will the Master Plan provide
a comprehensive approach
to the future development of
Sydney Olympic Park, it will also
offer detailed planning and
design principles and controls.

•

•

•

•

Complete Stage 1 of
Blaxland Riverside Park

Secure developers for
ten education sites and a
further six sites, Eat Street
and the Yulang Pub

Oversee dramatic change
in the town centre as the
ﬁrst of the Commonwealth
Bank’s ofﬁce blocks is
completed with ground
level shops and cafes
Welcome 1,400
Commonwealth Bank
employees to the precinct
Implement enhanced
public transport services
to and from the Park

Design and document
Jacaranda Square in
preparation for construction
of the new town centre

Secure private sector
contributions to the
expansion of Sydney
Olympic Park Aquatic Centre.

Future challenges for the
Authority in 2006–07 will be to
continue to drive an economic
development strategy based
on the six core themes of
sport; education; health, leisure
and wellbeing; culture, the
arts, food and entertainment;
creative industries; and
environmental sustainability.

Making Sydney Olympic Park

The consortium partners share
the Authority’s aspirations for
creating an innovative business
model for renewable energy.
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Sydney Olympic Park Authority maintains, conserves and operates the
Park’s natural and built assets. Our role is to activate and enhance these
assets in a sustainable way for present and future generations.

The Great Escape
– Music and Arts Festival

At Easter 2006 Sydney Olympic Park
hosted a three day live-in music and arts
festival, The Great Escape. It featured
an eclectic mix of music, contemporary
art, food, comedy, retail, speakers and
workshops with 100 acts and 1,000
performers on seven stages at Newington
Armory. The event was attended by more
than 20, 000 people and was also a great
success in terms of planning controls,
operational delivery and positive publicity.
Key elements in planning and staging The
Great Escape included consultation with
Newington residents, establishment of a
Noise Hotline, engagement of an acoustic
engineer to monitor noise levels, and
implementation of an operational and
communications strategy for transport
and parking. The Authority worked
closely with the festival promoters, Mixed
Industry, to ensure the event complied
with Building Codes Australia provisions,
the Parklands Plan of Management, the

Heritage Precinct Conservation Master
Plan, and environmental legislation
including threatened species and
remediated lands use legislation.
A heritage consultant was employed to
ensure compliance with heritage related
matters and an ecological monitoring
program was conducted to detect gross
impacts upon potentially affected fauna
such as microbats, frogs, shorebirds
and waterbirds in key habitats.
There were remarkably few incidents
over the three days, which reﬂected the
thorough planning by the event promoter
as well as the implementation of a
comprehensive risk management plan.
The Authority received a percentage of
gross ticket sales revenue, car parking
revenue, tours and train rides revenue,
resulting in an overall net proﬁt. Following
evaluation of the event, recommendations
have been made to streamline planning
processes and promote the Park as the
ideal venue to successfully host largescale,
multi-dimensional events of this nature.

The Authority’s key aim in place management
is to maximise visitation and the use of the
Park’s venues and assets. It involves developing
a rich choice of products and the provision of
suitable amenities for visitors, workers and
residents while ensuring people movement
to, from and within the site is efﬁcient,
accessible, comfortable and sustainable.
Photography by Marc Grimwade 2006
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Newington Armory comes alive
during The Great Escape festival

Events

During 2005–06 the Authority
delivered major entertainment,
sporting, public and arts
events that brought over two
million visitors to the Park.
Major Events
Major entertainment events
that attracted signiﬁcantly large
crowds in 2005–06 included:
•
•
•
•

Sydney Royal Easter Show
(900,000 people)

Big Day Out (55,000 people)

The Great Escape (more
than 20,000 people)
Rolling Stones Concert
(58,490 people).

Sports Events
In 2005–06, the Park’s sports
venues and facilities hosted over
90 sporting events including:
•

•
•
•
•

ARU and NRL matches,
ﬁnals and grand ﬁnals
(570,000 people)
State of Origin
(72,000 people)

Rugby Tests (205,000
people)

World Cup Soccer Qualiﬁer
(82,000 people)
Medibank International
Tennis (73,000 people)

•

Australian Athletics
Championships
– Commonwealth
Games Selection Trials
(12,000 people).

The Park also hosted
other prominent sporting
events such as the Sydney
Wheelchair International,
World Cup Swimming,
Fencing, Diving, Australian
Championships in Table
Tennis, Gymnastics, Handball,
National Mountain Bike 4 X
Series, International Hockey
Series (Hockeyroos v Argentina
and Hockeyroos v New
Zealand) and the International
Men’s Volleyball Series.
Public Events
The Authority provided ﬁnancial
and operational support to the
staging of key public events
designed to activate and enliven
the site. These iconic events are
regular ﬁxtures in the Park’s
annual calendar of events.
Music by Moonlight
A superb range of artists
performed on four Friday
nights in February including
James Morrison, Renee Geyer
and the Sydney Symphony
Orchestra (25,000 people).

Movies in the Overﬂow
Free outdoor family friendly
cinema held in the January
school holidays in The
Overﬂow (22,000 people).
Festival of Cycling
This was held during October
2005 for the ﬁrst time and
25,000 cyclists participated.
Kids in the Park
The school holiday programs
for children aged 2–12 years
attracted approximately
31,000 young people to a
range of entertainment, arts,
recreation, clinics and activities.
Australia Day Celebrations
The annual citizenship
ceremony and Australia
Day celebration is held in
partnership with Auburn
Council (4,000 people).
Carols by the Cauldron
Our annual Christmas
event (3,500 people).
Boulevard Markets
The themed markets are
held monthly throughout
the year (21,300 people).
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Community Cultural
Celebrations
The Authority continues to
develop, host and support
major community cultural
events and festivals. In
2005–06 these included:

Banks Florilegium – the Art
of Botanical Discovery
An exhibition of 25 artists’
proofs of botanical specimens
collected during Captain
Cook’s ﬁrst voyage of
discovery 1768–1771.

•

•

Assets and Amenities

•

•

India-Australia Fair

•

Ritmo (Brazilian) Festival

•

Deepavali Festival
Bengali Festival.

Arts Events
In 2005–06, the Authority
staged arts events, exhibitions
and programs including:
Acoustica at the Armory
This free outdoor concert
with emerging singer
songwriters and established
acts was presented in
association with Contempree
Calderazzo Entertainment and
supported by Vega 95.3fm.
ArtExpress Exhibition
The exhibition, titled ‘Fairytale
Ending’, featured the artworks
of 70 NSW HSC Visual Arts
students, many of whom
were from schools in Sydney’s
west. It was launched by artist
Janet Laurence, sponsored by
Baxter’s Buses and BenQ and
attended by over 10,000 people.
Electra Grafﬁti
A large–scale collaborative
installation of electronic art
and grafﬁti created by local
and international grafﬁti
and ﬁlm artists working with
local young people. It was
developed and created in
partnership with Cinewest.

‘Fairytale Ending’ by Peter Beard, selected to
theme the 2006 ArtExpress Exhibition
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The Authority maintains the
Park’s $1.5 billion of public
assets and in 2005–06 spent
$12.6 million on the creation
of new public assets and the
replacement of worn and
depreciated assets. Assets
are managed according
to Asset Management
Plans consistent with NSW
Government requirements
for Total Asset Management.
See also Appendix C for a
list of major capital works
completed during the year.
Asset Enhancement
During 2005–06, incremental
enhancement projects
undertaken in the parklands
and town centre in response
to visitor feedback included:
•

•

New identiﬁcation signage
at the Sports Halls,
Acer Arena, Bike Hire at
Bicentennial Park and the
Field Studies Centre
Improved way ﬁnding
and promotional
signage for Monster
Mountain X, the Brickpit
Ring Walk, Waterview
Convention Centre and
the redevelopment of
Blaxland Common

•
•

•

•

•

Improved way ﬁnding
for the Visitor Centre

Installation of 45 park maps
and way-ﬁnding signage
Two Petanque/Bocce
courts in Bicentennial
Park and Archery Park

An outdoor gym,
additional barbecue
and bubbler facilities, a
social basketball facility
and a large chessboard
in Bicentennial Park

Speciﬁc bins for the
collection of hot coals
from portable barbecues
in ﬁve locations in
Bicentennial Park and
Wentworth Common
An accessible standards
Liberty Swing in
Bicentennial Park
A cricket pitch at
Haslams Field.

New Sports Hall Floor
In 2005–06, the Authority
undertook to replace the
3,200 m2 indoor Sports
Hall ﬂoor, which costs an
estimated $100,000 each
year to remove so that it can
be used as a pavilion during
the Royal Easter Show.
The new $450,000 ﬂooring was
designed after consultation
with various stakeholders so
that the venue is able to more
efﬁciently meet a variety of user
purposes from the annual Royal
Easter Show to sports such as
Badminton and Table Tennis.

The Authority has responsibility
for the maintenance, repair and
replacement, as required, for
built and landscape elements
within the Park including 20 km
of roads, 42 km of pathways,
5 playgrounds including 58
playground elements, 219 public
facilities, 920 park furniture
items, 40 gross pollutant traps,
8 containment booms, 1,727
drainage pits, 4,803 lineal
metres of grated drains, 2,266
bollards, 29 shade umbrellas
and 17 public artworks.
The combined landscape
maintenance and cleaning
activity required to maintain the
health and quality presentation
of the parklands involved some
66,534 hours of landscape
maintenance and 25,800 hours
of cleaning. Tasks included
planting approximately
69,000 plants, the placement
of 2,500 cubic metres of
mulch, irrigation using 412
megalitres of harvested
storm water and regular
cleaning of public amenities,
paved areas, waterways,
and landscaped gardens.

Parklands Foundation

The Parklands Foundation
Limited is a subsidiary
corporation under the Sydney
Olympic Park Authority Act. It
has been established to add
value to the Park through
support of educational,
environmental, cultural,
scientiﬁc and recreational
projects and programs
within the parklands.
The Parklands Foundation’s
principal activities in
2005–06 included:
•

•

•

•

•

Safety and Security

During 2005–06 the Authority
actively supported 55 major
event days (attracting more
than 30,000 attendees per
event), as well as 104 Sydney
Olympic Park Authority
event days, by managing
crowds, parking, trafﬁc
and transport access.
The Authority’s Operations
Centre operated on a 24/7
basis throughout the year.
It provided a security patrol
and monitoring regime and
coordinated management of all
site activity including security
issues, trafﬁc and transport
incidents, and maintenance
services. All security activities
were coordinated with NSW
Police and Emergency services
and, internally, security
was handled by a Security
Management Committee. This
year the Authority updated its
Visitor Health & Safety Plan
and Business Continuity Plan.

•
•

Preparation and planning for
future business, partnership
and fundraising activities
Establishment of the
Parklands Fund to invite and
receive gifts and donations
for the environmental
objects of the Foundation
Preparation of a preliminary
business plan for review
by the NSW Treasury
Entry to the Register
of Environmental
Organisations

Endorsement as a
deductible gift recipient by
the Federal Department of
Environment and Heritage
and the Australian Taxation
Ofﬁce (27 February 2006)
Progressing recruitment
of Foundation Directors

Appointment of an Executive
Manager (March 15).

The Parklands Foundation
Limited formally commenced
operations in March 2006.

Future Directions

The development of a new
town centre at Sydney Olympic
Park and continued promotion
of the parklands as local and
regional public open spaces will
contribute to signiﬁcant changes
at the Park in future years.

These changes may involve
increases in annual visitors,
workers and residents; multiple
venue event days; requests from
venues for special consideration;
varying expectations of
commercial tenants, workers
and residents; regional crime
and security risks and/or
issues; pressure on funding
supply; operational complexity,
constraints and obligations; and
potential site disruption from
property development activity.
Signiﬁcant challenges for future
place management in the town
centre may include: balancing
the needs of existing sports
and entertainment venues
and public event organisers
against the needs of commercial
and residential owners and
tenants; and managing car
parking, trafﬁc and pedestrian
ﬂows effectively during peak
hours and major events. At
the same time, there may
be reduced ﬂexibility to act
promptly and without notice,
consultation, agreement
and/or compensation.

Managing the Park

Site Presentation

In the parklands, on the other
hand, a key challenge will be
to continue to protect the
environment as the numbers of
visitors grow and, possibly, pose
a threat to natural resilience or
exceed ﬂora/fauna tolerance.
There are already high levels
of maintenance required for
natural asset presentation
and landscape function/
performance and these will
become greater as more people
use the spaces, facilities and
amenities more often, with
fewer low-use periods for
rest, repair or renovation. At
the same time there will be a
need to manage this growing
community involvement,
engagement, and interest in the
parklands and the opportunities
they offer for diverse leisure,
health and lifestyle activities.
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Sydney Olympic Park Authority’s role is to promote the Park’s
natural and built assets, programs, events and activities and provide
an enriching experience for all who visit or work there.

In 2005–06, marketing and
communications activity was focused
on building visitation and awareness
of the Park to a broad range of target
audiences. Promotional activity to
position the Park as a destination for
leisure, business events, commercial
property, school education and tourism
resulted in over 7.7 million people
visiting the Park in 2005–06, a 13%
increase on 2004–05 visitation.

Monster Action Sports Bring Young People
to the Park

Action sports is one of the fastest growing
categories of sport in the world, and this year the
Park opened two venues that cater to all levels of
action sports users.
Monster Skate Park
This is the ﬁrst international standard skate park
in the southern hemisphere for skateboarders,
aggressive inline skaters and freestyle BMX
riders. It includes a street course and mini-ramp
for skaters of all levels and has the largest
competition sized vert ramp in Australia. Since
opening in November 2005, the skate park
has experienced strong growth in visitation,
averaging around 650 paid users per week during
the ﬁrst half of 2006.
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The park is proving particularly popular during
school holiday periods, with the ‘Ride with a
Pro’ coaching clinics attracting both new and
experienced riders. A ﬁve year strategic marketing
plan is due to be completed in August 2006 and,
because 66% of average visitation occurs on
weekends, part of its focus will be to drive midweek school sport visitation.
Monster Mountain X
A free venue that includes 250 metres of
meandering, downhill, dirt jumps and turns. It
was built in time for the National Mountain Cross
event in October 2005 and is open from sunrise
to sunset daily except when booked by Mountain
Bike and BMX organisations. Users have described
Monster Mountain X as the best permanent track
in the country.

Leisure Marketing

During 2005–06 Sydneysiders
were encouraged to visit the
Park to enjoy community
based events and watch or
participate in sporting and
other events and activities. In
addition to developing and
implementing a range of
marketing communications
campaigns for on-site events,
signiﬁcant leisure marketing
initiatives included:
Sydney Weekender
A key element of Sydney
Olympic Park’s 2005–06
leisure campaign was the
sponsorship of Channel Seven’s
Sydney Weekender Program to
promote the Park to the Sydney
family market. The program
was sponsored for a 14–week
period from January to May
2006 and involved integrated
content, branding, feature
stories, weekly What’s On
listings and the screening of a
TV commercial during the show.
Research demonstrated that the
sponsorship was very effective
for increasing awareness and
driving visitation, showing that
5% of regular viewers indicated
they had visited the Park after
seeing the show. A further 13%
of regular viewers stated they
were seriously considering
visiting the Park in the near
future. Forty percent recalled
information about the Park post
campaign compared to 25%
pre campaign, while unaided
awareness of cycling increased
from 12% pre campaign
to 21% post campaign.

Consumer Database
The Authority’s ‘What’s On?’
consumer database now has
over 21,500 subscribers, an
increase of 109% from 2004–05.
In response to subscriber
feedback during the year,
fortnightly e-newsletters were
sent to enable cost effective
communication with this
audience and the database was
segmented and analysed to
provide a better understanding
of the needs of Park users.
Website Development
The Authority’s website
plays an integral role in
encouraging visitors to come
to the Park and over 937,000
web visits were recorded in
2005–06, a 25% increase on
web visits in 2004–05.

Website enhancements and
additions in 2005–06 included:
•

•

•
•

•

Launch of a new sports
portal on the Sydney
Olympic Park website

Upgrading of the property,
education, business events
and tourism sections
Development of an
interactive map

Development of a standalone website to support
Brighter Future’s Solar
Cities bid process

Development of a standalone website to support
the new Monster Skate Park.

Freestyle BMX riding on the vert
ramp at Monster Skate Park
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Cycling at the Park

Each year an increasing number
of cyclists are using the Park
with an estimated 571,000
cyclists visiting the precinct in
2005–06, up 28% compared
with 2004–05. The Authority
continued to promote Sydney
Olympic Park as Sydney’s
premier cycling destination,
upgrading and adding to its
cycle pathways and supporting
a range of cycling activities
and events for cyclists of all
ages and ﬁtness levels.
Initiatives included:
•

•

Bike hire services Bikes
for hire now include
mountain and children’s
bikes, dragsters, choppers,
tandems and trikes and they
were available for hire seven
days a week during school
holidays at the Sydney
Olympic Park Visitor Centre
and Bicentennial Park
Bike Safaris and self guided
cycling tours A revised
cycling map assists visitors
to navigate the Park, and
cyclists can choose one of
three colour coded circuits
to suit their interests and
needs: Olympic Circuit,
Parklands Circuit, River
Heritage Circuit. Audio
commentary on the Park’s
history, achievements and
future plans is also for hire

.• Cycling clinics As part of
the Kids in the Park cycling
program, World Masters’
gold and silver medallist,
Tanya Bosch, conducted
cycling clinics followed by
a ride through the Park
•

2005 Festival of Cycling
For more information
about the event see ‘Sports
Development’ in Chapter 1,
Making Sydney Olympic Park.

The Business Events team
also coordinated cooperative
advertising to promote
Park venues, initiated more
than six targeted domestic
marketing campaigns, and
managed more than three
major international bids.
Highlights for 2005–06
included:
•

Business Events

In 2005–06, the Business
Events unit managed more
than 1,295 leads via its one
stop shop service, up 45% on
2004–05. Converted business
for Park venues was valued
at more than $4.1 million
compared to $3.7 million in
the previous year, up 11%. Two
major bids secured were valued
at more than $2.3 million.
Altogether, 1,476 business
events were held at the Park
and the Authority worked
closely with Sydney Olympic
Park venues to attract domestic
conferences, meetings,
exhibitions, special events,
international incentives and
conventions. This included
coordinating participation
at two major trade shows,
Sydney On Sale and the
Asia-Paciﬁc Incentives and
Meetings Expo (AIME). Buyers
from both shows attended a
showcase of Park venues.

•

•

•

Securing two major future
events: World Youth Day
2008 (300,000 participants)
and the International
Conference for Women
in Sport 2010 (800
international delegates)
Launch of more than
25 team building programs
to the corporate market in
June 2006 that will raise up
to $15,000 in commission
Inspiration 2005, which
was held in October
2005 in partnership
with Novotel and Acer
Arena and attracted
300 corporate buyers

Creation of a new sales
unit on the Business
Events model to streamline
site hire, education and
tourism sales. The new
unit will enable staff to
drive revenue and improve
customer service.

571,267
444,580
374,483

2003–04

2004–05

Annual number of cyclists at Sydney Olympic Park from 2003–04 to 2005–06

20 | Promoting the Park

2005–06

In 2005–06 the Authority
achieved 15% growth in student
participation in its education
programs as a result of
strategic promotion to teachers
and schools. Across four
terms, approximately 23,000
students participated in Park
programs, with the majority
coming from years 7–12.
School education promotional
materials were mailed
to Government, Catholic
and independent schools
in NSW and the ACT and
advertisements were placed in
leading education publications.
The Education and Learning
section of the website was also
enhanced to enable teachers
to select programs to best
match their students’ needs.
School Sports
During 2005–06, approximately
320,000 school students
participated in sports at Sydney
Olympic Park venues including
swimming and athletics
carnivals and team sports.
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Tourism

Sydney Olympic Park
collaborated with industry
partners such as Tourism
New South Wales, the Sydney
Convention and Visitors Bureau
and on-site venues to stimulate
future growth opportunities in
leisure and business tourism.
Other activities included:
•

•

•

•

Hosting over 42 interstate
and international VIP
delegations and technical
visitors including from
China, India, Hong Kong,
Thailand, Germany,
Canada, Holland and
the United Kingdom

Assisting with the ongoing
promotion of Telstra
Stadium Explore – a new
interactive tour product
Completing a three
year strategic plan for
leisure tourism

Attending ATE and ATEC
symposium – the major
tourism trade events
held in Australia.

Sponsorship

Implementation of the Sydney
Olympic Park Sponsorship
Strategy and Action Plan has
resulted in an increase in key
sponsors for Park programs
and events and produced
sponsorship revenue in
excess of $192,000 and value
in-kind sponsorship of over
$282,000 in its ﬁrst year.

Media and Public Relations
During 2005–06, there were 13
media launches and the Park
received extensive positive
media coverage with more
than 3,500 local, national
and international ‘media
hits’. Media articles ranged
from event speciﬁc public
relations campaigns through
to reporting on the progress
made at the Park since the
Sydney 2000 Olympic Games.

Promoting the Park

School Education Programs

Property Development Publicity
In response to growing interest
and activity in property
development at the Park, a new
publication titled ‘Development
News’ was sent to key property
stakeholders and potential
investors to update them on
property related activity. As a
result, a new property industry
database has been established
and a program of industry
seminars and site tours are
scheduled for 2006–07.

5.5 million

6.1 million*

6.6 million

7.7 million

2002

2003

2004

2005
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Total annual visitors at Sydney Olympic Park from 2002 to 2005 (calendar years)
* excludes visitors for Rugby World Cup
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Collaboration with
Community, Industry
and Government

The Authority maintains close
working relationships with
surrounding communities,
the parks industry and
local councils. During
2005–06, the Authority:
•

•

Maintained membership
of, and played an active
role in, the Healthy Parks,
Healthy People initiative
of the Sydney Urban Parks
Education and Research
Group to encourage
greater participation and
visitation to Sydney’s
public parks and gardens

Met regularly with the
Newington Residents
Precinct Committee to
consult with local residents
on a range of issues

•

•

Worked closely with both
Auburn and Parramatta local
councils to develop mutual
objectives and to support
greater collaboration
on development plans
to enhance current
infrastructure and amenities
Participated as a major
event sponsor of the
Western Sydney Business
Connection; sponsored
and judged the Auburn
Council 2005 Auburn
Local Business Awards;
participated in the Western
Sydney Business Awards as
a joint gold sponsor of the
Excellence in Innovation
award category with
Parramatta City Council.

The Authority is a member of
the Parramatta Chamber of
Commerce and the CEO, Brian
Newman, is also on the Boards
of the Greater Western Sydney
Economic Development Board
and the Sydney Convention and
Visitors Bureau. The Authority is
a member of the International
Federation of Parks and
Recreation Administration
and the Authority’s Executive
Director Place Management,
Mr David Young, sits on the
Board of the Parks Forum Ltd,
an industry based best practice
park management organisation.

Visitors enjoy a picnic at Bicentennial Park
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In order to effectively promote
the Park and continually
improve its performance the
Authority conducts annual
customer research to better
understand the needs of
its customers. This research
includes an annual Consumer
Benchmark survey, a new
Business to Business Brand
Health survey, a Parklands User
survey and ongoing Customer
Satisfaction surveys. In addition,
in 2005–06 a survey of the
Sydney Olympic Park workforce
was conducted to gain a better
understanding of the transport
needs of the Park’s current daily
worker and student population.
This year the Park’s Consumer
Benchmark survey was
conducted online for the ﬁrst
time. Its key ﬁndings included:
•

•

•

79% of Sydneysiders
surveyed visited the
Park at least once in
2005–06 (73% in 2005)

76% of Greater Sydney
residents surveyed
visited at least once in
2005–06 (70% in 2005)

The Park was strongly
associated with good
accessibility and a diversity
of entertainment events.

Results from the 2006 annual
Consumer Benchmark survey
showed that public perceptions
of Sydney Olympic Park in
2006 compared with 2005
continue to increase across key
dimensions including the Park’s
reputation for being a worldclass recreation, entertainment
and sporting location,
environmental excellence, easy
accessibility and a great place
to go with friends and family.

Future Directions

The ongoing promotion of
Sydney Olympic Park is integral
to increasing annual visitation,
communicating the evolution
of Sydney Olympic Park from
its Olympic state to a vibrant
new town, and maintaining
the Park’s reputation as a
premier destination for key
sporting, entertainment and
community events and leisure
pursuits. Increased visitation
will be achieved by adding to
the activities and events on
offer at the Park and effectively
promoting major sports events,
sports participation, school
education programs, the
annual calendar of events, new
property development activities,
and the Park’s new facilities for
artists, cycling and action sports.

In 2006–07 the Authority
will further develop its ‘onestop-shop’ concept to improve
efﬁciency and customer service
and drive visitation and revenue.
Plans include streamlined
booking procedures for site hire,
business events, education and
tourism bookings and cross
selling of programs. A price
review of site hire is also being
planned and training programs
are in place to facilitate the
changes which aim to increase
revenue from site hire and
education, and produce savings
due to cooperative marketing.

Promoting the Park

Customer Service, Research
and Brand Development

Visitors enjoying Music by Moonlight
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Sydney Olympic Park aims to protect, conserve and improve its natural
and built environment and is creating a sustainable town through the
development of environmental programs and a green economy.

Sydney Olympic Park Authority’s commitment
to sustainability is underpinned by its legislative
and corporate charter. The Sydney Olympic
Park Authority Act 2001 places a high value on
the Authority’s commitment to the principles
of ecologically sustainable development and
deﬁnes its environmental obligations.

Community Volunteers Contribute
to Annual Ecological Monitoring
Programs at Sydney Olympic Park

More than 50 skilled volunteers gave more
than 1,000 hours of their time to participate
in ecological monitoring programs during
spring and summer 2005–06. These surveys
are conducted annually with the support of
local clubs and the data collected is analysed
with that from other monitoring programs.

Annual Bird Census

Members of the Cumberland Bird Observers
Club surveyed 49 sites across the Park weekly for
eight weeks. This annual bird census recorded
a total of 16,580 birds and 111 bird species.
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Frog Calling Survey

Members of the Frog and Tadpole Study Group
conducted two auditory surveys of 60 habitat
ponds, identifying numbers and species of male
frogs calling at each location. The surveys showed
continued strong distribution and numbers of the
Green and Golden Bell Frog and other frog species.

Baseline Reptile Survey

Members of the Australian Herpetological Society
have surveyed sites in each parklands precinct
to identify and document the reptile fauna of
Sydney Olympic Park for the ﬁrst time since its
remediation. Surveys recorded the distribution of
ﬁve species of lizard and one species of turtle.
Sydney Olympic Park values immensely the
support given by these groups and their members.

Review of Environmental
Guidelines

The Sydney Olympic Park
Authority Act 2001 is supported
by a set of Environmental
Guidelines which inform the
Park’s environmental programs.
The guidelines were an integral
part of Sydney’s bid to host
the Sydney 2000 Olympic
Games and are currently being
revised by the Authority.
A working group which
includes representatives from
government, environmental
groups, business, health and
community organisations has
been convened to oversee and
inform the review. The revised
Environmental Guidelines
will be released for public
consultation in late 2006.

Sustainable Development

The ﬁnal draft of the Sydney
Olympic Park Master Plan 2025
is due for completion in late
2006 and will guide its future
development. In developing
Sydney Olympic Park, the
Authority has deﬁned a new
benchmark for sustainable
urban design which builds
on its existing sustainable
development requirements.
At present the Authority
requires that:
•

•

•

All new developments
connect to the Park’s
innovative Water
Reclamation and
Management Scheme
(WRAMS)

All new commercial
developments achieve a
minimum 4.5 stars energy
efﬁciency rating under the
Australian Greenhouse
Building Rating Scheme

All new residential
developments achieve 4.5
stars under the Nationwide
Home Energy Rating
System (NatHERS)

•

All new commercial
developments achieve
at least a 4 Green Star
rating under the Green
Building Council of
Australia environmental
rating system.

In addition, new developments
must prioritise the selection
and use of sustainable
materials, adopt best practice
waste management practices,
and integrate environmental
management during the
design, construction and
operational stages of a building.

Environmental
Performance

Under its Sustainability
Strategy the Authority reports
on four key environmental
performance areas. They
are Biodiversity, Resource
Conservation, Involving
People and Site Impacts.
Biodiversity
Sydney Olympic Park supports
a microcosm of ecological
communities, native plants
and animals that were once
widespread in Sydney but are
now quite rare in urban areas.
The Authority implements
an active management
program to conserve and
enhance biodiversity
generally and species and
communities of special
conservation signiﬁcance.
During 2005–06:
•

•

Active management of
signiﬁcant habitats was
undertaken to maintain
and enhance their
conservation values

Monitoring showed that
the Park’s population of
the endangered Green and
Golden Bell Frog remained
strong and relatively
stable. Adult and juvenile
frogs were recorded in
all areas classiﬁed as a
primary frog habitat

The WRAMS water recycling building
at Sydney Olympic Park
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•

•

A study of the Park’s
microbat populations
identiﬁed six microbat
species from survey sites at
Newington Nature Reserve,
the Brickpit and Badu
Mangroves and conﬁrmed
that the White-striped Freetailed Bat (Tadarida australis)
and the Lesser Long-eared
Bat (Nyctophilus geoffroyi)
are breeding at the Park.
This is the only known
maternity roost of Tanarida
australis in the Sydney area,
and the only known colony
using a building rather
than tree hollows or caves.
A building management
plan is being prepared
for buildings utilised or
likely to be utilised as
roost sites by microbats

A baseline study of the
species and distribution of
wetland plants across the
site was completed and will
form the basis of future
wetland management plans.

Mosquito Management
The Authority’s program
of mosquito management
for Sydney Olympic Park
continued under the direction
of the Department of Medical
Entomology and included
ongoing monitoring of the
mosquito population during
the warmer months.
On four occasions aerial and
ground treatments were
required in the Newington
Nature Reserve and Bicentennial
Park using a larvicide Bacillus
thuringiensis var. israelensis.
The larvicide restricts the
development of mosquito
larvae into adults and was
successful in reducing larval
densities (by more than
70%) and the impacts of
mosquitoes in the area.

Resource Conservation
Sydney Olympic Park is
committed to using best
practice environmental design
principles, technology and
management practices in
all new developments and
activities within the Park.
Water Management
The Water Reclamation and
Management Scheme (WRAMS)
at Sydney Olympic Park collects
sewage and stormwater which
is treated to a high standard
using advanced biological and
ﬁltration technologies. The
recycled water is used for non
drinking water purposes such
as irrigation and toilet ﬂushing
on site by the Newington
residents, the Authority, local
businesses and venues. As
well as WRAMS water, the
Authority harvests stormwater
from freshwater wetlands to
irrigate much of the parklands.

Total 835
57

365

Total 600

Potable Water

Total 608
9

22

Harvested Stormwater
WRAMS Water

412

388

413
200

2003–04

Water usage by the Authority 2003–04 to 2005–06
Figures in Megalitres
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2004–05

187

2005–06

In January 2005 the Authority
received a $600,000 subsidy
from Sydney Water under the
‘Every Drop Counts’ water
conservation program which
aims to promote sustainable
improvements in water
efﬁciency and reduce drinking
water consumption. The subsidy
will partially fund a $1 million
upgrade to the WRAMS plant to
enable additional customers to
connect to the recycled water
supply network.

Energy and Transport
The considerable investment in
public transport infrastructure
at the Park signiﬁcantly reduces
the environmental impact of
hosting major events through
reductions in private vehicle use
and the resultant reduction in
greenhouse gas emissions and
air pollution. During 2005–06,
eight major sporting and
cultural events including the
Sydney Royal Easter Show were
held at Sydney Olympic Park. Of
the 1.35 million visitors to these
events, 71% commuted to and
from the site by public transport
(trains and buses) and 3%
travelled by private bus/coach.
Energy Use
Energy consumption at the
Park has dropped from
10,478 MWh in 2003–04
to 9,426 MWh last year,
a reduction of 10% over
the three year period.
Green power purchased by
the Authority in 2005–06 has
resulted in the reduction of
1,756 tonnes of green house
gas emissions – the equivalent
to taking 390 vehicles off
Sydney’s roads for one year.

Involving People
In 2005–06 more than 7.7
million people visited the
Park to enjoy its 425 hectare
parklands. In addition,
6,000 workers and the local
community make regular
use of its world-class leisure
facilities on a daily basis.
Cultural Heritage
During 2005–06 the
Newington Armory’s
moveable heritage register
and database were completed
and 1,200 Royal Australian
Navy items were catalogued,
tagged and photographed.
The Authority has adopted the
NSW Government’s Policy on
‘Recognising Aboriginal Cultural
Protocols and Practices’ which
acknowledges that Aboriginal
people are the original owners
of the land. This requires
the Authority to observe
appropriate protocols at ofﬁcial
events or events where the NSW
Government is a major sponsor.

State of the Environment

Since the WRAMS Plant
commenced operation in
2000, over 3,700 million litres
of drinking water has been
saved, the equivalent to that
used by 12,000 Sydney homes
in one year. The consumption
of potable water from Sydney
Water has declined from
57 megalitres in 2003–04
to 9 megalitres this year.

77,557.2
7,55
7.
Electricity Consumption (MWh)

10,478

CO2 Produced (Tonnes)

7,142.7

9,903

6,727.4

2003–04

2004–05

9,426

2005–06

Energy consumption and CO2 production at the Park from 2003–04 to 2005–06
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WET Program
Three Wetlands Education
and Training (WET) workshops
were held during the year and
attracted 121 environmental
professionals who have an
interest in or are responsible for
the management of wetlands.
The Authority also established
a WET Advisory Panel
consisting of environmental
professionals from academia
and industry to advise on
future training programs.
National Wetland Training
Capability Project
In 2005 the Authority was
part of a consortium that
secured a National Heritage
Trust grant of $710,000 to
develop a national wetland
training program aimed at
natural resource management
and resource bodies and their
stakeholders including Landcare
Groups, local governments
and private landholders. The
consortium was headed by
The Wetlands Centre Australia
and also included Banrock
Station Wine and Wetlands
Centre in South Australia
and Regional Ecosystem
Services (based in Canberra).
Contractor Liaison and Training
More than 120 contractors
participated in ecology
induction training in
2005–06. This training is
provided to those working
in environmentally sensitive
areas and is followed up
with onsite meetings and
discussions, regular newsletters,
audits and inspections.
Site Impacts
All new developments and
activities in the Park are
required to minimise any
negative impacts on Sydney’s
air quality, noise, water quality

and use, and light. This includes
minimising the use of ozone
depleting or high greenhouse
gas producing products and
prioritising public transport
use and the collection and
recycling of stormwater.
Air Quality
The NSW Department of
Environment and Conservation
has air quality monitoring
stations located throughout
the Sydney region. The nearest
monitoring station to Sydney
Olympic Park is at Chullora
which is about three kilometres
northwest of the site and is
part of the Eastern Sydney Air
Quality Region (see table below).
Noise
During 2005–06 the Authority
commissioned acoustic
engineers to prepare noise
models and assess the impact
of event and trafﬁc related
noise on future developments
in the Park. This information
is guiding the development of
Master Plan 2025 which aims
to minimise potential noise
impacts on future commercial
and residential landuses.

Leachate Generation
Leachate is produced in
remediated landﬁll areas when
groundwater passes through
the underlying landﬁll material.
At the Park this leachate is
captured through a series of
underground drainage pipes
before being pumped and
treated. In 2005–06 the volume
of leachate generated has
continued to decline and this
trend is attributed to ongoing
improved management and
operations in the Park.
Waste Management
Our Waste Reduction and
Purchasing Policy (WRAPP)
aims to minimise waste from
all new developments and
activities and maximise the
use of recycled materials.
Landscaping
Four hundred tonnes of
vegetation waste were
generated and 275 tonnes
(69%) of this was chipped and
recycled onsite. The remaining
21%, which contained noxious
weed seeds and propagules,
could not be recycled.

Current actions to reduce
noise emissions from site
activities include monitoring at
residential boundaries during
open air concerts to ensure
noise levels are acceptable
and the inclusion of noise
limits and time restrictions
in development consents
to reduce noise emissions
from construction sites.

Construction and
Demolition Waste
The major building activity on
site is the construction of the
ﬁrst of the Commonwealth
Bank buildings by Grant
Constructions. From February
to June 2006, 828 tonnes of
construction and demolition
waste was generated and
705 tonnes (85%) of this
material was recycled.

Management of Remediated
Landﬁll Areas
Remediated sites at Sydney
Olympic Park continue to
be maintained, monitored
and managed to protect
human health and the
surrounding environment.

Ofﬁces
Twenty–two tonnes of
paper and cardboard were
recycled and 249 used toner
cartridges were purchased
by a toner recycling
company – the proceeds
were donated to charity.

Number of Low, Medium and High Air Pollution Days for Eastern Sydney Air Quality Region

Low

Medium

High

2004–05

266

88

3

2005–06

250

108

7

Generally, air pollution for the region was slightly worse in 2005–06 compared to 2004–05
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Environmental Compliance
Environment Protection
Licences
The Authority holds two
Environment Protection
Licences issued under the
Protection of the Environment
Operations Act 1997 for the
operation of WRAMS and the
Wilson Park bioremediation
ponds. There were no instances
of non-compliance with
these Environment Protection
Licences during 2005–06.
Environmental Incidences
Two noxious aquatic weeds,
Salvinia (Salvinia molesta) and
Alligator Weed (Alternanthera
phlixeriodes), were identiﬁed
within the Park and were
the subject of intensive
management programs.
The Authority advised the
Department of Agriculture of
the presence of these weeds
and the management action
taken, as is required under the
Noxious Weeds Act 1993.

Noise Complaints
The Authority received one
noise complaint related to a
late night dance party held at
the Sports Centre on 23 October
2005. The venue operators have
since held all dance parties in
an area of the building with
better noise insulation.
Seven noise complaints were
received related to the three day
The Great Escape music festival
held over the Easter 2006 long
weekend at Newington Armory.
The event was continuously
monitored for noise emissions
and the measured noise
levels generally complied
with acceptable residential
noise criteria. Ampliﬁed sound
levels were reduced where
this criteria was exceeded.

Future Directions
Sydney Olympic Park is
currently reviewing its
Environmental Guidelines
which will complement the
Sydney Olympic Park Master
Plan 2025 and drive the Park’s
Sustainability Strategy for
the foreseeable future.
From 2006–07, the
Authority is planning to:
•

•

Parklands Plan of
Management

The Parklands Plan of
Management is the
predominant statutory
instrument controlling the use,
development and management
of the parklands. It was
adopted in January 2003.
For details of enhancements
made to the parklands in
2005–06 see ‘Parklands and
Open Space Development’
in Chapter 1, Making
Sydney Olympic Park.

•

•

Explore the potential
expansion of WRAMS
into neighbouring
development areas and
will review options for
funding and partnerships
to implement this

Investigate the use of
alternative solid waste
disposal services to improve
waste recycling rates so that
up to 80% of all solid waste
generated by the Authority
and visitors to the Park can
be diverted from landﬁll
Develop a Biodiversity
Management Plan to
guide conservation of the
Park’s ecological assets
including habitat of the
Green and Golden Bell
Frogs, microbats, Coastal
Saltmarsh, mangroves and
migratory shore birds

State of the Environment

Public Areas
Five hundred and ninetytwo tonnes of waste were
collected from public areas
in the Park and 14.7% of
this was recycled. Most of
the recyclable material was
lightweight packaging material
such as plastic bottles and
aluminium drink containers.

Require all new commercial
developments at the Park
to achieve a minimum 5
Green Star rating under the
Green Building Council of
Australia environmental
rating system.

Annual volume of leachate generated at Sydney Olympic Park
and annual rainfall measured between 2001–02 and 2005–06

Leachate Treated (KL)
Rainfall (mm)
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Return on Investment

05

Sydney Olympic Park Authority continues to generate economic activity
and returns for the NSW Government and for the people of NSW.

A key ﬁnancial indicator for the Authority
over time is the level of operating funding
provided by NSW Treasury. The recurrent
appropriation from Treasury for 2005–06 was
$37.03 million ($38.33 million in 2004–05).

Generating Returns on
Government Investment

•

In addition to contributing to 40% of its
annual operating cash expenses (excluding
depreciation) during 2005–06 through
revenue from operations, the Authority has
paid $19.02 million to NSW Treasury from
proceeds of land sales during the year.

Increasing visitation to the Park to
10 million by 2010 which will contribute
signiﬁcant economic and social returns
to NSW and revenue to the Authority

•

Playing a vital role in hosting iconic
sporting and entertainment events and
attracting major national and international
events to be held at the Park

Sydney Olympic Park Authority is generating
returns on Government investment through:

•

Generating increased revenue to reduce the cost
to Government of maintaining the precinct.

•

30 | Return on Investment

Economic development – contributing
approximately $200 million in proceeds from
land development and around $2 billion
from private sector investment by 2015

View of the Ring Walk from the Brickpit ﬂoor
Photography by Kraig Carlstrom

Financial Returns to Reduce
Costs to Government
The NSW Government’s
contribution to operating and
capital expenditure at Sydney
Olympic Park has more than
halved between 2002–03
and 2005–06. Although the
majority of funding still comes
from the NSW Government,
the Authority is contributing
an increasing proportion
towards its annual expenses
from self-generated revenue.
Since 2003, the total ﬁnancial
contribution from Government
including operating and capital
expenditure and less proceeds
from property sales has reduced
to approximately $30 million.
Total Expenses
Sydney Olympic Park
Authority has reduced its
total expenditure from $112
million in 2003 to $103 million
inclusive of depreciation.
Current expenditure covers:
•

•

Sydney Olympic Park
operations including
maintenance of the
parklands and parklands
education programs

Funding the operation
of Government owned
sports venues including the
Aquatic and Athletic Centres,
Hockey Centre and indoor
Sports Centre and Halls

•

•

•

•

•

Property and asset
management including
maintenance of pavements,
heritage buildings,
community facility buildings,
public spaces, roads,
landscape maintenance,
lighting and public art
Event management and
support including event
security and safety

Environmental services
including recycled water,
leachate treatment of
remediated land and
environmental monitoring
Promotion of business
events, leisure tourism
and the Sydney
Olympic Park brand

Urban design and town
planning including building
approvals, transport
and trafﬁc planning.

It should be noted that
depreciation accounts for over
one third of total expenses
and the Authority continues
to review assumptions of the
estimated useful life of assets
to ensure that the depreciation
expense is indicative of asset
servicing proﬁles. The Authority
has a detailed management
plan to assist plans for future
asset replacement and renewal.

$70 million

$34 million

2003

2004

$31 million

$30 million

2005

2006

$104 million

$103 million

2005

2006

Total NSW Government contributions to Sydney Olympic Park
from 2003 to 2006.
$112 million

$108 million

2003

2004

Total expenses at Sydney Olympic Park from 2003 to 2006.
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Return on Investment

In 2005–06, the Authority
invested $12.6 million of
Treasury funding for capital
works including improvements
to the 425 hectare parklands
and additional landscaping
and park facilities. As a result,
visitors, artists and workers at
the Park are able to enjoy award
winning amenities such as
the Brickpit Ring Walk, newly
opened parklands, Newington
Armory artists’ studios, and
world-class cycling and action
sports facilities. Record numbers
of people are visiting the
parklands for health, recreation,
leisure and tourism and the
precinct has also attracted the
attention of major corporations
such as the Commonwealth
Bank of Australia.

Commercial Leases
and Contracts

Leases
Sydney Olympic Park Authority
generated $8.3 million in
rental and recurrent lease
related income. This included
revenue from tenants
and venues, namely:
•

Telstra Stadium

•

Accor Hotels

•
•
•
•

Acer Arena

Royal Agricultural Society

Sydney Olympic Park
Tennis Centre
Sydney Olympic
Park Golf Centre

•
•
•
•
•
•

Future Directions

Australian Paralympic
Committee

Sport Knowledge Australia

Various arts and
community associations
Various commercial
property groups

Australian Ramp Design

Venues of Australia
Properties. (Homebush
Bay) Pty ltd

Land Acquisitions
The Authority gave its
consent as Head Lessee to
over $20 million of land lease
acquisitions in the Australia
Centre during the year.
Ofﬁce Accommodation
The Authority rationalised
its ofﬁce and support
accommodation towards
the end of the ﬁnancial
year. The Authority did not
renew its lease on 6 Herb
Elliott Avenue and saved over
$500,000 in rental costs.

In 2006–07, we will contribute
further to the self-funding
of operations by focusing
on increased revenue from
property rents and commercial
hiring, estate levies, sponsorship
arrangements and car
parking. During the next
decade, it is anticipated that
an estimated $200 million in
proceeds will be generated
from land sales with further
distributions paid to Treasury
and investment allocated to
income producing assets.
In driving our income
sources harder and targeting
incremental reductions in
Treasury funding, the Authority
aims to demonstrate longterm improvement in business
performance and sustainability.

Car Parking
Increased visitation to Sydney
Olympic Park has resulted in
increased revenue from car
parking, which continues to be
major source of revenue despite
increasing numbers of visitors
using public transport to get to
and from the Park. More than 1.3
million vehicles parked onsite in
2005–06 and parking revenue
peaked at $9.1 million (up 11%
from $8.2 million in 2004–05).
$9.1 millon
2006

$8.2 millon
2005

$7.9 millon
$5.2 millon
$4.4 millon

2004

2003

2002

Car parking revenue at Sydney Olympic Park from 2002 to 2006
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Sydney Olympic Park Authority, 7 Figtree Drive, Sydney Olympic Park NSW 2127

SYDNEY OLYMPIC PARK AUTHORITY

Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2006

Pursuant to Section 41C(1B) and (1C) of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983, we declare that
in our opinion:
1.

The accompanying ﬁnancial statements exhibit a true and fair view of the Authority’s
ﬁnancial position as at 30 June 2006 and transactions for the year then ended.

2. The statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Public
Finance and Audit Act 1983, the Public Finance and Audit (General) Regulation, the
Treasurer’s Direction and the directives of the Financial Reporting Code.
Further, we are not aware of any circumstances which would render any particulars
included in the ﬁnancial statements to be misleading or inaccurate.

D Richmond AO

B Newman

Chairman

Chief Executive Ofﬁcer

3 October 2006

Tel +61 2 9714 7300 Fax +61 2 9714 7818 www.sydneyolympicpark.nsw.gov.au ABN 68 010 941 405
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INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT

GPO BOX 12
Sydney NSW 2001

Sydney Olympic Park Authority
To Members of the New South Wales Parliament

Audit Opinion

In my opinion, the ﬁnancial report of the Sydney Olympic Park Authority (the Authority):
•

presents fairly the Authority’s ﬁnancial position as at 30 June 2006 and its performance for the year ended on that date,
in accordance with Accounting Standards and other mandatory ﬁnancial reporting requirements in Australia, and

•

complies with section 41B of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 (the Act) and the Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2005.

My opinion should be read in conjunction with the rest of this report.

Scope
The Financial Report and Board’s Responsibility

The ﬁnancial report comprises the balance sheet, income statement, statement of changes in equity, cash ﬂow
statement and accompanying notes to the ﬁnancial statements for the Authority, for the year ended 30 June 2006.
The members of the Board of the Authority are responsible for the preparation and true and fair presentation of the ﬁnancial report
in accordance with the Act. This includes responsibility for the maintenance of adequate accounting records and internal controls
that are designed to prevent and detect fraud and error, and for the accounting policies and accounting estimates inherent in the
ﬁnancial report.

Audit Approach

I conducted an independent audit in order to express an opinion on the ﬁnancial report. My audit provides reasonable
assurance to Members of the New South Wales Parliament that the ﬁnancial report is free of material misstatement.
My audit accorded with Australian Auditing Standards and statutory requirements, and I:
•

assessed the appropriateness of the accounting policies and disclosures used and the reasonableness
of signiﬁcant accounting estimates made by the Board in preparing the ﬁnancial report, and

•

examined a sample of evidence that supports the amounts and disclosures in the ﬁnancial report.

An audit does not guarantee that every amount and disclosure in the ﬁnancial report is error free. The terms ‘reasonable
assurance’ and ‘material’ recognise that an audit does not examine all evidence and transactions. However, the
audit procedures used should identify errors or omissions signiﬁcant enough to adversely affect decisions made by
users of the ﬁnancial report or indicate that the Board members had not fulﬁlled their reporting obligations.
My opinion does not provide assurance:
•

about the future viability of the Authority,

•

that it has carried out its activities effectively, efﬁciently and economically,

•

about the effectiveness of its internal controls, or

•

on the assumptions used in formulating the budget ﬁgures disclosed in the ﬁnancial report.

Audit Independence

The Audit Ofﬁce complies with all applicable independence requirements of Australian
professional ethical pronouncements. The Act further promotes independence by:
•

providing that only Parliament, and not the executive government, can remove an Auditor-General, and

•

mandating the Auditor-General as auditor of public sector agencies but precluding the provision of non-audit services, thus
ensuring the Auditor General and the Audit Ofﬁce are not compromised in their role by the possibility of losing clients or income.

P J Boulous CA

Director, Financial Audit Services
SYDNEY
17 October 2006
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Operating Statement
for the year ending 30 June 2006

CONSOLIDATED

AUTHORITY

Actual
2006
$’000

Budget
2006
$’000

Actual
2005
$’000

Actual
2006
$’000

Actual
2005
$’000

2(a)
2(b)
2(c)
2(d)
2(e)

13,532
799
42,394
41,295
4,947
0
102,967

15,284
0
40,813
31,073
2,990
474
90,634

14,457
412
44,053
41,477
3,640
0
104,039

0
14,244
42,389
41,295
5,122
0
103,050

0
14,869
44,053
41,477
3,640
0
104,039

3(a)
3(b)
3(c)
3(d)
3(e)

14,216
8,817
557
2,848
3,174
29,612

13,088
7,343
300
957
2,394
24,082

13,361
9,386
347
421
5,714
29,229

14,216
8,816
557
1,433
3,766
28,788

13,361
9,386
347
421
7,472
30,987

4
5
25

2,733
21,108
49,514

2,867
8,026
55,659

3,120
19,399
52,291

2,733
21,108
50,421

3,120
19,399
50,533

37,027
12,611
(19,020)

37,027
12,611
(19,020)

36,265
11,839
(19,040)

37,027
12,611
(19,020)

36,265
11,839
(19,040)

7

590
31,208

765
31,383

1,758
30,822

0
30,618

0
29,064

21

(18,306)

(24,276)

(21,469)

(19,803)

(21,469)

Notes

Expenses Excluding Losses

Operating expenses
Employee related
Personnel services
Other operating expenses
Depreciation and amortisation
Grants and subsidies
Finance costs
Total Expenses Excluding Losses
Less:
Revenue
Sale of goods and services
Investment revenue
Retained taxes, fees and ﬁnes
Grants and contributions
Other revenue
Total Revenue
Gain/(loss) on Disposal
Other Gains/(losses)
Net Cost of Services
Government Contributions
Recurrent appropriation
Capital appropriation
(Asset sale proceeds transferred to the Crown Entity)
Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee
beneﬁts and other liabilities
Total Government Contributions
SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR
FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES
The accompanying notes form part of these statements.
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Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ending 30 June 2006

CONSOLIDATED

Net increase/(decrease) in asset revaluation reserve

Notes

Actual
2006
$’000

Budget
2006
$’000

Actual
2005
$’000

Actual
2006
$’000

Actual
2005
$’000

21

0

0

34,306

0

34,306

0

0

34,306

0

34,306

TOTAL INCOME AND EXPENSE RECOGNISED
DIRECTLY IN EQUITY
Surplus/(deﬁcit) for the year

21

TOTAL INCOME AND EXPENSE
RECOGNISED FOR THE YEAR
EFFECT OF CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND CORRECTION OF ERRORS
Accumulated funds
Reserves

AUTHORITY

21
21

(18,306)

(24,276)

(21,469)

(19,803)

(21,469)

(18,306)

(24,276)

12,837

(19,803)

12,837

0
0
0
(18,306)

0
0
0
(24,276)

(636,521)
(11,726)
(648,247)
(635,410)

0
0
0
(19,803)

(636,521)
(11,726)
(648,247)
(635,410)

The accompanying notes form part of these statements.
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Balance Sheet
as at 30 June 2006

CONSOLIDATED

AUTHORITY

Actual
2006
$’000

Budget
2006
$’000

Actual
2005
$’000

Actual
2006
$’000

Actual
2005
$’000

9
10(a)
11(a)
16(a)

33,573
23,781
143
6,781
64,278

29,731
20,729
107
6,781
57,348

31,763
20,061
107
6,781
58,712

32,082
23,772
143
6,781
62,778

31,763
20,061
107
6,781
58,712

10(b)
11(b)
16(a)
12

18,000
15,529
159,942
0

18,000
15,600
166,723
0

35,049
15,100
166,723
0

18,000
15,529
159,942
0

35,049
15,100
166,723
0

756,787
45,118
370,073
1,171,978
21,987
637
125,146
1,513,219

763,031
42,110
383,628
1,188,769
21,425
988
112,614
1,524,119

754,387
47,329
392,108
1,193,824
21,425
988
104,588
1,537,697

756,787
45,118
370,073
1,171,978
21,987
637
125,146
1,513,219

754,387
47,329
392,108
1,193,824
21,425
988
104,588
1,537,697

1,577,497

1,581,467

1,596,409

1,575,997

1,596,409

6,251
3,246
5,589
3,032
14,872

9,673
0
3,969
1,765
18,653

9,223
0
3,925
1,990
15,138

6,248
0
5,589
3,032
14,869

9,223
0
3,925
1,990
15,138

0
221
29,473
29,694

5,819
222
29,812
35,853

0
222
29,812
30,034

0
221
29,473
29,694

0
222
29,812
30,034

44,566

54,506

45,172

44,563

45,172

1,532,931

1,526,961

1,551,237

1,531,434

1,551,237

270,854
1,262,077
1,532,931

270,854
1,256,107
1,526,961

270,854
1,280,383
1,551,237

270,854
1,260,580
1,531,434

270,854
1,280,383
1,551,237

Notes

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Inventories
Prepayments
Total Current Assets
Non Current Assets
Receivables
Inventories
Prepayments
Other ﬁnancial assets
Property, plant and equipment
Land and buildings
Plant and equipment
Infrastructure systems
Total property, plant and equipment
Investment property
Investment in associates
Right to receive
Total Non Current Assets

13
14
15(b)
16(b)

Total Assets

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables
Borrowings
Provisions
Other
Total Current Liabilities
Non Current Liabilities
Borrowings
Provisions
Other
Total Non Current Liabilities

18
0
19
20(a)

19
20(b)

Total Liabilities
Net Assets

EQUITY

Reserves
Accumulated funds
Total Equity
The accompanying notes form part of these statements.
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Cash Flow Statement
for the year ending 30 June 2006

CONSOLIDATED

AUTHORITY

Actual
2006
$’000

Budget
2006
$’000

Actual
2005
$’000

Actual
2006
$’000

Actual
2005
$’000

(13,459)
(4,947)
0
(53,009)
(71,415)

(14,425)
(2,990)
(474)
(51,333)
(69,222)

(14,058)
(3,640)
0
(53,818)
(71,516)

0
(5,122)
0
(66,368)
(71,490)

0
(3,640)
0
(67,876)
(71,516)

17,015
557
1,845
18,203
37,620

17,583
300
879
15,652
34,414

17,800
347
1,646
22,319
42,112

17,015
557
1,844
16,788
36,204

17,800
347
1,646
22,319
42,112

6
6

37,027
12,611
(19,020)
0
30,618

37,027
12,611
(19,020)
0
30,618

36,265
11,839
(19,040)
874
29,938

37,027
12,611
(19,020)
0
30,618

36,265
11,839
(19,040)
874
29,938

25

(3,177)

(4,190)

4

(14,033)
19,020

(25,926)
19,020

(16,116)
19,040

(14,033)
19,020

(16,116)
19,040

4,987

(6,906)

2,924

4,987

2,924

Proceeds from borrowings and advances
Repayment of borrowings and advances
NET CASH FLOWS FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

0
0

10,000
(935)

0
0

0
0

0
0

0

9,065

0

0

0

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH
Opening cash and cash equivalents
CLOSING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

1,810
31,763
33,573

3,458
28,305
31,763

319
31,763
32,082

3,458
28,305
31,763

Notes

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employee related
Grants and subsidies
Finance costs
Other
Total Payments
Receipts
Sale of goods and services
Retained taxes, fees and ﬁnes
Interest received
Other
Total Receipts
Cash Flows From Government
Recurrent appropriation
Capital appropriation
Asset sale proceeds transferred to the Crown Entity
Cash reimbursements from the Crown Entity
Net Cash Flows From Government
NET CASH FLOWS FROM
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

534

(4,668)

534

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchases of land and buildings, plant
and equipment and infrastructure systems
Other
NET CASH FLOWS FROM
INVESTING ACTIVITIES

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

9

(2,031)
31,762
29,731

The accompanying notes form part of these statements.
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Summary of Compliance with
Financial Directives
for the year ending 30 June 2006

Supplementary Financial Statements
2006
Recurrent
Appropriation

$’000

ORIGINAL BUDGET
APPROPRIATION/
EXPENDITURE

2005

Expenditure
Capital
Net Claim on Appropriation
Consolidated
Fund

$’000

$’000

Expenditure
Recurrent
Net Claim on Appropriation
Consolidated
Fund

$’000

$’000

Expenditure
Capital
Net Claim on Appropriation
Consolidated
Fund

$’000

$’000

Expenditure
Net Claim on
Consolidated
Fund

$’000

Appropriation Act
Additional appropriations
Transfers

37,027
0
0

37,027
0
0

12,611
0
0

12,611
0
0

38,205
121
(2,061)

36,144
121
0

9,778
0
2,061

11,839
0
0

Total

37,027

37,027

12,611

12,611

36,265

36,265

11,839

11,839

Treasurer’s advance

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Total

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

37,027

37,027

12,611

12,611

36,265

36,265

11,839

11,839

OTHER APPROPRIATIONS/
EXPENDITURE

Total Appropriations/
Expenditure (includes
transfer payments)
Amount Drawn Down
Against Appropriation
Liability to Consolidated Fund

37,027

12,611

36,265

11,839

0

0

0

0

The Summary of Compliance is based on the assumption that Consolidated Fund moneys are spent ﬁrst (except where otherwise identiﬁed or prescribed).
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Notes to the Financial Statements
1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Reporting Entity
Sydney Olympic Park Authority
(the Authority) was established in
2001 and took over the previous
responsibilities of the Olympic
Co-ordination Authority (OCA).

The Authority, as a reporting entity,
comprises all the entities under
its control, including the Parklands
Foundation Limited and the Ofﬁce of
the Sydney Olympic Park Authority.
In the process of preparing the
consolidated ﬁnancial report for the
economic entity consisting of the
controlling and controlled entities,
all inter-entity transactions and
balances have been eliminated.
The Authority is a NSW Government
department. The reporting entity
is consolidated as part of the NSW
Total State Sector Accounts.
The Authority is a not-for-proﬁt entity
with no cash generating units.
These consolidated ﬁnancial statements
have been authorised for issue by the
Audit Committee on 3 October 2006.
(b) Basis of Preparation
The Authority’s ﬁnancial statements are
a general purpose ﬁnancial report which
has been prepared in accordance with:
•

applicable Australian Accounting
Standards, which include Australian
Equivalents to International Financial
Reporting Standards (AEIFRS)

•

the requirements of the Public
Finance and Audit Act and Regulation

•

the Financial Reporting Directions
published in the Financial Reporting
Code for Budget Dependent General
Government Sector Agencies or
issued by the Treasurer under
section 9(2)(n) of the Act.

Property, plant and equipment and
investment property are measured at
fair value. Other ﬁnancial statements
items are prepared in accordance
with the historical cost convention.

Judgements, key assumptions and
estimations made by management
are disclosed in the relevant
notes to the ﬁnancial report.
All amounts are rounded to the
nearest one thousand dollars and
expressed in Australian currency.
(c) Statement of Compliance
The consolidated and Authority
ﬁnancial statements and notes
comply with Australian Accounting
Standards, which include AEIFRS.
A statement of compliance with
International Accounting Standards
cannot be made due to the Authority
applying the not-for-proﬁt sector
requirements contained in AEIFRS.
This is the ﬁrst ﬁnancial report prepared
based on AEIFRS and comparatives
for the year ended 30 June 2005
have been restated accordingly,
unless otherwise permitted.
In accordance with AASB 1 First-time
Adoption of Australian Equivalents
to International Financial Reporting
Standards and Treasury Mandates, the
date of transition to AASB 132 Financial
Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation
and AASB 139 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement has
been deferred to 1 July 2005 and, as
a result, comparative information for
these two Standards is presented under
the previous Australian Accounting
Standards which applied to the year
ended 30 June 2005. Under previous
Accounting Standards, ﬁnancial
instruments were recognised at cost,
with the exception of TCorp Hour-Glass
Facilities and Managed Fund Investments,
which were measured at fair value.
Reconciliations of AEIFRS equity and
proﬁt or loss for 30 June 2005 to the
balances reported in the 30 June
2005 ﬁnancial report are detailed
in Note 28. This note also includes
separate disclosure of the 1 July 2005
equity adjustments arising from the
adoption of AASB 140 and AASB 117.
(d) Income Recognition
Income is measured at the fair value
of the consideration or contribution
received or receivable. Additional
comments regarding the accounting

policies for the recognition of
income are discussed below.
(i) Parliamentary Appropriations and
Contributions from Other Bodies
Parliamentary appropriations and
contributions from other bodies
(including grants and donations) are
generally recognised as income when
the Authority obtains controls over the
assets comprising the appropriations /
contributions. Control over appropriations
and contributions is normally
obtained upon the receipt of cash.
An exception to the above is when
appropriations are unspent at year
end. In this case, the authority to spend
the money lapses and generally the
unspent amount must be repaid to
the Consolidated Fund in the following
ﬁnancial year. As a result, unspent
appropriations are accounted for as
liabilities rather than revenue.
(ii) Sale of Goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is
recognised as revenue when the
Authority transfers the signiﬁcant risks
and rewards of ownership of the assets.
(iii) Rendering of Services
Revenue is recognised when the
service is provided or by reference
to the stage of completion (based
on labour hours incurred to date).
(iv) Investment Income
Interest revenue is recognised using
the effective interest method as set
out in AASB 139 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement. Rental
revenue is recognised in accordance
with AASB 117 Leases on a straightline basis over the lease term.
(e) Employee Beneﬁts and
Other Provisions
(i) Salaries and Wages, Annual
Leave, Sick Leave and On-Costs
Liabilities for salaries and wages
(including non-monetary beneﬁts),
annual leave and paid sick leave that
fall due wholly within 12 months of
the reporting date are recognised and
measured in respect of employees’
services up to the reporting date at
undiscounted amounts based on
the amounts expected to be paid
when the liabilities are settled.
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Unused non-vesting sick leave does
not give rise to a liability as it is not
considered probable that sick leave
taken in the future will be greater than
the beneﬁts accrued in the future.
The outstanding amounts of payroll
tax, workers’ compensation insurance
premiums and fringe beneﬁts tax, which
are consequential to employment, are
recognised as liabilities and expenses
where the employee beneﬁts to which
they relate have been recognised.
(ii) Long Service Leave and Superannuation
The Authority’s liabilities for long service
leave and deﬁned beneﬁt superannuation
are assumed by the Crown Entity. Prior
to 2005–06 the Crown Entity also
assumed the deﬁned contribution
superannuation liability. The Authority
accounts for the liability as having been
extinguished resulting in the amount
assumed being shown as part of the
non-monetary revenue item described
as ‘Acceptance by the Crown Entity of
Employee Beneﬁts and Other Liabilities’.
Long service leave is measured at present
value in accordance with AASB 119
Employee Beneﬁts. This is based on the
application of certain factors (speciﬁed
in NSWTC 06/09) to employees with
ﬁve or more years of service, using
current rates of pay. These factors were
determined based on an actuarial
review to approximate present value.
The superannuation expense for the
ﬁnancial year is determined by using
the formula speciﬁed in the Treasurer’s
Directions. The expense for certain
superannuation schemes (i.e. Basic Beneﬁt
and First State Super) is calculated as a
percentage of the employees’ salaries.
For other superannuation schemes (i.e.
State Superannuation Scheme and State
Authorities Superannuation Scheme), the
expense is calculated as a multiple of the
employees’ superannuation contributions.
(iii) Other Provisions
Other provisions exist when: the Authority
has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of a past event; it
is probable that an outﬂow of resources
will be required to settle the obligation;
and a reliable estimate can be made
of the amount of the obligation.
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(f) Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs are recognised as
expenses in the period in which
they are incurred, in accordance
with Treasury’s mandate to general
government sector agencies.
(g) Insurance
The Authority’s insurance activities
are primarily conducted through the
NSW Treasury Managed Fund Scheme
(TMF) of self-insurance for Government
agencies. The expense (premium) is
determined by the Fund Manager
based on past claims experience.
There are also minor commercial
insurance arrangements in place for
risks that, for commercial reasons, the
Authority has had to accept but for which
the TMF is unable to provide protection.
(h) Accounting for the Goods
and Services Tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets
are recognised net of the amount
of GST except where:
•

•

the amount of GST incurred by the
Authority as a purchaser that is not
recoverable from the Australian
Taxation Ofﬁce is recognised as part
of the cost of acquisition of an asset
or as part of an item of expense
receivables and payables are stated
with the amount of GST included.

(i) Acquisitions of Assets
The cost method of accounting is used
for the initial recording of all acquisitions
of assets controlled by the Authority.
Cost is the amount of cash or cash
equivalents paid or the fair value of the
other consideration given to acquire
the asset at the time of its acquisition
or construction or, where applicable,
the amount attributed to that asset
when initially recognised in accordance
with the speciﬁc requirements of other
Australian Accounting Standards.
Assets acquired at no cost, or for
nominal consideration, are initially
recognised as assets and revenues
at their fair value at the date of
acquisition. (See also assets transferred
as a result of an administrative
restructure. Refer Note 1(w).

Fair value is the amount for which an
asset could be exchanged between
knowledgeable, willing parties in
an arm’s length transaction.
( j) Capitalisation Thresholds
Property, plant and equipment
assets costing $5,000 and above
individually are capitalised.
(k) Revaluation of Property,
Plant and Equipment
Physical non current assets are valued
in accordance with the ‘Valuation
of Physical Non Current Assets at
Fair Value’ Policy and Guidelines
Paper (TPP 05-3). This policy adopts
fair value in accordance with AASB
116 Property, Plant and Equipment
and AASB 140 Investment Property.
Information on investment property
is separately discussed at note 1(p).
Property, plant and equipment is
measured on an existing use basis where
there are no feasible alternative uses in
the existing natural, legal, ﬁnancial and
socio-political environment. However, in
the limited circumstances where there
are feasible alternative uses, assets are
valued at their highest and best use.
Fair value of property, plant and
equipment is determined based on
the best available market evidence,
including current market selling prices
for the same or similar assets. Where
there is no available market evidence,
the asset’s fair value is measured at its
market buying price, the best indicator of
which is depreciated replacement cost.
The Authority revalues each class of
property, plant and equipment at least
every ﬁve years and with sufﬁcient
regularity to ensure that the carrying
amount of each asset in the class does
not differ materially from its fair value
at reporting date. The last revaluation
for land and buildings and plant and
equipment was completed on 1 July
2003 by the State Valuation Ofﬁce and
the last valuation for infrastructure
systems was completed on 1 July 2004
by the Department of Commerce, based
on an independent assessment.
Non-specialised assets with short
useful lives are measured at depreciated
historical cost as a surrogate for fair value.
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When revaluing non current assets by
reference to current prices for assets
newer than those being revalued
(adjusted to reﬂect the present
condition of the assets), the gross
amount and the related accumulated
depreciation is separately restated.

(m) Depreciation of Property,
Plant and Equipment
Depreciation is provided for on a
straight-line basis for all depreciable
assets so as to write off the depreciable
amount of each asset as it is consumed
over its useful life to the Authority.

For other assets, any balances of
accumulated depreciation existing at the
revaluation date in respect of those assets
are credited to the asset accounts to
which they relate. The net asset accounts
are then increased or decreased by the
revaluation increments or decrements.

All material separately identiﬁable
component assets are recognised
and depreciated over their shorter
useful lives, including those
components that in effect represent
major periodic maintenance.

Revaluation increments are credited
directly to the asset revaluation
reserve, except that, to the extent that
an increment reverses a revaluation
decrement in respect of that class
of asset previously recognised as an
expense in the Operating Statement, the
increment is recognised immediately as
revenue in the Operating Statement.
Revaluation decrements are recognised
immediately as expenses in the
Operating Statement, except that, to the
extent that a credit balance exists in the
asset revaluation reserve in respect of
the same class of assets, they are debited
directly to the asset revaluation reserve.
As a not-for-proﬁt entity, revaluation
increments and decrements are offset
against one another within a class of
non current assets, but not otherwise.
Where an asset that has previously been
revalued is disposed of, any balance
remaining in the asset revaluation
reserve in respect of that asset is
transferred to accumulated funds.
(l) Impairment of Property,
Plant and Equipment
As a not-for-proﬁt entity with no cash
generating units, the Authority is
effectively exempted from AASB 136
Impairment of Assets and impairment
testing. This is because AASB 136
modiﬁes the recoverable amount test
to the higher of fair value less costs to
sell and depreciated replacement cost.
Therefore, for an asset already measured
at fair value, impairment can only arise
if selling costs are material. Selling
costs are regarded as immaterial.

Land is not a depreciable asset.
Depreciation rates for these asset
categories are:
• Buildings including
facilities and
sporting venues
2% – 20% per annum

• Computer equipment
• Ofﬁce equipment

• Leasehold improvements
• Infrastructure

• Other plant
and equipment

25% per annum

20% per annum

Period of lease

2% – 33% per annum

2% – 20% per annum

(n) Maintenance
Day-to-day servicing costs or
maintenance costs are charged as
expenses as incurred except where
they relate to the replacement of a
component of an asset, in which case the
costs are capitalised and depreciated.
(o) Leased Assets
A distinction is made between ﬁnance
leases which effectively transfer from the
lessor to the lessee all the substantially
risks and beneﬁts incidental to ownership
of the leased assets, and operating
leases under which the lessor effectively
retains all such risks and beneﬁts.
Operating lease payments are charged
to the Operating Statement in the
periods in which they are incurred.
(p) Investment Properties
The Authority owns properties held
to earn rentals and/or for capital
appreciation. Investment properties
are stated at fair value supported by
market evidence at the balance sheet
date. Gains or losses arising from
changes in fair value are included in
the Operating Statement in the period

in which they arise. No depreciation is
charged on investment properties.
(q) Loans and Receivables
Loans and receivables, other than those
outlined in Note 1(v) Privately Financed
Projects, are recognised initially at fair
value, usually based on the transaction
cost or face value. Subsequent
measurement is at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less
an allowance for any impairment of
receivables. Any changes are accounted
for in the Operating Statement when
impaired, derecognised or through
the amortisation process. Short term
receivables with no stated interest
rate are measured at the original
invoice amount where the effect
of discounting is immaterial.
An allowance for impairment of
receivables is established when there
is objective evidence that the entity
will not be able to collect all amounts
due. The amount of the allowance is
the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash ﬂows,
discounted at the effective interest rate.
Bad debts are written off as incurred.
(r) Inventories
Inventories held for distribution are
stated at the lower of cost and current
replacement cost. Inventories (other
than those held for distribution) are
stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is calculated using
the weighted average cost method.
The cost of inventories acquired at no
cost or for nominal consideration is the
current replacement cost as at the date
of acquisition. Current replacement cost
is the cost the Authority would incur to
acquire the asset. Net realisable value is
the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale.
Non current inventories include
land inventory.
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(s) Investments
Investment in controlled entities are
measured at cost. Equity accounting
principles are applied in accounting
for the Authority’s investment in
associates in the consolidated accounts.
(t) Other Financial Assets
Other ﬁnancial assets are generally
recognised at cost.
(u) Major Repairs Funds
Under the terms of the lease between
the Authority and the Royal Agricultural
Society of New South Wales (RAS), the
Authority is required to maintain a Major
Repairs Fund (MRF). The MRF is to be used
for major repairs undertaken to preserve
and prolong the useful, economic
life span of the Royal Agricultural
Showground during the lease term.
NSW Treasury provides the Authority
with funding for major repairs of the
Sydney Olympic Park Aquatic and
Athletic Centres (SOPAAC). This MRF is
to be used for major repairs undertaken
to preserve and prolong the useful,
economic life span of the Sydney Olympic
Park Aquatic and Athletic Centres.
The MRFs at reporting date are treated
as restricted assets. Refer Note 17.
(v) Privately Financed Projects
In respect of Telstra Stadium and Acer
Arena facilities which were funded,
developed and initially managed by the
private sector, the Authority has adopted
Treasury Policy and Guidelines Paper TPP
06-8 ‘Accounting for Privately Financed
Projects’. Practical completion dates of
Telstra Stadium and Acer Arena occurred
on 1 March 1999 and 30 August 1999
respectively. Both venues will revert to the
Authority on expiry of the lease in 2031.
The Authority’s share of the reversionary
interest in Telstra Stadium and Acer
Arena is recognised as revenue and a
non-current asset whose value emerges
during the lease period. The value is
allocated during the lease period as if it
were the compound value of an annuity
discounted at the NSW government bond
rate applicable to the Authority at the
commencement of the lease period.
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During the lease period, the fair value
of the right to receive increases or
decreases, the movement is recognised
in accordance with Accounting Standard
AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment
as if the right were an item of property
to which that standard applied.
(w) Equity Transfers
The transfer of net assets between
agencies as a result of an administrative
restructure, transfer of programs/
functions and parts thereof between
NSW public sector agencies are
designated as a contribution by owners
by NSWTC 01/11 and are recognised as
an adjustment to ‘Accumulated Funds’.
This treatment is consistent with
Urgent Issues Group Interpretation
1038 Contributions by Owners Made to
Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities.
Transfers arising from an administrative
restructure between government
departments are recognised at the
amount at which the asset was
recognised by the transferor government
department immediately prior to the
restructure. In most instances this will
approximate fair value. All other equity
transfers are recognised at fair value.
(x) Payables
These amounts represent liabilities
for goods and services provided to the
Authority and other amounts, including
interest. Interest is accrued over the
period it becomes due. Payables are
recognised initially at fair value, usually
based on the transaction cost or face
value. Subsequent measurement is
at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. Short-term payables
with no stated interest rate are measured
at the original invoice amount where
the effect of discounting is immaterial.
(y) Budgeted Amounts
The budgeted amounts are drawn
from the budgets as formulated at
the beginning of the ﬁnancial year
and with any adjustments for the
effects of additional appropriations
under s 21A, s 24, and/or s 26 of the
Public Finance and Audit Act 1983.

The budgeted amounts in the Operating
Statement and the Cash Flow Statement
are generally based on the amounts
disclosed in the NSW Budget Papers
(as adjusted above). However, in the
Balance Sheet, the amounts vary from the
Budget Papers, as the opening balances
of the budgeted amounts are based
on carried forward actual amounts, i.e.
per the audited ﬁnancial statements
(rather than carried forward estimates).
(z) Comparative Information
Comparative ﬁgures have been restated
based on AEIFRS with the exception of
ﬁnancial instruments information, which
has been prepared under the previous
AGAAP Standard (AAS 33) as permitted
by AASB 1.36A. The transition to AEIFRS
for ﬁnancial instruments information
was 1 July 2005. The impact of adopting
AEIFRS is further discussed in Note 27.
Where necessary, comparative ﬁgures
have been adjusted to conform with
changes in presentation in the
current year.
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CONSOLIDATED
Notes

AUTHORITY

2006
$’000

2005
$’000

2006
$’000

2005
$’000

11,154
288
756
288
165
881
13,532

11,627
318
861
547
204
900
14,457

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

799
0
799

412
0
412

799
13,445
14,244

412
14,457
14,869

101
841
3,079
1,647
2,209
2,366
3,215
1,846
14,103
8,679
1,319
522
2,467
42,394

98
991
3,241
3,413
1,951
2,757
4,809
2,364
11,012
9,999
1,247
618
1,553
44,053

101
841
3,079
1,647
2,209
2,361
3,215
1,846
14,103
8,679
1,319
522
2,467
42,389

98
991
3,241
3,413
1,951
2,757
4,809
2,364
11,012
9,999
1,247
618
1,553
44,053

14,103
367
14,470

11,012
589
11,601

14,103
0
14,103

11,012
0
11,012

2. EXPENSES EXCLUDING LOSSES
(a) Employee Related Expenses
Salaries and wages (including recreation leave)
Superannuation – deﬁned beneﬁt plans
Superannuation – deﬁned contribution plans
Long service leave
Workers’ compensation insurance
Payroll tax and fringe beneﬁt tax
(b) Personnel Services
Contractors and temporary agency staff
Personnel services (including capitalisation)
An amount of $318,000 in personnel services have been capitalised in ﬁxed asset
accounts and therefore excluded from the above ($287,000 in 2005).
(c) Other Operating Expenses
Auditors’ remuneration – audit of the ﬁnancial reports
Insurance
Asset management
Operating lease rental expense – minimum lease payments
Provision for doubtful debts
Administration
Advertising and promotion
Activity and entertainment
Maintenance
Site services
Utilities
Information technology
Other
Maintenance Reconciliation:
Maintenance expenses, as above
Maintenance related employee expenses included in Note 2(a)
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CONSOLIDATED

AUTHORITY

Notes

2006
$’000

2005
$’000

2006
$’000

2005
$’000

13

8,350
3,696
22,468
34,514

8,745
3,617
22,334
34,696

8,350
3,696
22,468
34,514

8,745
3,617
22,334
34,696

6,781
41,295

6,781
41,477

6,781
41,295

6,781
41,477

4,147
800
0
4,947

2,840
800
0
3,640

4,147
800
175
5,122

2,840
800
0
3,640

3,271
9,136
1,809
14,216

3,364
8,225
1,772
13,361

3,271
9,136
1,809
14,216

3,364
8,225
1,772
13,361

958
2,193
973
5,044
(351)
8,817

916
1,941
777
4,764
988
9,386

957
2,193
973
5,044
(351)
8,816

916
1,941
777
4,764
988
9,386

2. EXPENSES EXCLUDING LOSSES (continued)
(d) Depreciation and Amortisation Expenses
Depreciation
Land and buildings
Plant and equipment
Infrastructure systems
Amortisation
Amortisation – Prepayments
(e) Grants and Subsidies
Sydney Olympic Park Aquatic and Athletic Centres
Sydney Olympic Park Sports Centre
Parklands Foundation Limited

3. REVENUE
(a) Sale of Goods and Services
Estate levies
Car parking
Other
(b) Investment Revenue
Interest on bank
Interest on advances
Interest on TCorp Hour-Glass cash facility
Rents
Share of net proﬁt of associate
(c) Retained Taxes, Fees and Fines
Parking infringements
(d) Grants and Contributions
Department of Education
Environment and Heritage – Solar Cities
Tennis NSW
Developer contributions

15(b)

557
557

347
347

557
557

347
347

1,415
50
421
962
2,848

0
0
421
0
421

0
50
421
962
1,433

0
0
421
0
421

The Authority has entered into land sales agreements on the condition that a component of proceeds from sales will be attributed
to the provision of public infrastructure. The nature of this infrastructure is detailed in the Authority Developer Contribution Plan.
46 | Financial Statements

Sydney Olympic Park Authority

Notes to the Financial Statements
CONSOLIDATED
Notes

AUTHORITY

2006
$’000

2005
$’000

2006
$’000

2005
$’000

1,575
0
1,599
3,174

4,471
0
1,243
5,714

1,575
590
1,601
3,766

4,471
1,758
1,243
7,472

19,020
(16,153)
2,867

19,040
(15,315)
3,725

19,020
(16,153)
2,867

19,040
(15,315)
3,725

0
(134)
(134)
2,733

0
(605)
(605)
3,120

0
(134)
(134)
2,733

0
(605)
(605)
3,120

3. REVENUE (continued)
(e) Other Revenue
Recovery of doubtful debts
Resources free of charge
Other
The Authority has entered into contracts for the sale and long-term
lease for residential and commercial sites. Sale is however
conditional on certain pre-sales and pre-commitments being achieved.

4. GAIN/(LOSS) ON DISPOSAL

Gain/(loss) on disposal of receivable on asset sold
Proceeds from disposal
Carrying value of assets disposed
Net gain/(loss) on disposal of receivable on asset sold
Gain/(loss) on disposal of infrastructure systems
Proceeds from disposal
Written down value of assets disposed
Net gain/(loss) on disposal of infrastructure systems
Gain/(loss) on Disposal

5. OTHER GAIN/(LOSS)

Investment property revaluation
Right to receive

13

14
16

550
20,558
21,108

0
19,399
19,399

550
20,558
21,108

0
19,399
19,399

37,027
37,027

36,265
36,265

37,027
37,027

36,265
36,265

12,611
12,611

11,839
11,839

12,611
12,611

11,839
11,839

6. APPROPRIATIONS
(a) Recurrent Appropriations
Total recurrent drawdowns from NSW Treasury
(per Summary of Compliance)
(b) Capital Appropriations
Total capital drawdowns from NSW Treasury
(per Summary of Compliance)
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CONSOLIDATED
Notes

AUTHORITY

2006
$’000

2005
$’000

2006
$’000

2005
$’000

285
288
17
590

1,192
547
19
1,758

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

7. ACCEPTANCE BY THE CROWN ENTITY OF EMPLOYEE
BENEFITS AND OTHER LIABILITIES
The following liabilities and/or expenses have been assumed by the Crown Entity:
Superannuation – Deﬁned beneﬁt
Long service leave
Payroll tax on superannuation

8. PROGRAMS/ACTIVITIES OF THE AUTHORITY
(a) Program – Administration
Program Objective:
To establish Sydney Olympic Park as a vibrant cultural and community centre and a signiﬁcant regional sport, recreation and tourism
facility for the enjoyment of all visitors.
Program Description:
To promote, develop, manage and maintain Sydney Olympic Park for the beneﬁt of the New South Wales community.
(b) Program Statement – Expenses and Revenues
The Authority operates as a single program. The expenses and revenues of this program are as reﬂected in the Operating Statement.

9. CURRENT ASSETS – CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash at bank and on hand
TCorp Hour-Glass cash facility

15,818
17,755
33,573

17,171
14,592
31,763

14,327
17,755
32,082

17,171
14,592
31,763

Cash and cash equivalent assets recognised in the Balance Sheet are reconciled at the
end of the ﬁnancial year to the Cash Flow Statement as follows:
Cash and Cash Equivalents (per Balance Sheet)

33,573

31,763

32,082

31,763

Closing Cash and Cash Equivalents (per Cash Flow Statement)

33,573

31,763

32,082

31,763

17,049
565
510
1,063
1,820
2,281
508
(15)
23,781

16,153
2,552
423
1,952
279
0
348
(1,646)
20,061

17,049
565
510
1,054
1,820
2,281
508
(15)
23,772

16,153
2,552
423
1,952
279
0
348
(1,646)
20,061

10. CURRENT/NON CURRENT ASSETS – RECEIVABLES
(a) Current Receivables
Receivable from sale of land
Trade debtors
Interest receivable
GST receivable
Prepayments
Accrued income
Other
Less: Provision for doubtful debt
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CONSOLIDATED
Notes

AUTHORITY

2006
$’000

2005
$’000

2006
$’000

2005
$’000

18,000
18,000

35,049
35,049

18,000
18,000

35,049
35,049

143
143

107
107

143
143

107
107

15,529
15,529

15,100
15,100

15,529
15,529

15,100
15,100

12,000
7,381
(19,381)
0

12,000
5,188
(17,188)
0

12,000
7,381
(19,381)
0

12,000
5,188
(17,188)
0

10. CURRENT/NON CURRENT ASSETS – RECEIVABLES (continued)
(b) Non Current Receivables
Receivable from sale of land

11. CURRENT/NON CURRENT ASSETS – INVENTORIES
(a) Current Inventories
Visitor Centre stock
(b) Non Current Inventories
Land inventory held for sale at cost

12. NON CURRENT ASSETS – OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
Advances receivable
Interest on advances
Less: Provision for doubtful debts
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AUTHORITY
2006
$’000

2005
$’000

13. NON CURRENT ASSETS – PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(a) Year ended 30 June 2006
Land and Buildings
Gross carrying amount
Accumulated depreciation
Net Carrying Amount at Fair Value

845,497
(88,710)
756,787

834,747
(80,360)
754,387

Plant and Equipment
Gross carrying amount
Accumulated depreciation
Net Carrying Amount at Fair Value

81,512
(36,394)
45,118

80,027
(32,698)
47,329

Infrastructure Systems
Gross carrying amount
Accumulated depreciation
Net Carrying Amount at Fair Value

530,497
(160,424)
370,073

530,064
(137,956)
392,108

1,457,506
(285,528)
1,171,978

1,444,838
(251,014)
1,193,824

Total
Gross carrying amount
Accumulated depreciation
Net Carrying Amount at Fair Value
Reconciliation
A reconciliation of the carrying amounts of each class of property, plant and equipment at
the beginning and the end of the current reporting period is set out below.
Notes

Carrying amount at 1 July 2005
Additions
Disposals
Net revaluation increment less revaluation
decrements recognised in reserves
Depreciation expense
Investment property
Net Carrying Amount at 30 June 2006
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4

2(d)
14

Land and
Buildings
$’000

Plant and Infrastructure
Equipment
Systems
$’000
$’000

Total
$’000

754,387
10,762
0

47,329
1,485
0

392,108
567
(134)

1,193,824
12,814
(134)

0
(8,350)
(12)
756,787

0
(3,696)
0
45,118

0
(22,468)
0
370,073

0
(34,514)
(12)
1,171,978

Sydney Olympic Park Authority
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AUTHORITY
2005
$’000

2004
$’000

13. NON CURRENT ASSETS – PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)
(b) Year ended 30 June 2005
Land and Buildings
Gross carrying amount
Accumulated depreciation
Net Carrying Amount at Fair Value

834,747
(80,360)
754,387

1,203,631
(110,348)
1,093,283

Plant and Equipment
Gross carrying amount
Accumulated depreciation
Net Carrying Amount at Fair Value

80,027
(32,698)
47,329

141,252
(46,948)
94,304

Infrastructure Systems
Gross carrying amount
Accumulated depreciation
Net Carrying Amount at Fair Value

530,064
(137,956)
392,108

463,507
(50,658)
412,849

Total
Gross carrying amount
Accumulated depreciation
Net Carrying Amount at Fair Value

1,444,838
(251,014)
1,193,824

1,808,390
(207,954)
1,600,436

Reconciliation
A reconciliation of the carrying amounts of each class of property, plant and equipment at
the beginning and the end of the current reporting period is set out below.

Notes

Carrying amount at 1 July 2004
Additions
Disposals
Net revaluation increment less revaluation
decrements recognised in reserves
Depreciation expense
Sydney Showground
Investment property
Net Carrying Amount at 30 June 2005

4

2(d)
14

Land and
Buildings
$’000

1,093,283
5,400
(127)
0
(8,745)
(314,553)
(20,871)
754,387

2005

2004

Plant and Infrastructure
Equipment
Systems
$’000
$’000

Total
$’000

94,304
1,692
0

412,849
6,952
(478)

1,600,436
14,044
(605)

0
(3,645)
(44,519)
(503)
47,329

34,306
(22,306)
(39,164)
(51)
392,108

34,306
(34,696)
(398,236)
(21,425)
1,193,824
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CONSOLIDATED
Notes

AUTHORITY

2006
$’000

2005
$’000

2006
$’000

2005
$’000

21,425
550
12
21,987

18,625
0
2,800
21,425

21,425
550
12
21,987

18,625
0
2,800
21,425

3,179

2,854

766

379

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTY
Property interests held under operating leases:
Opening balance as at 1 July
Net gain from fair value adjustment
Reclassiﬁcations from property, plant and equipment
Closing Balance as at 30 June

13
5
13

Investment properties are valued annually at fair value by the Department of Commerce, an independent,
professionally qualiﬁed valuer with recent experience in the location and category of investment property.
The following amounts have been recognised in the operating statement:
Rental income
3,179
2,854
Direct operating expenses arising from investment
properties that generate rental income
766
379

15. INVESTMENTS
(a) Investment in Controlled Entities
The Authority has been given approval for the incorporation of the Parklands Foundation
Limited in 2005. The Parklands Foundation commenced operations in 2006.
(b) Investment in Associates
Carrying amount as at 1 July
Share of net proﬁts for the year
Carrying Amount as at 30 June

988
(351)
637

0
988
988

988
(351)
637

0
988
988

988
(351)
637

0
988
988

988
(351)
637

0
988
988

The Authority, the University of Sydney and the University of Technology,
Sydney were the successful consortium for the establishment of an
International Centre of Excellence for Sports Science and Management
(Sport Knowledge Australia). The investment in Sport Knowledge
Australia is an equal share to each of the three parties.
Retained Proﬁt – Opening balance
Proﬁt from ordinary activities
Retained Proﬁt – Closing Balance

3(b)

16. PRIVATELY FINANCED PROJECTS
(a) Prepayments – Telstra Stadium and Acer Arena
Prepayments (current)
Prepayments (non current)
(b) Right to Receive – Telstra Stadium and Acer Arena
Carrying amount at 1 July
Gain/(loss) for the year
Carrying Amount at 30 June
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1(v)

6,781
159,942
166,723

6,781
166,723
173,504

6,781
159,942
166,723

6,781
166,723
173,504

5
1(v)

104,588
20,558
125,146

85,189
19,399
104,588

104,588
20,558
125,146

85,189
19,399
104,588
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CONSOLIDATED
Notes

17. RESTRICTED ASSETS

Major repairs fund – RAS
Major repairs fund – SOPAAC
Developer contributions and proceeds of development right
Parklands Foundation

18. CURRENT LIABILITIES – PAYABLES

Creditors and accrued expenses
Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs
Personnel services

19(c)

AUTHORITY

2006
$’000

2005
$’000

2006
$’000

2005
$’000

9,951
2,526
2,685
1,491
16,653

10,208
2,301
2,152
0
14,661

9,951
2,526
2,685
0
15,162

10,208
2,301
2,152
0
14,661

5,824
427
0
6,251

9,146
77
0
9,223

5,824
0
424
6,248

9,146
0
77
9,223

1,204
328
1,532

1,234
331
1,565

0
0
0

0
0
0

3,785
43
0
450
4,278

1,185
1,397
0
0
2,582

3,785
43
1,532
450
5,810

1,185
1,397
1,565
0
4,147

5,810

4,147

5,810

4,147

1,311
221
427
0
1,959

1,343
222
77
0
1,642

1,311
221
0
424
1,956

1,343
222
0
77
1,642

776
339
1,917
3,032

426
339
1,225
1,990

776
339
1,917
3,032

426
339
1,225
1,990

29,473
29,473

29,812
29,812

29,473
29,473

29,812
29,812

19. CURRENT/NON CURRENT LIABILITIES – PROVISIONS
(a) Employee Beneﬁts and Related On-costs
Annual leave
Other
(b) Other Provisions
Major repairs fund – RAS
Asset management and relocation
Personnel services
Other
Total Provisions
(c) Aggregate Employee Beneﬁts and Related On-costs
Provisions – current
Provisions – non current
Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs
Personnel Services

18

20. CURRENT/NON CURRENT LIABILITIES – OTHER
(a) Non Current Liabilities – Other
Security deposits
Deferred long term lease income
Other
(b) Current Liabilities – Other
Deferred long term lease income
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ACCUMULATED
FUNDS
Notes

2006
$’000

2005
$’000

ASSET REVALUATION
RESERVE
2006
$’000

2005
$’000

TOTAL EQUITY
2006
$’000

2005
$’000

21. CHANGES IN EQUITY
(a) Consolidated
Balance at the beginning of the ﬁnancial year
Changes in accounting policy
Total
Changes in Equity – Other Than Transactions
with Owners as Owners
Surplus/(deﬁcit) for the year
Increment/(decrement) on revaluation of:
Land and buildings
Infrastructure systems
Total

27

27

Changes in Equity – Other Than
Transactions with Owners as Owners
Surplus/(deﬁcit) for the year
Increment/(decrement) on revaluation of:
Land and buildings
Infrastructure
Total
Balance at the End of the Financial Year
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(18,306)

(18,306)

Balance at the End of the Financial Year
(b) Authority
Balance at the beginning of the ﬁnancial year
Changes in accounting policy
Total

1,280,383
0
1,280,383

1,938,373
(636,521)
1,301,852

270,854
0
270,854

248,274
(11,726)
236,548

(21,469)

0

(21,469)

0
0
0

(4,275)
38,581
34,306

0

1,551,237
0
1,551,237

2,186,647
(648,247)
1,538,400

(18,306)

(21,469)

0
0
(18,306)

(4,275)
38,581
12,837

1,262,077

1,280,383

270,854

270,854

1,532,931

1,551,237

27

1,280,383
0
1,280,383

1,938,373
(636,521)
1,301,852

270,854
0
270,854

248,274
(11,726)
236,548

1,551,237
0
1,551,237

2,186,647
(648,247)
1,538,400

27

(19,803)

(21,469)

0

0

(19,803)

(21,469)

(21,469)

0
0
0

(4,275)
38,581
34,306

0
0
(19,803)

(4,275)
38,581
12,837

270,854

270,854

(19,803)
1,260,580

1,280,383

1,531,434

1,551,237
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CONSOLIDATED

AUTHORITY

2006
$’000

2005
$’000

2006
$’000

2005
$’000

285
285

33
33

285
285

33
33

Aggregate capital expenditure for the acquisition of other construction
contracted for at balance date and not provided for:
Not later than one year
Total (including GST)

6,744
6,744

4,456
4,456

6,744
6,744

4,456
4,456

(b) Other Expenditure Commitments
Aggregate other expenditure contracted for at balance date and not provided for:
Not later than one year
Total (including GST)

3,495
3,495

1,059
1,059

3,495
3,495

1,059
1,059

(c) Operating Lease Commitments
Future non-cancellable operating lease rentals not provided for and payable:
Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than 5 years
Total (including GST)

1,359
4,058
5,417

1,460
92
1,552

1,359
4,058
5,417

1,460
92
1,552

Notes

22. COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE
(a) Capital Commitments
Aggregate capital expenditure for the acquisition of property development
services contracted for at balance date and not provided for:
Not later than one year
Total (including GST)

The Authority’s operating leases relate to property and motor vehicles.
The total expenditure commitments above include input tax credits of $1.4 million ($645,000 in 2005) which are expected to be
recovered from the Australian Taxation Ofﬁce.

23. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(a) Contingent Liabilities
There are a number of contractual arrangements involving possible future claims against the Authority. These include asset replacement
and maintenance works that may be required under existing agreements with a potential maximum liability of $4.0 million.
The Authority is seeking compensation for defective works. If successful, this action will result in a contingent asset in the order of
$5.0 million. If unsuccessful, costs are not expected to exceed $1.0 million.
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24. BUDGET REVIEW
(a) Net Cost of Services
The actual net cost of services was $6.1 million lower than budget. The material variances are:
• The adjustment in the calculation of the reversionary right for Telstra Stadium
and Acer Arena of $13.1 million (non-cash) within other gains

• The amortisation of the up front contributions paid to Telstra Stadium and Acer Arena of $6.8 million (non-cash)
• Higher depreciation costs of $3.4 million (non-cash).
(b) Assets and Liabilities
Total assets were $4.0 million below budget due to:

• Higher cash balances of $3.8 million mainly in restricted cash items

• Lower total property, plant and equipment costs of $13.6 million affected by 2005 movements
in infrastructure systems valuation and the Sydney Showground disposal
• Higher prepaid expenses of $6.8 million reﬂecting the amortisation of the up
front contributions made to Telstra Stadium and Acer Arena

• The adjustment in the calculation of the reversionary right for Telstra Stadium and Acer Arena of $12.5 million (non-cash).
Total liabilities were below budget by $9.9 million due to:

• Nil borrowing costs for the development of an underground car park budgeted at $9.1 million
• Mainly reduced accrual levels within payables reduction of $3.4m

• An increase in current provisions of $1.6 million relating mainly to RAS major repairs.
(c) Cash Flows
Net cash ﬂows from operating activities are $1.0 million below budget due to:
• An additional $1.4 million in grants paid for operating costs of SOPAAC

• Mainly higher maintenance costs within the other payments variance of $1.7 million
• Higher interest received of $1.0 million

• Grant monies received from the Department of Education for the Parklands Foundation
of $1.4 million within the other receipts variance of $2.6 million.
CONSOLIDATED
Notes

2006
$’000

2005
$’000

AUTHORITY
2006
$’000

2005
$’000

25. RECONCILIATION OF CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES TO NET COST OF SERVICES
Net Cash Used on Operating Activities
Cash ﬂows from Government/appropriations
Asset sale proceeds transferred to the Crown Entity
Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee
beneﬁts and other liabilities
Depreciation and amortisation
Share of net proﬁt of associates
Recognition of long term lease income
Net gain/(loss) on disposal
Other gains/(losses)
(Increase)/decrease in receivables
(Decrease)/increase in payables
(Decrease)/increase in employee provisions
(Decrease)/increase in other current liabilities
Net Cost of Services
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6

7
2(d)
15
4
5

(3,177)
(49,638)
19,020

534
(48,104)
19,040

(4,668)
(49,638)
19,020

534
(48,104)
19,040

(590)
(41,295)
(351)
339
2,733
21,108
2,859
2,182
33
(2,737)
(49,514)

(1,758)
(41,477)
988
339
3,120
19,399
(3,733)
1,706
(298)
(2,047)
(52,291)

0
(41,295)
(351)
339
2,733
21,108
2,850
2,185
33
(2,737)
(50,421)

0
(41,477)
988
339
3,120
19,399
(3,733)
1,706
(298)
(2,047)
(50,533)

Sydney Olympic Park Authority
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CONSOLIDATED
Notes

AUTHORITY

2006
$’000

2005
$’000

2006
$’000

2005
$’000

33,573
19,381
(19,381)
33,573

31,763
17,188
(17,188)
31,763

32,082
19,381
(19,381)
32,082

31,763
17,188
(17,188)
31,763

26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a) Financial Assets Category
Cash and cash equivalents
Loans and receivables
Less: Provision for doubtful debts

9
12
12

(b) Cash
Cash comprises cash on hand and bank balances within the Treasury Banking System. Interest is earned on daily bank balances at
the monthly average NSW Treasury Corporation (TCorp) 11.00am unofﬁcial cash rate adjusted for a management fee to Treasury.

(c) Receivables
All trade debtors are recognised as amounts receivable at balance date. Collectability of trade debtors is reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Debts which are known to be uncollectible are written off. An allowance for impairment is raised when there is objective
evidence that the entity will not be able to collect all amounts due. The credit risk is the carrying amount (net of any allowance for
impairment). No interest is earned on trade debtors. The carrying amount approximates fair value. Sales are made on COD terms.
(d) Hour-Glass Investment Facilities
The Authority has investments in TCorp’s Hour-Glass cash facility. The Authority’s investments are represented by a number of
units within the facilities. Each facility has different investment horizons and comprises a mix of asset classes appropriate to that
investment horizon. TCorp appoints and monitors fund managers and establishes and monitors the application of appropriate
investment guidelines.
The Authority’s investments are:
Hour-Glass cash facility

9

17,755
17,755

14,592
14,592

17,755
17,755

14,592
14,592

These investments are generally able to be redeemed with up to one business day’s notice. The value of the investments held can
decrease or increase depending upon market conditions. The value that best represents the maximum credit risk is the net fair
value. The value of the above investments represents the Authority’s share of the value of the underlying assets of the facility and
is stated at net fair value.

(e) Bank Overdraft
The Authority does not have a bank overdraft facility.

(f) Trade Creditors and Accruals
The liabilities are recognised for amounts due to be paid in the future for goods and services received, whether or not invoiced.
Amounts owing to suppliers (which are unsecured) are settled in accordance with the policy set out in Treasurer’s Direction 219.01.
If trade terms are not speciﬁed, payment is made no later than the end of the month following the month in which an invoice or
a statement is received.
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27. IMPACT OF ADOPTING AUSTRALIAN EQUIVALENTS TO IFRS

The Authority has determined the key areas where changes in accounting policies have an impact on the ﬁnancial report. Some
of these impacts arise because AEIFRS requirements are different from existing AASB requirements (AGAAP). Other impacts arise
from options in AEIFRS. To ensure consistency at the whole of government level, NSW Treasury has advised agencies of options
it is likely to mandate for the NSW Public Sector. The impacts disclosed below reﬂect Treasury’s mandates and policy decisions.
The impacts of adopting AEIFRS on total equity and surplus/(deﬁcit) as reported under previous AGAAP are shown below
reconciliation of Key Aggregates for the year ended 30 June 2005. There are no material impacts on the Authority’s cash ﬂows.
CONSOLIDATED
Notes

AUTHORITY

2005
$’000

2005
$’000

2,200,277

2,200,277

(a) Reconciliation of Equity Under Existing Standards (AGAAP) to Equity Under AEIFRS:
Total Equity Under AGAAP at 30 June 2005
Adjustments to Accumulated Funds
Write back asset revaluation reserve for investment properties
Upfront long term lease prepayment
Prior year adjustment – Non current assets
Investment properties – depreciation
Rental revenue recognised on long term leases
Right to receive
Adjustments to Other Reserves
Write back asset revaluation reserve for investment properties
Total Equity Under AEIFRS at 30 June 2005

i
ii
iii
21
i
ii
iii

11,726
(30,489)
(617,758)
(636,521)
222
339
(1,354)
(793)

11,726
(30,489)
(617,758)
(636,521)
222
339
(1,354)
(793)

i
21

(11,726)
1,551,237

(11,726)
1,551,237

i
ii
iii
21

(20,676)
222
339
(1,354)
(21,469)

(20,676)
222
339
(1,354)
(21,469)

(b) Reconciliation of Surplus/(deﬁcit) Under AGAAP to Surplus/(deﬁcit) Under AEIFRS:
Surplus/(deﬁcit) Under AGAAP
Investment properties – depreciation
Rental revenue recognised on long term leases
Right to receive
Surplus/(deﬁcit) Under AEIFRS

Based on the above, if AEIFRS were applied in 2004–05 this would increase the Net Cost of Services from $51.5 million to $52.2 million.
Notes to Tables Above
i Under AASB 140 Investment Property and Treasury’s mandates, investment property must be recognised at fair value.
In contrast to the previous treatment as property, plant and equipment, investment property recognised at fair value is
not depreciated and changes in fair value are recognised in the operating statement rather than the asset revaluation
reserve. This means that any asset revaluation reserve balances relating to such property have been written back to
accumulated funds and the ‘other gains’ amount recognised in proﬁt or loss for the change in fair value has increased by
$11.7 million for 30 June 2005. Depreciation expense has also reduced by $0.2 million for 30 June 2005 as a consequence.
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Notes to Tables Above (continued)
ii Under AASB 117 Leases, where a lessor receives an upfront payment for entering into an operating lease, the payment made is
accounted for as a prepaid lease payment and recognised in income on a straight-line basis over the lease term. In contrast the
previous treatment for upfront payments of long-term leases was to recognise sales income in one lump sum. This means that
amounts totalling $30.5 million that were recognised previously as sales income and included within equity, have been reversed
back to prepaid lease income. This has also meant that there is recognition of rental income for long-term leases of $0.3 million
for 30 June 2005 as a consequence.
iii AASB 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors requires that if there are changes to
accounting policy accounted for under previous AGAAP during 2004–05, on ﬁrst time adoption under AEIFRS
these changes to accounting policy will need to be accounted for retrospectively by restating the comparative
information and adjusting the opening balance of retained earnings at 1 July 2004. As the result of the change
in accounting treatment, the Authority recognised loss from adjustments of the fair value of non current
assets as at 1 July 2004 into the Operating Statement for the year ended 30 June 2005 as follows:
CONSOLIDATED

Right to receive
Sydney Showground

AUTHORITY

$’000

$’000

219,522
398,236
617,758

219,522
398,236
617,758

The change in accounting policy had the effect of overstating Net Cost of Services by $617.7 million for the year ended 30 June
2005 and understated accumulated funds as at 30 June 2005 by $617.7 million. Restated ﬁnancial information for 2006 and 2005 is
presented as if the change in accounting policy had not been made.

28. AFTER BALANCE DATE EVENTS

As at 1 July 2006 the Authority will be responsible for the operations of the Sydney Olympic Park Aquatic and Athletic Centres.
The centres were previously managed by a Government owned operator who was funded for the operational deﬁcit of the
centres by the Authority. Future income and expenditure will be reported within the ﬁnancial statements of the Authority.

End of Audited Financial Statements
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Sydney Olympic Park Authority, 7 Figtree Drive, Sydney Olympic Park NSW 2127

OFFICE OF THE SYDNEY OLYMPIC PARK AUTHORITY
Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2006

Pursuant to Section 41C(1B) and (1C) of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983, we declare that
in our opinion:
1.

The accompanying ﬁnancial statements exhibit a true and fair view of the Authority’s ﬁnancial
position as at 30 June 2006 and transactions for the year then ended.

2. The statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Public Finance and
Audit Act 1983, the Public Finance and Audit (General) Regulation, the Treasurer’s Direction and the
directives of the Financial Reporting Code.
Further, we are not aware of any circumstances which would render any particulars included in the
ﬁnancial statements to be misleading or inaccurate.

B Newman

N Hubble

Chief Executive Ofﬁcer

Executive Director, Finance
and Commercial

3 October 2006

Tel +61 2 9714 7300 Fax +61 2 9714 7818 www.sydneyolympicpark.nsw.gov.au ABN 68 010 941 405
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INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT

GPO BOX 12
Sydney NSW 2001

Ofﬁce of the Sydney Olympic Park Authority
Division of the Government Service
To Members of the New South Wales Parliament
Audit Opinion
In my opinion, the ﬁnancial report of the Ofﬁce of the Sydney Olympic Park
Authority Division of the Government Service (the Division):
•

presents fairly the Division’s ﬁnancial position as at 30 June 2006 and its performance for the year ended on that date,
in accordance with Accounting Standards and other mandatory ﬁnancial reporting requirements in Australia, and

•

complies with section 41B of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 (the Act) and the Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2005.

My opinion should be read in conjunction with the rest of this report.

Scope
The Financial Report and Board’s Responsibility

The ﬁnancial report comprises the balance sheet, income statement, statement of changes in equity, cash ﬂow statement and
accompanying notes to the ﬁnancial statements for the Division, for the year ended 30 June 2006.
The members of the Board of the Authority are responsible for the preparation and true and fair presentation of the ﬁnancial
report in accordance with the Act. This includes responsibility for the maintenance of adequate accounting records and internal
controls that are designed to prevent and detect fraud and error, and for the accounting policies and accounting estimates
inherent in the ﬁnancial report.

Audit Approach

I conducted an independent audit in order to express an opinion on the ﬁnancial report. My audit provides reasonable assurance
to Members of the New South Wales Parliament that the ﬁnancial report is free of material misstatement.
My audit accorded with Australian Auditing Standards and statutory requirements, and I:
•

assessed the appropriateness of the accounting policies and disclosures used and the reasonableness of signiﬁcant
accounting estimates made by the Board in preparing the ﬁnancial report, and

•

examined a sample of evidence that supports the amounts and disclosures in the ﬁnancial report.

An audit does not guarantee that every amount and disclosure in the ﬁnancial report is error free. The terms ‘reasonable
assurance’ and ‘material’ recognise that an audit does not examine all evidence and transactions. However, the audit
procedures used should identify errors or omissions signiﬁcant enough to adversely affect decisions made by users of the
ﬁnancial report or indicate that Board members had not fulﬁlled their reporting obligations.
My opinion does not provide assurance:
•

about the future viability of the Division,

•

that it has carried out its activities effectively, efﬁciently and economically, or

•

about the effectiveness of its internal controls.

Audit Independence

The Audit Ofﬁce complies with all applicable independence requirements of Australian professional ethical pronouncements.
The Act further promotes independence by:
•

providing that only Parliament, and not the executive government, can remove an Auditor-General, and

•

mandating the Auditor-General as auditor of public sector agencies but precluding the provision of non-audit services,
thus ensuring the Auditor-General and the Audit Ofﬁce are not compromised in their role by the possibility of losing clients
or income.

P J Boulous CA

Director, Financial Audit Services
SYDNEY
17 October 2006
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Operating Statement
for the year ending 30 June 2006

2006
$’000

2005
$’000

13,763
13,763

14,744
14,744

13,173
13,173

12,986
12,986

7

590

1,758

3

590
590

1,758
1,758

9

0

0

Notes

Expenses
Employee related
Total Expenses

2

Less:
Revenue
Personnel services
Total Revenue
Net Cost of Services
Government Contributions
Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee
beneﬁts and other liabilities
Total Government Contributions
SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES
The accompanying notes form part of these statements.

Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ending 30 June 2006

Notes

Surplus/(deﬁcit) for the year
TOTAL INCOME AND EXPENSE RECOGNISED FOR THE YEAR
The accompanying notes form part of these statements.
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2006
$’000

2005
$’000

0

0

0

0

Ofﬁce of Sydney Olympic Park Authority Financial Statements

Balance Sheet
as at 30 June 2006

Notes

2006
$’000

2005
$’000

ASSETS
Current Assets
Receivables
Total Current Assets

4(a)

1,771
1,771

1,492
1,492

Non Current Assets
Receivables
Total Non Current Assets

4(b)

221
221

222
222

1,992

1,714

Total Assets

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables
Provisions
Total Current Liabilities

5
6

460
1,311
1,771

149
1,343
1,492

Non Current Liabilities
Provisions
Total Non Current Liabilities

6

221
221

222
222

1,992

1,714

0

0

0
0

0
0

Total Liabilities
Net Assets

EQUITY

Accumulated funds
Total Equity
The accompanying notes form part of these statements.
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Cash Flow Statement
for the year ending 30 June 2006

2006
$’000

2005
$’000

Payments
Employee related
Total Payments

(12,895)
(12,895)

(13,933)
(13,933)

Receipts
Personnel services
Total Receipts

12,895
12,895

13,059
13,059

Cash Flows From Government
Cash reimbursements from the Crown Entity
Net Cash Flows From Government

0
0

874
874

NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

0

0

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH
Opening cash and cash equivalents
CLOSING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

0
0
0

0
0
0

Notes

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

The accompanying notes form part of these statements.
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Ofﬁce of Sydney Olympic Park Authority

Notes to the Financial Statements
1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Reporting Entity
The Ofﬁce of Sydney Olympic Park
Authority (the Ofﬁce) is a Division of the
Government Service, established pursuant
to Part 2 of Schedule 1 to the Public Sector
Employment and Management Act 2002.
It is a not-for-proﬁt entity as proﬁt is not
its principal objective. It is consolidated
as part of the NSW Total State Sector
Accounts. It is domiciled in Australia
and its principal ofﬁce is at 7 Figtree
Drive, Sydney Olympic Park NSW 2127.
The Ofﬁce’s objective is to provide
personnel services to Sydney
Olympic Park Authority.
The Ofﬁce commenced operations in 2001
when it assumed responsibility for the
employees and employee-related liabilities
of the Olympic Co-Ordination Authority.
The assumed liabilities were recognised
in 2001 together with an offsetting
receivable representing the related
funding due from the former employer.
The ﬁnancial report was authorised
for issue by Chief Executive Ofﬁcer
on 3 October 2006. The report
will not be amended and reissued
as it has been audited.
(b) Basis of Preparation
This is a general purpose ﬁnancial
report prepared in accordance with the
requirements of Australian Accounting
Standards, the Public Finance and
Audit Act 1983, the Public Finance and
Audit Regulation 2005, and speciﬁc
directions issued by the Treasurer.
This is the ﬁrst ﬁnancial report
prepared on the basis of Australian
equivalents to International
Financial Reporting Standards.
The accrual basis of accounting has been
adopted in the preparation of the ﬁnancial
report, except for cash ﬂow information.
Management’s judgements, key
assumptions and estimations are disclosed
in the relevant notes to the ﬁnancial report.
All amounts are rounded to the
nearest one thousand dollars and are
expressed in Australian currency.
(c) Comparative Information
Where necessary, comparative ﬁgures have
been adjusted to conform with changes
in presentation in the current year.

(d) Income Recognition
Income is measured at the fair value
of the consideration received or
receivable. Revenue from the rendering
of personnel services is recognised
when the service is provided and only
to the extent that the associated
recoverable expenses are recognised.
(e) Receivables
A receivable is recognised when it is
probable that the future cash inﬂows
associated with it will be realised and
it has a value that can be measured
reliably. It is derecognised when the
contractual or other rights to future cash
ﬂows from it expire or are transferred.
A receivable is measured initially at fair
value and subsequently at amortised
cost using the effective interest rate
method, less any allowance for doubtful
debts. A short-term receivable with
no stated interest rate is measured at
the original invoice amount where the
effect of discounting is immaterial.
An invoiced receivable is due for
settlement within 30 days of invoicing.
If there is objective evidence at year end
that a receivable may not be collectable,
its carrying amount is reduced by means
of an allowance for doubtful debts
and the resulting loss is recognised in
the income statement. Receivables are
monitored during the year and bad debts
are written off against the allowance when
they are determined to be irrecoverable.
Any other loss or gain arising when
a receivable is derecognised is also
recognised in the income statement.
(f) Payables
Payables include accrued wages,
salaries, and related on-costs (such
as payroll tax, fringe beneﬁts tax and
workers’ compensation insurance)
where there is certainty as to the
amount and timing of settlement.
A payable is recognised when a present
obligation arises under a contract
or otherwise. It is derecognised
when the obligation expires or is
discharged, cancelled or substituted.
A short-term payable with no stated
interest rate is measured at historical cost
if the effect of discounting is immaterial.

(g) Employee Beneﬁt Provisions
and Expenses
(i) Salaries and Wages, Annual Leave,
Sick Leave and On-Costs
Liabilities for salaries and wages (including
non-monetary beneﬁts), annual leave
and paid sick leave that fall due wholly
within 12 months of the reporting
date are recognised and measured in
respect of employees’ services up to the
reporting date at undiscounted amounts
based on the amounts expected to be
paid when the liabilities are settled.
Unused non-vesting sick leave does
not give rise to a liability as it is not
considered probable that sick leave
taken in the future will be greater than
the beneﬁts accrued in the future.
The outstanding amounts of payroll
tax, workers’ compensation insurance
premiums and fringe beneﬁts tax, which
are consequential to employment, are
recognised as liabilities and expenses
where the employee beneﬁts to which
they relate have been recognised.
(ii) Long Service Leave and Superannuation
The Ofﬁce’s liabilities for long service leave
and deﬁned beneﬁt superannuation are
assumed by the Crown Entity. The Ofﬁce
accounts for the liability as having been
extinguished resulting in the amount
assumed being shown as part of the
non-monetary revenue item described
as ‘Acceptance by the Crown Entity of
Employee Beneﬁts and Other Liabilities’.
Long service leave is measured at present
value in accordance with AASB 119
Employee Beneﬁts. This is based on the
application of certain factors (speciﬁed
in NSWTC 03/08) to employees with
ﬁve or more years of service, using
current rates of pay. These factors were
determined based on an actuarial
review to approximate present value.
The superannuation expense for the
ﬁnancial year is determined by using
the formula speciﬁed in the Treasurer’s
Directions. The expense for certain
superannuation schemes (i.e. Basic Beneﬁt
and First State Super) is calculated as a
percentage of the employees’ salaries.
For other superannuation schemes (i.e.
State Superannuation Scheme and State
Authorities Superannuation Scheme), the
expense is calculated as a multiple of the
employees’ superannuation contributions.
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Ofﬁce of Sydney Olympic Park Authority

Notes to the Financial Statements
Notes

2006
$’000

2005
$’000

11,393
285
756
288
165
876
13,763

11,914
318
861
547
204
900
14,744

285
288
17
590

1,192
547
19
1,758

1,771
1,771

1,492
1,492

221
221

222
222

460
460

149
149

1,204
328
1,532

1,234
331
1,565

1,311
221
460
1,992

1,343
222
149
1,714

2. EXPENSES
Employee Related Expenses
Salaries and wages (including recreation leave)
Superannuation – deﬁned beneﬁt plans
Superannuation – deﬁned contribution plans
Long service leave
Workers’ compensation insurance
Payroll tax and fringe beneﬁt tax

3. ACCEPTANCE BY THE CROWN ENTITY OF EMPLOYEE BENEFITS AND OTHER LIABILITIES
The following liabilities and/or expenses have been assumed by the Crown Entity:
Superannuation
Long service leave
Payroll tax on superannuation

4. CURRENT/NON CURRENT ASSETS – RECEIVABLES
(a) Current Receivables
Receivable Sydney Olympic Park Authority
(b) Non Current Receivables
Receivable Sydney Olympic Park Authority

5. CURRENT LIABILITIES – PAYABLES

Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs

6

6. CURRENT/NON CURRENT LIABILITIES – PROVISIONS
Employee Beneﬁts and Related On-costs
Annual leave
Other
Total Provisions
Aggregate Employee Beneﬁts and Related on-costs
Provisions – current
Provisions – non current
Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs
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Ofﬁce of Sydney Olympic Park Authority

Notes to the Financial Statements
Notes

2006
$’000

2005
$’000

0

0

7. RECONCILIATION OF CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
TO NET COST OF SERVICES
Net Cash Used on Operating Activities
Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee
beneﬁts and other liabilities
(Increase)/decrease in receivables
(Decrease)/increase in payables
(Decrease)/increase in employee provisions
Net Cost of Services

3

590
(278)
311
(33)
590

1,758
(702)
405
297
1,758

8. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Cash
The Ofﬁce does not have a separate bank facility but uses the bank facility of Sydney Olympic Park Authority.
Receivables
The amounts receivable from Sydney Olympic Park Authority are recognised at
balance date. The carrying amount approximates to fair value.
Bank Overdraft
The Ofﬁce does not have a bank overdraft facility.
Trade Creditors and Accruals
The liabilities are recognised for amounts due to be paid in the future for goods and services received, whether or not invoiced.

9. CHANGES IN EQUITY
Balance at the beginning of the ﬁnancial year
Total

0
0

0
0

Changes in Equity
Surplus/(deﬁcit) for the year
Balance at the End of Financial Year

0
0

0
0

End of Audited Financial Statements
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Parklands Foundation Limited
ABN 35 525 947 012

PARKLANDS FOUNDATION LIMITED
Directors’ Report

The Directors present their report together
with the ﬁnancial report of:
Parklands Foundation Limited, for the
period ended 30 June 2006.
These reports are presented in compliance
with the Corporations Act 2001.
Directors
The names and particulars of Parklands Foundation Limited
Directors during and until the date of this report are as follows:
Name
Peter J. Duncan

Particulars
Chairman, appointed 16 May 2005
Non-Executive Director.

Penelope J. Figgis

Director, appointed 16 May 2005
Non-Executive.

David T. Richmond AO

Director, appointed 16 May 2005
Non-Executive.

Principal Activities
The principal activities of Parklands Foundation Limited
(‘the Foundation’), during the year consisted of:
(a) help protect and enhance the diversity of distinctly
Australian and natural settings forming the natural
environment of the 432 hectares of pristine woodlands,
rare saltmarshes and mangroves, of Aboriginal
signiﬁcance and of historic naval importance,
forming the Parklands at Sydney Olympic Park;
(b) help protect, maintain and improve the Parklands
and promote their environmental, recreational,
historical, scientiﬁc, educational and cultural value;
(c) provide information and education, and support research,
about the Parklands and their environmental, recreational,
historical, scientiﬁc, educational and cultural values;
(d) establish and maintain a public fund to be called the
Parklands Fund for the speciﬁc purpose of supporting
the environmental objects of the Foundation;
(e) encourage and promote charitable, educational
and cultural purposes and to assist any public
hospital and any medical or scientiﬁc research;
(f) assist the underprivileged and disadvantaged; and
(g) assist any community service purpose.
Independence Declaration by Auditor
The auditor’s independence declaration is attached.

Review of Result of Operations
The revenue for the ﬁnancial year was $1,591,000.
Net Surplus
The net surplus was $1,497,000.
Changes in State of Affairs
There was no change in the state of affairs for the ﬁnancial year.
Meeting of Directors
The number of Directors’ meetings held during
the year and the number of meetings attended
by each Director during the year were:
Board

Peter J. Duncan

Number Eligible Number attended

Penelope J. Figgis

David T. Richmond, AO

5

5

5

5

5

Events Subsequent to Balance Date
There have been no matter or circumstance other than
that referred to above or in the ﬁnancial statements
or notes thereto, that has arisen since the end of the
ﬁnancial year, that has signiﬁcantly affected the operations,
or the state of the entity in future ﬁnancial years.
Future Developments
In the opinion of the Directors there are no likely developments
in the operations of the entity, which will adversely affect
the results of the entity in future ﬁnancial years.
Indemniﬁcation of Ofﬁcers and Auditors
Parklands Foundation Limited pays a premium in respect
of a contract insuring the Directors of the Foundation and
executive ofﬁcers of the Foundation against liabilities incurred
as a Director or executive ofﬁcer to the extent permitted by
the Corporations Act 2001. The contract of insurance prohibits
disclosure of the liability and the amount of the premium.
The Foundation has not otherwise, during or since the
ﬁnancial year, indemniﬁed or agreed to indemnify an ofﬁcer
or auditor of the Foundation, or of any related body corporate
against a liability incurred as such an ofﬁcer or auditor.
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors made
pursuant to Section 298 (2) of the Corporations Act 2001.
On behalf of the Directors

Peter Duncan
Chairman
Sydney, 9 October 2006

Tel: +61 2 9714 7940 Fax: +61 2 9714 7151 ABN 35 525 947 012 7 Figtree Drive, Sydney Olympic Park NSW 2127
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Parklands Foundation Limited
ABN 35 525 947 012

PARKLANDS FOUNDATION LIMITED
Directors’ Declaration

The Directors declare that:
(a) the attached ﬁnancial statements and notes thereto comply with Accounting Standards and
Corporations Regulations 2001; and
(b) the attached ﬁnancial statements and notes thereto give a true and fair view of the ﬁnancial
position as at 30 June 2006 and performance for the period ended on that date of the Parklands
Foundation; and
(c) in the directors’ opinion, the attached ﬁnancial statements and notes thereto are in accordance
with the Corporations Act 2001, the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983, the Public Finance and Audit
Regulation and the Treasurer’s directions; and
(d) in the directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Parklands Foundation will
be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable; and
(e) as at the date of this Declaration, we are not aware of any circumstances that would render any
particulars included in the ﬁnancial report misleading or inaccurate.
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors made pursuant to Section 295 (5) of the
Corporations Act 2001.
On behalf of the Directors

Peter Duncan
Chairman

David Richmond
Director

Penelope Figgis
Director

Sydney, 9 October 2006

Sydney, 9 October 2006

Sydney, 9 October 2006

Tel: +61 2 9714 7940 Fax: +61 2 9714 7151 ABN 35 525 947 012 7 Figtree Drive, Sydney Olympic Park NSW 2127
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INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT

GPO BOX 12
Sydney NSW 2001

PARKLANDS FOUNDATION LIMITED
To Members of the New South Wales Parliament and Parklands Foundation Limited

Audit Opinion

In my opinion, the ﬁnancial report of the Parklands Foundation Limited (the Foundation) is in accordance with:
• the Corporations Act 2001, including:
• giving a true and fair view of the Foundation’s ﬁnancial position as at 30 June
2006 and its performance for the period ended on that date, and
• complying with Accounting Standards in Australia and the Corporations Regulations 2001,
• other mandatory ﬁnancial reporting requirements in Australia, and
• section 41B of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 (the PF&A Act) and the Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2005.
My opinion should be read in conjunction with the rest of this report.

Scope
The Financial Report and Directors’ Responsibility

The ﬁnancial report comprises the balance sheet, operating statement, statement of changes in equity, cash ﬂow statement,
accompanying notes to the ﬁnancial statements and directors’ declaration for the Foundation, for the period ended 30 June 2006.
The directors of the Foundation are responsible for the preparation and true and fair presentation of the ﬁnancial
report in accordance with both the PF&A Act and the Corporations Act 2001. This includes responsibility for the
maintenance of adequate accounting records and internal controls that are designed to prevent and detect fraud
and error, and for the accounting policies and accounting estimates inherent in the ﬁnancial report.

Audit Approach

I conducted an independent audit in order to express an opinion on the ﬁnancial report. My audit provides reasonable assurance
to Members of the New South Wales Parliament and the members of the Foundation that the ﬁnancial report is free of material
misstatement.
My audit accorded with Australian Auditing Standards and statutory requirements, and I:
• assessed the appropriateness of the accounting policies and disclosures used and the reasonableness of signiﬁcant accounting
estimates made by the directors in preparing the ﬁnancial report, and
• examined a sample of evidence that supports the amounts and disclosures in the ﬁnancial report.
An audit does not guarantee that every amount and disclosure in the ﬁnancial report is error free. The terms ‘reasonable assurance’
and ‘material’ recognise that an audit does not examine all evidence and transactions. However, the audit procedures used should
identify errors or omissions signiﬁcant enough to adversely affect decisions made by users of the ﬁnancial report or indicate that the
Foundation’s directors had not fulﬁlled their reporting obligations.
My opinion does not provide assurance:
• about the future viability of the Foundation,
• that it has carried out its activities effectively, efﬁciently and economically, or
• about the effectiveness of its internal controls.

Audit Independence

The Audit Ofﬁce complies with all applicable independence requirements of Australian professional ethical pronouncements and
the Corporations Act 2001. The PF&A Act further promotes independence by:
• providing that only Parliament, and not the executive government, can remove an Auditor-General, and
• mandating the Auditor-General as auditor of public sector agencies but precluding the provision of non-audit services, thus
ensuring the Auditor-General and the Audit Ofﬁce are not compromised in their role by the possibility of losing clients or income.
My Declaration of Independence dated 6 October 2006 would have been made on the same terms if it had been made at the date of
this report.

P J Boulous CA

Director, Financial Audit Services
SYDNEY
12 October 2006
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Parklands Operating Statement
for the year ending 30 June 2006

2006
$’000

Notes

Expenses Excluding Losses
Operating expenses
Employee related
Other operating expenses
Total Expenses Excluding Losses

2(a)
2(b)

87
7
94

3(a)
3(b)

1
1,590
1,591

Less:
Revenue
Investment revenue
Grants and contributions
Total Revenue
Net Cost of Services

7

(1,497)

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD
FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES

9

1,497

The accompanying notes form part of these statements.

Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ending 30 June 2006

Notes

Surplus/(deﬁcit) for the period
TOTAL INCOME AND EXPENSE RECOGNISED FOR THE PERIOD

2006
$’000

1,497
9

1,497

The accompanying notes form part of these statements.
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Balance Sheet
as at 30 June 2006

Notes

2006
$’000

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Total Assets

4
5

1,491
9
1,500

6

3
3

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables
Total Liabilities
Net Assets

EQUITY

Accumulated funds
Total Equity

1,497
7

1,497
1,497

The accompanying notes form part of these statements.

Cash Flow Statement
for the year ending 30 June 2006

Notes

2006
$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employee related
Other
Total Payments

(84)
(16)
(100)

Receipts
Interest received
Other
Total Receipts
NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

1
1,590
1,591
7

1,491

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH

1,491

Opening Cash and Cash Equivalents

–

CLOSING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
The accompanying notes form part of these statements.
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Parklands Foundation

Notes to the Financial Statements
1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Reporting Entity
Parklands Foundation Limited (the
Foundation), a public company limited
by guarantee, was incorporated in New
South Wales under the Corporations
Act 2001 on 16 May 2005. Sydney
Olympic Park Authority is the only
member of the Foundation.
This is the ﬁrst ﬁnancial report of the
Foundation for the period from 16 May
2005 to 30 June 2006. The ﬁnancial
statements were authorised by the
Board of Directors on 9 October 2006.
(b) Parklands Fund
Parklands Fund (the Fund) was
established with the objective of
supporting the environmental objects of
the Foundation and to invite and receive
all gifts of money or property to the Fund
for the environmental objects of the
Foundation. The Fund must be operated
on a not-for-proﬁt basis. There were no
transactions for the Fund for the period.
(c) Income Recognition
Income is measured at the fair value
of the consideration or contribution
received or receivable. Interest revenue is
recognised as interest accrues, taking into
account the yield on the ﬁnancial asset.

(d) Employee Beneﬁts
(i) Salaries and Wages, Annual
Leave, Sick Leave and On-Costs
Liabilities for salaries and wages
(including non-monetary beneﬁts),
annual leave and paid sick leave that
fall due wholly within 12 months of
the reporting date are recognised and
measured in respect of employees’
services up to the reporting date at
undiscounted amounts based on
the amounts expected to be paid
when the liabilities are settled.
Unused non-vesting sick leave does
not give rise to a liability as it is not
considered probable that sick leave
taken in the future will be greater than
the beneﬁts accrued in the future.
The outstanding amounts of payroll
tax, workers’ compensation insurance
premiums and fringe beneﬁts tax, which
are consequential to employment, are
recognised as liabilities and expenses
where the employee beneﬁts to which
they relate have been recognised.
(ii) Long Service Leave
Long service leave is measured at present
value in accordance with AASB 119
Employee Beneﬁts. This is based on the
application of certain factors (speciﬁed
in NSWTC 03/08) to employees with
ﬁve or more years of service, using
current rates of pay. These factors were
determined based on an actuarial
review to approximate present value.

(e) Accounting for the Goods
and Services Tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets
are recognised net of the amount
of GST except where:
•

the amount of GST incurred by the
Foundation as a purchaser that is
not recoverable from the Australian
Taxation Ofﬁce is recognised as part
of the cost of acquisition of an asset
or as part of an item of expense

•

receivables and payables are stated
with the amount of GST included.

(f) Payables
These amounts represent liabilities
for goods and services provided to the
Foundation and other amounts, including
interest. Interest is accrued over the
period it becomes due. Payables are
recognised initially at fair value, usually
based on the transaction cost or face
value. Subsequent measurement is
at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. Short-term payables
with no stated interest rate are measured
at the original invoice amount where
the effect of discounting is immaterial.

(iii) Superannuation
The deﬁned superannuation expense
for the ﬁnancial year is the deﬁned
contribution superannuation,
calculated as a percentage of
the employees’ salaries.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
2006
$’000

Notes

2. EXPENSES EXCLUDING LOSSES
(a) Employee Related Expenses
Salaries and wages (including recreation leave)
Superannuation – deﬁned contribution plans
Payroll tax and fringe beneﬁt tax

79
3
5
87

(b) Other Operating Expenses
Administration

7
7

3. REVENUE
(a) Investment Revenue
Interest on bank

1
1

(b) Grants and Contributions
Sydney Olympic Park Authority
Department of Education

175
1,415
1,590

4. CURRENT ASSETS – CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash at bank and on hand

1,491
1,491

Cash and cash equivalent assets recognised in the Balance Sheet are reconciled
at the end of the ﬁnancial year to the Cash Flow Statement as follows:
Cash and cash equivalents (per Balance Sheet)
Closing cash and cash equivalents (per Cash Flow Statement)

1,491
1,491

5. CURRENT RECEIVABLES
Current receivables
GST receivable

6. CURRENT LIABILITIES – PAYABLES

Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs

7. RECONCILIATION OF CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES TO NET COST OF SERVICES

Net cash used on operating activities
Increase/(decrease) in receivables
Decrease/(increase) in payables
Net Cost of Services
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9
7

3
3
1,491
9
(3)
1,497

Parklands Foundation

Notes to the Financial Statements
2006
$’000

Notes

8. Financial Instruments
Financial Assets Category
Cash and cash equivalents

4

1,491
1,491

Cash

Cash comprises cash on hand and bank balances within the Treasury Banking System. Interest is earned on daily bank balances at
the monthly average NSW Treasury Corporation (TCorp) 11.00am unofﬁcial cash rate adjusted for a management fee to Treasury.

9. Changes In Equity
Balance at the beginning of the ﬁnancial period
Total

–
–

Changes in Equity
Surplus/(deﬁcit) for the period
Balance at the End of Financial Period

1,497
1,497

End of Audited Financial Statements
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Appendices
Appendix A – Financial

Funds Granted to Non-Government
Community Organisations
During 2005–06, funds were granted
to Multiple Sclerosis Ltd ($250),
United Indian Association Inc ($7,000)
and North Ryde Rotary ($680).

Economic or Other Factors Affecting
Achievement of Operational Objectives
There were no signiﬁcant economic or
other factors affecting the achievement
of operational objectives during the
reporting year. The local market for
residential development remains ﬂat
which will delay commencement of
residential development at Sydney
Olympic Park. A reasonable commercial
ofﬁce market has helped the Park
secure a signiﬁcant tenant for the
town centre commercial sites.

Disclosure of Controlled Entities
Controlled entities held by Sydney
Olympic Park Authority during the
reporting year include the Parklands
Foundation and the Ofﬁce of the
Sydney Olympic Park Authority.

Payment Performance Indicators
Trade Creditors Age Analysis At the End of Each Quarter
Current
(within due date)

Less than
30 days overdue

Between
31 & 60 days
overdue

Between
61 & 90 days
overdue

More than
90 days overdue

$

$

$

$

$

At 30 September 2005

397,415

129,583

116

0

4,549

At 31 December 2005

483,013

108,161

2,977

0

0

9,147

18,405

0

0

712

0

0

0

1,232

0

Quarter Ended

At 31 March 2006
At 30 June 2006

Trade Creditors Accounts Paid On Time Within Each Quarter
Accounts Paid
on Time
Target%

Accounts Paid
on Time
Actual%

Amount Paid
on Time
$’000

Total Amount Paid
$’000

At 30 September 2005

95

94

22,602

23,132

At 31 December 2005

95

91

19,952

20,740

At 31 March 2006

95

91

36,602

37,602

At 30 June 2006

95

92

27,214

28,456

Quarter Ended

No suppliers requested or were reasonably entitled to penalty interest for the year.
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Risk Management
In 2005–06 the Authority began a review
of its Risk Management and Insurance
Policy, Business Continuity Plan and Risk
Management Manual. This review will
be completed in 2006–07 and revised
documents will be made available to
all Authority staff electronically.
New Incidents/Claims and
Subsequent Action
The Authority proactively manages
its risks, but incidents do occur from
time to time and the Authority
responds positively and promptly to
them. During 2005–06 the Authority
received some 11 liability incident
reports and some 15 incidents of
damage to Authority property. The
majority of these incidents are minor
but several are worthy of comment:
•

On 6 November 2005, a heavy duty
forklift being driven on the wrong
side of the road in the early hours
of the morning demolished a major
overhead sign. Damage is estimated
at around $50,000 and a claim
has been accepted by the Treasury
Managed Fund (TMF). The movements
of the forklift were captured on CCTV
and there are excellent prospects of
recovery from the at-fault parties

•

Between November 2005 and January
2006, Sydney Olympic Park was
subjected to a number of lightning
strikes and a signiﬁcant power surge.
Damage amounted to some $65,000

•

Early in 2006, damage was discovered
at two lighting towers in the Athletics
Centre. The damage had been
caused by cockatoos. The Authority
has indicated to the TMF that it is
seeking some $245,000 for repairs

•

Vandalism and grafﬁti incidents are
increasing and a number of claims
have been lodged with the TMF.

Risk Management Issues
In 2005–06, the Authority’s Risk Manager
continued to advise other divisions on
risk issues and implement policies and
procedures to minimise the Authority’s
risks. The Authority’s Audit Committee
was provided with details of incidents
and claims including a report by
management of any instances of noncompliance in the areas of occupational
health and safety, building and
development compliance, environmental
obligations and public safety.

During the year, the Authority acquired
the KnowRisk risk management software
application, which provided a framework
for the identiﬁcation and management
of risks. Following a major review of the
Authority’s indemnity and insurance
clauses in contracts/agreements, plans
are underway for the implementation
of a process for tracking and verifying
the insurance arrangements of suppliers
and other third parties as a major
element in reducing the Authority’s
exposure to contractor risks. It is
proposed that this system will be fully
operational in the ﬁrst half of 2006–07.
Treasury Managed Fund Charges
The Authority’s deposit premium to the
Treasury Managed Fund (self-insurance
arrangement) was $947,660 for 2005–06,
a 15.3% reduction on the previous year.
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Appendix B – Statutory Reports
Legal Changes
As a consequence of amendments
to the Public Sector Employment
Legislation Amendment Act 2006,
amendments were made to the
Sydney Olympic Park Authority Act
in relation to employment powers.
Signiﬁcant Committees
Audit and Compliance Committee
Addressed ﬁnancial accounting,
reporting and internal controls
and compliance issues. Gabrielle
Kibble (Chair), David Richmond,
Chris Christodoulou, John Coates.

Planning and Development Committee
Reviewed and evaluated strategic and
planning initiatives and development
proposals for Sydney Olympic Park. David
Richmond (Chair), Gabrielle Kibble, John
Coates, Jack Cowin, Brian Newman.

Parklands Advisory Committee
Made recommendations to the Board
regarding care, control and management
of the parklands at Sydney Olympic
Park. Penelope Figgis (Chair), David
Richmond, Brian Newman, Catherin
Bull, Peter Duncan, Tony Fleming
(represented by Geoff Luscombe/Bob
Conroy), Leigh Martin, Irene Simms.
Access Advisory Committee
Advised on the assessment and
management of access to Sydney
Olympic Park by people with a
disability. Jean Halcrow (Chair), Ann
Gibson, Glenn Redmayne, Luisa
Ferronato, Digby Hughes, John Cormack
(withdrew November 2005).
Education Reference Panel
Provided independent conceptual
and strategic advice to the Board and
assisted the Authority to achieve its
business objectives for education.
Warren Grimshaw (Chair), David
Mazitelli, Kate Gunn, Graeme Watts,
Ross Milbourne, Mary Lynne Pidcock.

Design Review Panel
Provided an independent review of
design proposals and the design process
to achieve a cohesive, safe and legible
public domain. Peter Mould (Chair),
Catherin Bull, Philip Thalis, Petulia Samios,
Darlene van der Breggan, James Weirick.
Arts Development Advisory Committee
Assists the Board in ensuring that
arts and culture play a key role in the
development of the town by providing
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independent and expert strategic
advice. Lex Marinos (Chair), Angelo
Loukakis, Julian Knowles, Dick Letts,
Fergus Linehan, Leon Parossien, Tiffany
Lee-Shoy, Kim Spinks, Christine Burton.
Equal Employment Opportunity
Equal Employment Opportunity
achievements in 2005–06:
• The establishment of an Employee
Assistance Program ensured
that all staff (and members of
their immediate family) had 24/7
access to a no-cost conﬁdential
counselling service to work
through issues impacting on
their working and personal life
• Support of the Staff Wellbeing
Committee which undertook
work on Staff Recognition
and Rewards, ﬂexible working
arrangements, and improved
access to information for staff
• Participation in the Corporate
Partners for Change Program,
an initiative of the Ofﬁce of the
Minister for Western Sydney. The
program combines structured
learning through TAFE with a work
placement to assist disadvantaged
people to enter or rejoin the
workforce. The Authority arranged
for the placement of a hearing
impaired person in the program
• A bi-monthly internal Human
Resource Management Bulletin
providing succinct information on
effective human resources practices
was circulated to all staff. Its purpose
was to promote discussion among
staff and managers to improve
the workplace for all staff
• The Authority’s Young Professionals
Group was provided with
opportunities for engagement
in work related projects with
a view to broadening their
experience and skill sets
• Completion of the Aboriginal
History and Connections program
– a study of Aboriginal connections
to and identiﬁcation of past
uses and users of the site
• Flexible working arrangements were
approved, including part-time work,
working from home and a variety of
arrangements for family reasons

•

•

•

•
•

The Access Advisory Committee,
which included representatives
of peak disability groups
and the Authority, met
regularly during the year
Exit questionnaires were undertaken
and provided staff with the
opportunity to give feedback
on a range of organisational
issues including equity, career
progression and communication
Opportunities were made available
for all staff to attend events
within the precinct. A ballot was
held when demand exceeded the
number of tickets available
Various committees contain
EEO group representation
Literature and posters were
displayed to promote diversity,
access and equity issues.

See Appendix D for information
on trends in representation and
distribution of EEO groups.
Initiatives Planned for 2006–07
• Provide all staff with access
to international management
literature to enhance performance
and career development
• Implementation of a Recognition
and Rewards Program
• Implementation of enhanced and
ﬂexible working arrangements
• Progression of an agency intranet
to ensure staff have easy access to
important corporate information
• Audit of Performance Management
System to ensure equity and
consistency of application
and compliance with the
Authority's requirements
• Review of the operation of the
Employee Assistance Program
• Review of corporate policies in relation
to the application of equity principles.
Disability Action Plan
The Department of Ageing, Disability
and Home Care requires all Government
agencies to prepare a Disability Action Plan
that meets the requirements of Section
nine of the Disability Services Act 1993.
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At Sydney Olympic Park, the Authority
seeks to ensure that all people can
participate in activities with dignity
and equity. This year a new Disability
Action Plan 2006–08 (DAP) was
prepared by the Authority and endorsed
by its Access Advisory Committee in
March 2006. It identiﬁes measurable
actions in areas considered to have the
greatest potential to improve access
in the provision of public services at
the Park. The DAP is managed by the
Sustainability Unit which coordinates its
promotion, dissemination, monitoring
and measurement, and evaluation.
As well as preparing the DAP,
in 2005–06 the Authority:
• Installed a Liberty Swing (swing
for wheelchair users) at the Village
Green, Bicentennial Park. The swing
was gifted to the Authority by
Variety, The Children’s Charity
• Sponsored the International
Day of People with a Disability,
Special Children's Christmas Party
and the Sydney International
Wheelchair Tennis Open
• Received a presentation from
Standards Australia on updates to the
various disability access standards
• Updated tactual maps for
visitors to the Park
• Carried out an extensive review of
the former Olympic Co-ordination
Authority 'Achieving Access' website
• Held a ﬁeld trip to view accessible
facilities throughout the Park
• Reviewed and endorsed new Sydney
Olympic Park developments
• Continued implementation of the
Human Resources Policy requiring
the mainstreaming of employment
for people with disabilities.
NSW Government Action Plan
for Women
The following actions have been
taken in relation to the objectives
in the Action Plan for Women:
• A new Women’s Liaison Ofﬁcer
was appointed for the Authority
following a vacancy in the position
• Spokeswomens' elections were
conducted and appointments made.
The new spokeswomen attended the
Spokeswoman Induction Program

•
•
•
•

•

•

•
•

Staff attended the Women in
the Public Sector Conference
A morning tea was arranged
to coincide with International
Women’s Day
Women received more than 50% of
the ﬁnancial assistance provided
to staff for tertiary study
A number of young women
attended the Institute of Public
Administration Australia’s Young
Professionals Breakfast
Two international female students
(from Germany and France) were
provided with a three-month
internship to complete a workplacebased project as part of their studies
Flexible working arrangements
were introduced to assist
women who balance family
and work responsibilities
Women continue to have
representation on major
committees and working groups
Work experience opportunities are
provided across a range of areas for
female tertiary and school students.

Ethnic Affairs Priorities Statement
The Authority attaches high priority
to the promotion of cultural
diversity. Initiatives undertaken
during 2005–06 were:
• Worked collaboratively with Auburn
Council to stage Australia Day 2006
Celebrations and a Citizenship
Ceremony at the Park which was
attended by the Governor. The
celebrations featured food, music
and performance contributions
from a number of cultural groups
• Supported a Harmony Day
celebration featuring cultural
song and dance in March 2006,
with a local Language College
• Hosted part of the Sydney
International Children’s Cultural and
Arts Festival involving over 1,000
performers from 15 countries
• Attended the Auburn Migrant
Resource Centre Open Day which
brought together service providers
in the local community
• Partnered with Macquarie
University to place six students
from three countries (Germany,
Switzerland, France) in a threemonth internship program

•

•

•
•

•

•
•

•

•

Worked on awareness campaigns
with the ethnic media to ensure
community members have access
to information and products
offered at Sydney Olympic Park
Hosted and supported cultural
events/celebrations including
Bangladeshi New Year, the IndiaAustralia Friendship Fair, the Brazilian
Ritmo Festival, the Deepavali Fair,
and Eid and Ramadan celebrations.
These events helped strengthen
the Park’s standing as a major
centre for cultural festivities
Hosted and supported a Refugee
Christmas Party organised by the
Anglican Diocese of Sydney
Hosted the monthly Boulevard
Markets which showcase
multicultural food, art and
craft and are promoted widely
in the ethnic media
Supported the Australia vs Uruguay
Soccer World Cup Qualiﬁer with
appropriately themed event
extensions featuring a strong
South American focus
Programmed Chinese, Japanese
and French language ﬁlms in the
Park’s ﬁlm season in The Overﬂow
Showcased Sydney's Uruguayan
Community through a live cross from
Uruguay to Sydney Olympic Park
as part of a series of international
live crosses featuring Uruguayan
communities throughout the world
Ensured local communities were
informed about leisure, sporting,
and cultural activities/events at
Sydney Olympic Park through the
'What’s On?' publication which
has a subscription database
of around 25,000 people
Reﬂected the general diversity
within the community within
the Authority's own workforce.

Initiatives Planned for 2006–07
• Sydney Olympic Park will host part
of the Maccabi Games in July 2006
including a Memorial Ceremony
for athletes and ofﬁcials who
died at the Munich Olympics
• Carols by the Cauldron for
Christmas 2006 will incorporate
a stronger multicultural focus
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•

•
•
•

The Authority will continue to seek
and support the staging of major
ethnic community events, festivals
and celebrations within the Park
The Boulevard Market will
continue to provide a rich variety
of cultural experiences
The Authority will continue to engage
with local ethnic communities
and use the ethnic media
The Authority will again host
an Australia Day 2007 event
in partnership with Auburn
Council, celebrating the diversity
of the local community.

Occupational Health and Safety
Health Promotion
An online health assessment facility
was implemented. This provided
staff with a conﬁdential personalised
assessment of their ‘health age’ and a
list of personal risk factors, along with
advice on measures to reduce health
risks. Following on from this, lunchtime
health forums by health experts were
delivered to staff on issues such as back
care, smoking and stress management.
An Employee Assistance Program
was established which provides staff
and members of their immediate
family with access to a no-cost
conﬁdential counseling service on
a 24-hour 7-day (24/7) basis.
The Authority arranged onsite Inﬂuenza
vaccinations for interested staff to
protect employee health and minimise
disruptions to the workplace through
absenteeism. Tetanus and Hepatitis B
immunisations and skin cancer checks
were also provided for employees in
higher risk occupational categories.
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Injury Record
No signiﬁcant injuries were
recorded during the year, and no
formal return to work programs
were required to be developed.
OH&S Committee
The Authority’s Occupational Health
and Safety Committee and Occupational
Health and Safety Management
Coordination Committee met on a
bi-monthly basis during the year.
An independent OH&S audit of the
Authority’s premises was conducted and
minor adjustments were implemented.
Regular emergency and safety warden
training was conducted, emergency
plans were updated, and evacuation
drills carried out for all premises.
The Authority’s Staff Wellbeing
Committee (comprising representatives
from each area of the organisation)
completed its ﬁrst year of operation.
The Committee seeks feedback
from employees on staff welfare,
amenity and general wellbeing and
facilitates feedback between staff
and management on these issues.
Industrial Relations
There were no industrial disputes during
the year. The Authority maintains positive
open communication with the Public
Service Association (PSA). During the
Easter Show period normal working
arrangements were suspended for a
small number of people and replaced
by a seven-day cycle of rostered shifts.
Industrial arrangements as agreed
with the PSA provide the Authority
with the ﬂexibility needed to meet
the extraordinary demands of the
Show period. Staff were appropriately
compensated for these arrangements.

The Authority also consulted with
the PSA on the establishment of the
Parklands Foundation Limited and
proposed stafﬁng arrangements.
The staff of the Sydney Olympic Park
Aquatic and Athletic Centres are to
transfer from the Sydney Cricket and
Sports Ground Trust to a new Division
of Government employment from
1 July 2006. The Authority ensured staff
were fully informed of the details and
consulted with the Australian Workers
Union in relation to the transfer.
Salary Award increases during the year
were in line with the Crown Employees
(Public Sector – Salaries 2004) Award.
Guarantee of Service
Sydney Olympic Park Authority aims for
consistent excellence in the provision
of information and customer services
based on integrity, professionalism,
respect, timeliness and openness.
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Appendix C – Capital Works, Land Disposal and Revaluation of Investment Properties
Major Capital Works
During 2005–06, key capital works projects were undertaken throughout the Park. These delivered an important program
of asset replacement and resulted in signiﬁcant improvements to the amenity of the parklands and key infrastructure.
Capital Works Program 2005–06
Project

Description

Master Planning and
Property Development

Preparation of Master Plan 2025 and
works to facilitate major new property
developments at Sydney Olympic Park

Visitor Improvements

Development of Monster Skate Park including
ramps, shop and entertainment lounge

Parklands

•
•
•
•

Completion of the Brickpit Ring Walk
Adaptive re-use of several Armory buildings
to provide residential accommodation
Delivery of a suite of wayﬁnding signage
Commencement of the development of a
new riverside park at Blaxland Common

Completion Date

Cost

June 2006

$651,000

November 2006

$327,000

June 2006

$7,332,000

Asset Replacement

Replacement or renewal of elements of
major assets owned by the Authority
including Aquatic and Athletic Centres

June 2006

$3,858,000

Minor Works

Other projects which support the achievement
of the Authority’s corporate objectives, including
a number of water conservation projects

June 2006

$443,000

Total Capital Works
Program for 2005–06

$12,611,000

Other signiﬁcant initiatives completed with separate funding were:
• Eastern entrance to the railway station
•

Project management services to assist other NSW Government agencies to deliver capital projects. Two projects commenced
in 2005–06 were the Western Sydney Parklands Access Pathways ($4.5 million) for the Department of Planning and the
upgrading of Jenkins Hall at Lane Cove National Park ($1.5 million) for the Department of Environment and Conservation.

Revaluation of Investment Properties
Revaluation of the Authority’s investment properties valued at $21.987 million was completed during 2005–06.
Land Disposal
There were no land disposal activities in 2005–06.
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Appendix D – Stafﬁng Overview

Code of Conduct
Sydney Olympic Park Authority
and its staff are bound by the
requirements of the Public Sector
Employment and Management
Act 2002, the Authority’s Code of
Conduct and other relevant legislation
applying to public employment.
Human Resources
For more information on activities to
support and develop staff at Sydney
Olympic Park see Equal Employment
Opportunity; Disability Action Plan; NSW
Government Action Plan for Women;
Ethnic Affairs Priorities Statement;
Occupational Health and Safety; and
Industrial Relations; in Appendix B.
Recruitment and Training
Recruitment continued to be a
signiﬁcant activity in aligning the
Authority’s structure with its emerging
and evolving needs and 17 positions
were advertised. During the year, staff
attended a variety of training courses,
seminars and conferences that reﬂected
the occupational and functional
diversity within the organisation.
One staff member undertook
the Graduate Diploma in Public
Administration as part of the NSW
Government’s Executive Development
Program. One employee was selected
to participate in the Earthwatch
Fellowship Program which provided
an opportunity to undertake a ﬁeld
research project involving Hawksbill
Turtles on the Great Barrier Reef.
Earthwatch is a global environmental,
not-for-proﬁt organisation that supports
sustainable conservation research.
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Performance of Executive Ofﬁcers
Mr Brian Newman
Chief Executive Ofﬁcer
Chief Executive Service, Level 7
Period in Position: Full Year

•

The calling of expressions of interest
from educational and training
providers to establish facilities
and programs at Sydney Olympic
Park. The request for detailed
proposals provided the Authority
with a number of innovative
commercial proposals, which are
currently under consideration

•

Implementation of the Arts and
Culture Strategy and Creative
Community initiatives through
establishment of an Artists in
Residence studio space, and the
successful hosting of events and
exhibitions such as ArtExpress,
Acoustica at the Armory, Electra
Grafﬁti and The Great Escape
music and arts festival

•

Establishing the Authority’s lead role
in a consortium proposal to secure
funding of up to $15 million from the
Australian Greenhouse Ofﬁce (AGO)
to implement energy efﬁciency and
sustainability initiatives under its
Solar Cites Program. The consortium’s
Brighter Future proposal has been
shortlisted by the AGO. A decision is
expected in the second half of 2006

•

The opening of the Monster Skate
Park and the Monster Mountain
X facility catering for BMX riders,
inline skating and mountain bikes
strengthened the action sports
product offering at Sydney Olympic
Park and will assist in positioning
the Park as the premier place in
Australia for action sports

•

A program of signature events
was developed and delivered.
These included Kids in the Park,
Short Soup cinema, Carols by
the Cauldron, Movies in The
Overﬂow, Music by Moonlight,
and Australia Day celebrations

•

Implementation of new visitor
experience initiatives resulting
in improved amenities and new
leisure opportunities. These included
installation of an accessible
‘Liberty Swing’, two outdoor
chess boards, two double boule’s
courts, a half court basketball
court and synthetic cricket pitch

The Minister and Chairman reported
that Mr Newman performed to
a high level in 2005–06.
The Chief Executive Ofﬁcer
oversaw and progressed initiatives,
actions and strategies in keeping
with the organisation’s goal of
developing and maintaining a
world class integrated township.
These extended across a range of
disciplines and activities including
urban and parklands planning and
design, property development, place
management, business development,
sustainability initiatives, marketing and
communications, visitor experience,
and event development and delivery.
Signiﬁcant outcomes/achievements
during the year included:
•

•

•

Effective management of
$1.5 billion of assets and the
Authority’s operating budget
of $61.5 million. The targeted increase
in revenue as a percentage of
operating expenditure was achieved
Progression of the Sydney Olympic
Park Master Plan 2025 to the ﬁnal
stages of completion involved
developing some key strategies:
A Public Domain Strategy, a
Development Strategy, an Urban
Design Strategy, a Transport Strategy,
and a Town Plan of Management
Execution of contractual arrangements
and commitments for major
developments within the Park. This
included two additional hotels (the
5-star Soﬁtel and 2-star Formule 1)
and the ﬁnal stages of negotiations
with Colonial First State Property for
the development of four sites which
will result in the Commonwealth Bank
of Australia (CBA) locating up to 5,000
of its staff to Sydney Olympic Park by
2009. The CBA proposal also involves
a retail development strategy and the
provision of facilities that will broadly
beneﬁt the Park’s workforce
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•

•

•

•

Arrangements for the transfer of
staff and operational responsibility
for the Sydney Olympic Park
Aquatic and Athletic Centres was
completed. Operational management
was previously provided by
the Sydney Cricket and Sports
Ground Trust under an Operator’s
Agreement with the Authority
Completion of a program of
signiﬁcant capital works within
budget, including Blaxland Riverside
Park and Newington Armory Wharf
site works, the Brickpit Ring Walk,
opening of the eastern entrance
of the rail station, and residential
accommodation at the Armory
The development, in partnership
with the Department of Education
and Training, of a geography
learning sequence within the
Parklands Learning Model (PLM).
The PLM will provide student
visitors to the Park with an
interactive learning experience
based on the school curriculum
Implementation of the Active Lifestyle
Program which links Sydney Olympic
Park’s indoor and outdoor venues
with school requirements under
the Personal Development, Health
and Physical Education curriculum
from kindergarten to year 12

•

Visitation levels to Sydney
Olympic Park increased to more
than 7.7 million, up from 6.8
million in the previous year

•

Business events sales growth
of 12% to over $4.1 million

•

Recruitment of an Executive Manager
for the Parklands Foundation Ltd,
and operational support during
the Foundation’s start-up phase

•

Consolidation and strengthening of
business and working relationships
with Park stakeholders including
venue operators, the Sydney Olympic
Park Business Association, local, state
and federal Governments, sporting
bodies, environmental organisations,
and education providers.

Mr Terry Martin
Executive Director, Property
Senior Executive Service, Level 5
Period in Position: Full Year
The Chief Executive Ofﬁcer reported that
Mr Martin performed to a competent
level in 2005–06 and progressed a
number of signiﬁcant initiatives in
relation to property development and
planning that are integral to the future
development of Sydney Olympic Park.
These included the conclusion of
two hotel transactions and the
initiation of land sales processes for
17 commercial, education and student
accommodation sites with a land
value of $47 million, and an estimated
value on completion of $690 million.
Signiﬁcant initiatives included:
•

Progression of negotiations
and execution of development
agreements for two additional
buildings for the Commonwealth
Bank, with a development value
of around $160 million. The
development will eventually house
around 5,000 Bank staff and
provide 5,000 m2 of retail facilities

•

The exchange of contracts with
the Accor Group for the combined
development of a $60 million 5–star
Soﬁtel Hotel (20 storey, 212 rooms)
and a $25 million 2–star Formule 1
Hotel (6 storey, 156 rooms). This will
increase total hotel rooms available
within the Park to 700

•

Preparation and packaging for sale
of development opportunities for a
67,000 m2 multi-sector education
campus and student accommodation
facilities at a value of $300 million

•

Preparation and packaging of a
number of sites in and around
the town centre for commercial
ofﬁce development (approximately
35,000 m2) with a development
value of around $125 million

•

Initiation of an expression of interest
process for the development of an
international food venue on The
Overﬂow and bar/bistro facility in
the town centre on the Yulang

•

Strategic development input to
inform the Sydney Olympic Park
Master Plan 2025, particularly
in the ﬁnancial modeling,
infrastructure funding plan, and
implementation strategy areas

•

Management of the delivery
of development projects
and construction phase
development approval

•

Promoting development
opportunities at Sydney Olympic
Park to signiﬁcant development
industry stakeholders

•

Promoting ofﬁce and retail leasing
opportunities within developments to
secure necessary pre-commitments.
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Senior Executive Services (SES) Stafﬁng Proﬁle
SES Level

Males as at 30/6/06

Females as at 30/6/06

Vacant as at 30/6/06

Level 7

1

-

-

Level 5

1

-

-

Level 4

2

-

1

Total

4

-

1

Ofﬁcial Overseas Visits Undertaken by Sydney Olympic Park Authority Employees
Duration

Employee

Destination

Purpose

27/02/06 – 1/03/06

A. Hay

Bangkok

Tourism Australia’s Team Australia Business Events Educational

4/04/06 – 7/04/06

B. Newman
M. Rosenberg

Seoul

SportAccord Annual International Sports Convention

Staff Numbers by Employment Basis

Employment
Basis

Total
Staff Respondents

Men

Women

Aboriginal
People &
Torres Strait
Islanders

People from
Racial, Ethnic,
EthnoReligious
Minority
Groups

People
Whose
Language
First Spoken
as a Child
was not
English

People with
a Disability
Requiring
People with Work-related
a Disability Adjustment

Permanent
Full-time

106

99

62

44

1

11

12

3

0

Permanent
Part-time

7

6

0

7

0

1

0

0

0

Temporary
Full-time

11

11

5

6

0

2

2

2

2

Temporary
Part-time

3

3

0

3

0

0

0

0

0

Contract
– SES

4

4

4

0

0

0

0

0

0

Contract
– Non SES

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Training
Positions

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Retained
Staff

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Casual

23

1

10

13

0

0

0

0

0

TOTAL

154

124

81

73

1

14

14

5

2
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Trends in the Representation of Equal Employment Opportunity (EEO) Groups
% of Total Staff
Benchmark
or Target

2003

2004

2005

2006

50%

50%

49%

48%

46%

Aboriginal people and Torres Strait Islanders

2%

0%

0%

0%

0.8%

People whose ﬁrst language was not English

20%

9%

12%

14%

12%

People with a disability

12%

0%

6%

4%

4%

7%

0%

1.5%

1.5%

1.6%

EEO Group

Women

People with a disability requiring work-related adjustment

Trends in the Distribution of EEO Groups
Distribution Index
Benchmark
or Target

2003

2004

2005

2006

Women

100

82

83

84

84

Aboriginal people and Torres Strait Islanders

100

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

People whose ﬁrst language was not English

100

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

People with a disability

100

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

People with a disability requiring work-related adjustment

100

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

EEO Group

Notes:
1.

Staff numbers are as at 30 June.

2.

Excludes casual staff.

3.

A Distribution Index of 100 indicates that the centre of the distribution of the EEO group across salary levels is equivalent to that of other
staff. Values less than 100 mean that the EEO group tends to be more concentrated at lower salary levels than is the case for other staff. The
more pronounced this tendency is, the lower the index will be. In some cases the index may be more than 100, indicating that the EEO group
is less concentrated at lower salary levels. The Distribution Index is automatically calculated by the software provided by ODEOPE.

4.

The Distribution Index is not calculated where EEO group or non-EEO group numbers are less than 20.

Protected Disclosures
The Protected Disclosures Act 1994 offers protection to public ofﬁcials who make disclosures which concern corrupt conduct,
maladministration and serious or substantial waste of public money. Within Sydney Olympic Park Authority disclosures can
be made to the:
• Chief Executive Ofﬁcer
• Executive Director, Corporate Services
• Ofﬁcer’s supervisor.
No disclosures were reported during the year.
Credit Card Certiﬁcation
Credit card use within the Authority has been in accordance with the Premier’s Memoranda and Treasurer’s Directions.
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Appendices
Appendix E – Freedom of
Information, Information
Management and Privacy

Freedom of Information Requests
In 2005–06 Sydney Olympic Park
Authority received ﬁve requests
under the Freedom of Information
Act (FOI Act). These were:
6 December 2005
The applicant sought a copy of an
incident report concerning damage to her
vehicle by a malfunctioning boom gate in
a car park at Sydney Olympic Park. Access
was provided to relevant documentation.
3 February 2006
The applicant sought access to
documentation concerning the
leasing of the SuperDome. Access was
provided to relevant documentation,
with the exemption of one paper.
23 March 2006
The applicant sought access to
information concerning overseas
travel by Authority staff. Access was
provided to relevant information.
3 May 2006
The applicant sought copies of
documentation referring to Life Cycle
Assessments for PVC for the Sydney
2000 Olympic Games and facilities
constituting Sydney Olympic Park.
No relevant documentation found.
30 June 2006
Request for speciﬁc paper on
Life Cycle Analysis presented at a
conference by former Authority staff.
Document provided to applicant.
In the preceding year (2004–05)
three FOI applications were received.
There were no requests for Internal
Review during 2005–06.
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Applications under the FOI Act must
be in writing and accompanied by an
application fee of $30. Enquiries and
applications should be referred to:
Manager, Policies and Procedures
Sydney Olympic Park Authority
7 Figtree Drive
Sydney Olympic Park NSW 2127
Telephone: (02) 9714 7157
Facsimile: (02) 9714 7151
Electronic Service Delivery, Records and
Corporate Information Management
The Records Management and Corporate
Information unit registered 16,628 items
in 2005–06. Of these 1,338 items were
electronic documents and 1,727 were
emails registered directly from GroupWise
(in 2004–05, 338 emails were registered
in TRIM). These ﬁgures in electronic
registration demonstrate an increased
acceptance within the organisation
of accurate capturing of email
correspondence rather than a reliance
on GroupWise to store information.
The annual disposal of appraised
records was completed on time for the
relocation from 6 Herb Elliot Avenue.
The Vital Records program was reviewed
and planning was completed for the
staged transfer of vital records to
electronic format to enable their capture
within the Records Management System
to aid Disaster Recovery and real-time
access of identiﬁed vital Records.
Training was provided for relevant staff in
the functions of TRIM including electronic
capture of emails and electronic
registration of documents and accessing
electronic documents and images.

Privacy Management
In accordance with the Privacy
Information Protection Act 1998, the
Authority has developed a Privacy
Management Plan which has been
submitted to Privacy NSW. The
Plan sets out the core business and
functions of the Authority and refers
to information protection principles
and procedures for internal review.
It includes a table documenting the
Authority’s processes for handling
personal information. No applications for
review were received during 2005–06.

Appendices
Appendix F – Consultancy Services

Consultancy Services Engaged by Sydney Olympic Park Authority
Consultant

Total cost $

Total consultants over $30,000

0

Total consultants under $30,000

78,590

Total Consultants

78,590

Appendix G – Research
Marketing, Visitor Experience and Parklands Research

Cost

Consumer benchmark research study

$35,000

Brand Health Research

$55,000

Integrated Open Space Services – Benchmark Park User Satisfaction Survey Program

$15,600

Population Study of Microchiropteran Bats

$30,000

Green and Golden Bell Frogs habitat study – Honours student, University of Wollongong

$0

Mangrove leaf-predation study by University of Western Sydney

$27,000

Wanngal Wetland saltmarsh ecological study by Australian Catholic University

$26,000

Wanngal Wetland vegetation zonation study by University of Sydney
Total

$0
$188,600

Appendix H – Publications
Publication Type

Publication Name

Annual Report 2004–05
Reports

State of Environment 2004–05
Solar Cities ‘Brighter
Future’ Bid Documents

Newsletters

Park News
Development News
Living Legacy

Business
Development
and Corporate
Brochures

Report to the Minister on Sydney Olympic Park Authority
operations and achievements for 2004–05

Report on the environmental status and activities at the Park
for 2004–05
Series of documents to support the ‘Brighter Future’ Solar Cities Bid
Quarterly newsletter distributed to key stakeholders, local
businesses and Government

First edition of a newsletter to update key property industry
stakeholders with property development information

Second update of corporate brochure outlining the transition of
the Park from the Sydney 2000 Olympic Games to today

Additional collateral to support the Authority’s Business Events sales activity
Business Events Overview, Site
Hire and Corporate Team Building
Artist Studios
Tourism ‘Must See’

Monster Skate Park

‘What’s On?’
Consumer
Brochures
and Flyers

Purpose of Publication

Speciﬁc event ﬂyers
Bike Safari Guide
Kids in the Park

Brochure and poster to promote the availability of Artist
Studio programs and facilities at Newington Armory

Updated brochure to support the Authority’s tourism programs and tours
Brochure to promote the new Monster Skate Park venue at the Park

Quarterly brochures outlining upcoming events at Sydney Olympic Park
Ad hoc ﬂyers to promote upcoming events at Sydney Olympic
Park including Boulevard Markets, Movies in The Overﬂow,
ArtExpress, Electra Grafﬁti, and a range of sporting events

Update of fold-out map and guide to cycling loops at Sydney Olympic Park
Quarterly brochures outlining ‘Kids in the Park’ events and activities
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Appendices
Appendix I – Summary of Land Owned by Sydney Olympic Park Authority
Site
100 Bennelong Rd
1 Figtree Dr
2 Australia Av
2 Figtree Dr
3 Figtree Dr
3 Parkview Dr
4 Figtree Dr
4 Herb Elliott Ave
5 Figtree Dr
5 Parkview Dr
6 Figtree Dr
6 Herb Elliott Ave
7 Figtree Dr
7 Parkview Dr
8 Figtree Dr
8 Herb Elliott Ave
Quad 1, 8 Parkview Dr
Quad 2, 8 Parkview Dr
Quad 3, 102 Bennelong Rd
Quad 4, 10 Parkview Dr
Sydney Showground
Zone Substation
Australia Centre
Nuwi Wetland
Sewer Pump Station
Hill Road Common
Southern Water Quality Control Pond
Stock Route Park
Jacaranda Square
Sydney Olympic Park Sports Centre Common Domain
Australia Centre Common Domain
Tennis Centre Common Domain
Sydney Olympic Park Sports Halls Common Domain
Yulang
Fig Grove Water Feature
Vernon Buildings
Lot 302 Hill Road
Novotel/Ibis Hotel
Sydney Olympic Park Golf Driving Range Common Domain
Welfare Street Cottages
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FAIR VALUE
2006
$’000

2005
$’000

1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
2,800
100,000
160,000
200,000
275,000
460,000
465,000
550,000
655,000
750,000
850,000
1,050,000
1,100,000
1,500,000
1,845,000
2,000,000
2,700,000
3,135,000
3,250,000

1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
2,800
100,000
160,000
200,000
275,000
460,000
465,000
550,000
655,000
750,000
850,000
1,050,000
1,100,000
1,500,000
1,845,000
2,000,000
2,700,000
3,135,000
3,250,000

Appendices
CONSOLIDATED

Site
P7 Carpark
Olympic Cauldron and The Overﬂow
Narawang Wetlands
Urban Forest
Welfare Street Site
Park Management Centre
Sydney Olympic Park Sports Halls
Haslams Reach
Sydney Olympic Park Aquatic Athletic Centre Common Domain
The Brickpit
Sydney Olympic Park Golf Driving Range
Haslams Creek Flats
P1 Carpark
Olympic Plaza
P2 Carpark
Olympic Park Railway Station
Sydney Olympic Park Ferry Terminal
P3 Carpark
Sydney Olympic Park Archery Park
Kronos Hill Area including Northern Water Feature
Woo-la-ra
Wilson Park
Acer Arena (formerly Sydney SuperDome)
Warm Up Arena
Sydney Olympic Park Sports Centre
Badu Mangroves
Sydney Olympic Park Hockey Centre
Blaxland Common
Wentworth Common
P4 Carpark
Coachparks
Sydney Olympic Park Aquatic Centre
Sydney Olympic Park Athletic Centre
Sydney Olympic Park Tennis Centre
Bicentennial Park
Telstra Stadium (Olympic Stadium)
Roads
Newington Armory
P5 Carpark

2006
$’000

2005
$’000

4,000,000
4,125,000
5,100,000
5,650,000
5,675,000
6,300,000
6,350,000
6,400,000
6,550,000
6,700,000
6,735,000
6,800,000
7,000,000
7,400,000
7,400,000
7,875,000
8,100,000
8,350,000
9,100,000
9,300,000
11,000,000
11,850,000
12,195,000
12,450,000
13,185,000
13,200,000
13,615,000
14,300,000
14,400,000
6,000,000
16,500,000
16,650,000
20,900,000
21,990,000
27,300,000
30,000,000
34,000,000
39,000,000
42,000,000
536,492,821

4,000,000
4,125,000
5,100,000
5,650,000
5,675,000
6,300,000
6,350,000
6,400,000
6,550,000
6,700,000
6,735,000
6,800,000
7,000,000
7,400,000
7,400,000
7,875,000
8,100,000
8,350,000
9,100,000
9,300,000
11,000,000
11,850,000
12,195,000
12,450,000
13,185,000
13,200,000
13,615,000
14,300,000
14,400,000
16,000,000
16,500,000
16,650,000
20,900,000
21,990,000
27,300,000
30,000,000
34,000,000
39,000,000
42,000,000
536,492,821
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Appendices
Appendix J – Annual Report Costs and Accessing the Authority
Annual Report Design, Copywriting and Printing
Copywriting, editing and proof reading: AnneE Lawrence
Design and print: Doppio Design
Printed on Mohawk’s Options Recycled PC 100, 270gsm (cover) and 118gsm (internal pages) using vegetable-based inks. This paper is
manufactured with non-polluting Green Power electricity generated from wind power and using 100% Post Consumer waste ﬁbre.
Cost
Total costs incurred in the production of the 2005–06 Sydney Olympic Park Authority Annual Report, which includes
a summarised State of the Environment Report and additional ﬁnancial statements for the Ofﬁce of Sydney Olympic
Park Authority and The Parklands Foundation, were $48,300. Please note, costs of producing a separate Sydney Olympic
Park Authority Annual Report as well as a stand alone State of Environment Report in 2004–05, were $55,000.
Electronic Access
The report is available in a non-printed format and may be accessed on the Sydney Olympic Park Authority website at
www.sydneyolympicpark.com.au
Accessing Sydney Olympic Park Authority
Sydney Olympic Park Authority
7 Figtree Drive
Sydney Olympic Park NSW 2127
Telephone: 02 9714 7300
Facsimile: 02 9714 7818
Email: enquiries@sopa.nsw.gov.au
Website: www.sydneyolympicpark.nsw.gov.au
Ofﬁce hours: 8.45 am to 5.15 pm, Monday to Friday
© Sydney Olympic Park Authority 2006.
Information correct at time of printing October, 2006.
ISSN 1447-5084
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Appendices
Appendix K – Abbreviations and Acronyms
ACT

Australian Capital Territory

AFL

Australian Football League

ARU

Australian Rugby Union

BMX

Bicycle Motor-cross

CBA

Commonwealth Bank of Australia

CCTV

Closed Circuit Television

CEO

Chief Executive Ofﬁcer

CSIRO

Commonwealth Scientiﬁc and
Industrial Research Organisation

DAP

PDHPE

Personal Development, Health
and Physical Education

PSA

Public Service Association

RFDP

Request for Detailed Proposal

SES

Senior Executive Service

SKA

Sport Knowledge Australia

SOPA

Sydney Olympic Park Authority

TAFE

Institute of Technical and Further Education

TMF

Treasury Managed Fund

Disability Action Plan

TPP

Treasury Policy and Guidelines Paper

DET

Department of Education and Training (NSW)

UK

United Kingdom

EEO

Equal Employment Opportunity

UNSW

University of New South Wales

FOI

Freedom of Information

UTS

University of Technology, Sydney

GFS

Government Finance Statistics

WET

Wetland Education and Training

GST

Goods and Services Tax

WRAMS

Water Reclamation and Management Scheme

HSC

Higher School Certiﬁcate

YMCA

Young Men’s Christian Association

HSIE

Human Society and its Environment

IFRS

International Financial Reporting Standards

kL

Kilolitre

L

Litre

ML

Megalitre

MWh

Megawatt hours

MP

Member of Parliament

NRL

National Rugby League

ODEOPE

Ofﬁce of the Director of Equal
Opportunity in Public Employment

OH&S

Occupational Health and Safety

PASS

Physical Activity and Sport Studies

PLM

Parklands Learning Model
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